
Agenda                        Board of Supervisors         December 9, 2020 
 
 

Russell County Page 1 
 
 

RUSSELL COUNTY 
 

BOARD OF SUPERVISOR’S MEETING 
 

AGENDA – DECEMBER 9, 2020 
 

Conference Room                 Regular Meeting               5:00 PM 
 

Russell County Governmental Center 
Lebanon, Virginia 24266 

 

 
 

 
The Russell County Board of Supervisors Meetings will be held pursuant to the Russell County Emergency Ordinance of April 6, 2020 and 
amended on September 8, 2020 to allow for the Continuity of Government Operations During the Pandemic, including Altering the Process for 
Conducting Public Meetings; Restricting the Use of Public Buildings or Facilities; Providing Additional Powers to the Director of Emergency 
Management to Incur Costs, Waive Procedures, and Take Other Temporary Actions; and Suspending Deadlines and Procedures.  
 
 
CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL – Clerk of the Board 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION (CLOSED) – Legal Matters 
(SCHEDULED ONE HOUR BEFORE REGULAR BOS MEETING - - REGULAR BOS MEETING BEGINS AT 6 P.M.) 
 
INVOCATION – Chairperson  
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
PUBLIC HEARING  
 

1. Belfast Waterline Extension, Phase III 
 

2. RC Erosion and Sediment Ordinance 
 

3. County Property Transfer to County IDA 
 
PRESENTATIONS 
 

1. Dr. Greg Brown – RC School Board 
 



Agenda                        Board of Supervisors         December 9, 2020 
 
 

Russell County Page 2 
 
 

2. Jess Powers - RC Emergency Management 
  

NEW BUSINESS 
 

1.  Approval of Minutes.  Consider approval of the minutes of the  
 following meeting of the Russell County Board of Supervisors………………A-1 
 

a. Unapproved minutes of November 2, 2020 
 

2. Approval of Expenditures. Consider approval of expenditures                                         
presented for payment….……………………….……………………………….…….A-2 
 

3. Committee Appointments for Board Consideration. 
 

Drill Community Center 
 
Charlene Blankenship    Two-Year Term December 31, 2020 
Rachel Helton Two-Year Term December 31, 2020 
Doug Lester Two-Year Term  December 31, 2020 
Harold D. Thomas Two-Year Term December 31, 2020 
Betty Sue Hess Two-Year Term December 31, 2020  
 

CITIZEN’S COMMENT PERIOD 
 
CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICER REPORTS AND REQUESTS 
 
COUNTY ATTORNEY REPORTS AND REQUESTS 
 

1. Courthouse Project Proposal Resolution (Pursuant to PPEA)  
 

2. RC Erosion and Sediment Ordinance 
 

3. VRA & RC PSA Lenders’ Agreements 
 

4. Clinch River Little League  
 

5. Key Western Property Easement 
 

COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR REPORTS AND REQUESTS 
 
REPORTS 
 
1. Russell County CARES Fund Financial Summary………………………………...B-1 

 
2. RC Abstract of Votes……………………………………………………………………B-2 



Agenda                        Board of Supervisors         December 9, 2020 
 
 

Russell County Page 3 
 
 

 
3. VDOT Secondary System Construction Six-Year Plan……………………………B-3 

 
4. Honaker & Castlewood Canneries…………………………………………………….B-4 

 
5. RC Planning Commission’s Comprehensive Plan…………………………………B-5 

 
REQUESTS 

  
6. Russell County “CARES” Business Grants..……………………………………….B-6 

 
7. VDOT – Discontinuance of Rte. 671 and Rte. 678………………………………….B-7 

 
8. CARES Act Funding to Fast Track Broadband Projects Grant………………….B-8 

 
9. Litter Prevention & Recycling Grant………………………………………………….B-9 

 
10. RC Emergency Operations Center Generator Grant..................…………………B-10 

 
11. CPRHA Payment in Lieu of Taxes for Pittston Place & HUD Development…...B-11 

 
12. RC BOS Annual Employee Turkey……………………………………………………B-12 

 
13. 2020 Holiday Leave Schedule.…………………………………………………………B-13 

 
MATTERS PRESENTED BY THE BOARD 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
COUNTY AGENCY / BOARD REPORTS: 
        

• Treasurer’s Report ………………………………………………………………………C 
• RC IDA …………………………………………………………………………………….D 
• RC PSA …………………………………………………………………………………... E 
• RC Tourism……………………………………………………………………………….F 
• RC Planning Commission ……………………………………………………………..G 
• Conference Center………………………………………………………………………H 
• RC Fitness Center……………………………………………………………………….I 
• RC Transportation & Safety…………………………………………………………...J 
• RC Cannery Reports…………………………………………………………………….K 
• RC Building Inspector…………………………………………………………………..L 
• RC Litter Report………………………………………………………………………….M 
• CPWMA Report…………………………………………………………………………..N 
• RC Disposal Report……………………………………………………………………..O   



CLOSED SESSION 
 

Motion made by , second by and duly approved by the 
Board of Supervisors enter into closed session to discuss Legal Matters pursuant to 
Section 2.2-3711(A)(1)(3)(7)(8) – Legal Discussions concerning Personnel Matters; Little 
League Property Lease; RC PSA Consolidation; Transfer of County Property to County 
IDA; County’s Opioid Litigation; and Northrop Grumman Litigation. 

The vote was: 
Aye:     
Nay:     

CERTIFICATION OF CLOSED SESSION 
 
Pursuant to §2.2-3712 (D) of the Code of Virginia 1950, as amended, each member of the 
Board of Supervisors upon the Roll Call certifies that to the best of their knowledge (i) only 
public business matters lawfully exempted from the open meeting requirements under the 
Virginia Freedom of Information Act and (ii) only such public business matters that were 
identified in the motion(s) by which the closed meeting was convened were heard, 
discussed or considered in the meeting by the Board of Supervisors. 

Any member of the Board of Supervisors who believes that there was a departure from the 
requirements of clauses (i) and (ii) above shall so state prior to the vote, indicating the 
substance of the departure that, in his or her judgment, has taken place. 

Are there any Supervisors who believe a departure has taken place? 

Seeing none, if you agree that the matters heard, discussed or considered during the 
closed meeting were pursuant only to the motion(s) by which the closed meeting was 
convened, please signify by saying aye or yes. 

Tim Lovelace - 

Lou Ann Wallace - 

Carl Rhea - 

Steve Breeding - 

David Eaton - 

Rebecca Dye - 

Oris Christian - 

APPROVAL TO RETURN TO REGULAR SESSION 

Motion made by , second by and duly approved by 
the Board of Supervisors to return to regular session. 

The vote was: 
Aye:     
Nay:     



                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 
   Board of Supervisors                      Action Item 

137 Highland Drive                             Presenters - Chairperson 
Lebanon, VA 24266                    

         Meeting: 12/9/20     6:00 PM 
 

 
Public Hearing  
 
1. Belfast Waterline Extension, Phase III 

 
2. RC Erosion and Sediment Ordinance 

 
3. County Property Transfer to County IDA 
 

 
Staff Recommendation: 

 
Board Discretion. 

 
Suggested Motion: 

 
Board Discretion.  

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
• Various   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
  

Russell County Virginia 
“The Heart of Southwest Virginia” 

 
Oris Christian  Carl Rhea 
At-Large  District 3  
 
Tim Lovelace  Rebecca Dye, Chairperson David Eaton 
District 1 District 6 District 4 
  
Lou Ann Wallace Steve Breeding, Vice-Chairman Lonzo Lester 
District 2 District 5 County Administrator 
 

Russell County Government Center 
137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 

www.russellcountyva.us 

  

 

   

    

    

 

 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
 

The Russell County Board of Supervisors will conduct Public Hearings on 
Wednesday, December 9, 2020 at 6:00 p.m. to hear comments concerning the adoption 
of the “Erosion and Sediment Control Ordinance” and “Belfast Phase III Water 
Project” and “Transfer of County Property to County IDA. 

A copy of the proposed Erosion and Sediment Control Ordinance is available for 
review in the Office of the County Administrator at 137 Highland Drive, Lebanon, Virginia 
during normal business hours.   

In addition, the ordinance is posted on the County’s Website at   
http://www.russellcountyva.us/257/Ordinances-Resolutions and on RussellCountyVA 
App on Google Play Store. 

The Public Hearings will be held in the Russell County Government Conference 
Room at the Russell County Governmental Center, 133 Highland Drive, Lebanon, 
Virginia during the regular December 2020 monthly meeting. 

 
 
BY ORDER OF THE 
RUSSELL COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

 

http://www.russellcountyva.us/257/Ordinances-Resolutions


1 

 

 

 
 

EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL ORDINANCE 
OF  

RUSSELL COUNTY VIRGINIA 
 

Section 10-1. TITLE, PURPOSE, AND AUTHORITY 
 

This ordinance shall be known as the "Erosion and Sediment Control Ordinance of Russell County." The purpose of 
this chapter is to prevent degradation of properties, stream channels, waters and other natural resources of the 
County by establishing requirements for the control of soil erosion, sediment deposition and non-agricultural 
runoff and by establishing procedures whereby these requirements shall be administered and enforced. 

 
This Chapter is authorized by the Code of Virginia, Title 62.1, Chapter 3.1, Article 2.4, known as the Virginia Erosion 
and Sediment Control Law. 

 
 

Section 10-2. DEFINITIONS:   
 

As used in the ordinance, unless the context requires a different meaning: 
 

1. "Agreement in lieu of a plan" means a contract between the plan-approving authority and the owner that 
specifies conservation measures that must be implemented in the construction of a single-family residence; this 
contract may be executed by the plan-approving authority in lieu of a formal site plan. 

 
2. "Applicant" means any person submitting an erosion and sediment control plan for approval or requesting the 

issuance of a permit, when required, authorizing land-disturbing activities to commence. 
 

3. "Board" means the Virginia State Water Control Board. 
 

4. "Certified inspector" means an employee or agent of Russell County who (i) holds a certificate of 
competence from the Board in the area of project inspection or (ii) is enrolled in the Board's training program 
for project inspection and successfully completes such program within one year after enrollment. 

 
5. "Certified plan reviewer" means an employee or agent of Russell County who (i) holds a certificate of 

competence from the Board in the area of plan review, (ii) is enrolled in the Board's training program for plan 
review and successfully completes such program within one year after enrollment, or (iii) is licensed as a 
professional engineer, architect, certified landscape architect or land surveyor pursuant to Article 1 (Sec. 54.1- 
400 et seq.) of Chapter 4 of Title 54.1 or a professional soil scientist as defined in Sec. 54.1-2200 of the Code 
of Virginia. 

 
6. "Certified program administrator" means an employee or agent of Russell County who (i) holds a 

certificate of competence from the Board in the area of program administration or (ii) is enrolled in the Board's 
training program for program administration and successfully completes such program within one year after 
enrollment. 

 
7. "County" means the County of Russell.  

 
8. "Clearing" means any activity which removes the vegetative ground cover including, but not limited to, root 

mat removal or top soil removal.  



2 

 

 

 
 

9. "Department" means the Department of Environmental Quality. 
 

10. "Development" means a tract or parcel of land developed or to be developed as a single unit under single 
ownership or unified control which is to be used for any business or industrial purpose or is to contain three or 
more residential dwelling units. 

 
11. "Director" means the Director of the Department of Environmental Quality. 

 
12. "District" or "Soil and Water Conservation District" refers to the Clinch Valley Soil and Water 

Conservation District. 
 

13. "Erosion and Sediment Control Plan" or "Plan" means a document containing material for the conservation 
of soil and water resources of a unit or group of units of land. It may include appropriate maps, an appropriate 
soil and water plan inventory, and management information with needed interpretations, and a record of 
decisions contributing to conservation treatment. The plan shall contain all major conservation decisions and 
all information deemed necessary by the plan approving authority to assure that the entire unit or units of land 
will be so treated to achieve the conservation objectives. 

 
14. "Erosion Impact Area" means an area of land not associated with a current land-disturbing activity but 

subject to persistent soil erosion resulting in the delivery of sediment onto neighboring properties or into state 
waters. This definition shall not apply to any lot or parcel of land of 10,000 square feet or less used for 
residential purposes. 

 
15. "Excavating" means any digging, scooping or other methods of removing earth materials. 

 
16. "Filling" means any depositing or stockpiling of earth materials.  

 
17. "Grading" means any excavating or filling of earth material or any combination thereof, including the land in 

its excavated or filled conditions. 
 

18. "Land-disturbing Activity" means any man-made change to the land surface that may result in soil erosion 
from water or wind and the movement of sediments into state waters or onto lands in the Commonwealth, 
including, but not limited to, clearing, grading, excavating, transporting, and filling of land, except that the 
term shall not include: 

 
a) Minor land-disturbing activities such as home gardens and individual home landscaping, repairs and 

maintenance work; 
 

b) Individual service connections; 
 

c) Installation, maintenance, or repair of any underground public utility lines when such activity occurs 
on an existing hard-surfaced road, street or sidewalk, provided the land-disturbing activity is confined to 
the area of the road, street, or sidewalk that is hard-surfaced; 

d) Septic tank lines or drainage fields unless included in an overall plan for land-disturbing activity 
relating to construction of the building to be served by the septic tank system; 
 

e) Permitted surface or deep mining operations and projects, or oil and gas operations and projects 
conducted pursuant to Title 45.1 of the Code of Virginia; 
 

f) Tilling, planting, or harvesting of agricultural, horticultural, or forest crops, or livestock feedlot 
operations; including engineering operations as follows: construction of terraces, terrace outlets, check dams, 



3 

 

 

desilting basins, dikes, ponds, ditches, strip cropping, lister furrowing, contour cultivating, contour 
furrowing, land drainage, and land irrigation; however, this exception shall not apply to harvesting of 
forest crops unless the area on which harvesting occurs is reforested artificially or naturally in accordance 
with the provisions of Chapter 11 (Sec. 10.1- 1100 et seq.) of Title 10.1 of the Code of Virginia or is 
converted to bona fide agricultural or improved pasture use as described in Subsection B of Sec. 10.1-1163; 

 
g) Repair or rebuilding of the tracks, rights-of-way, bridges, communication facilities, and other related 

structures and facilities of a railroad company; 
 

h) Agricultural engineering operations, including but not limited to the construction of terraces, terrace 
outlets, check dams, desilting basins, dikes, ponds not required to comply with the provisions of the Dam 
Safety Act (Va. Code § 10.1-604 et seq.), ditches, strip cropping, lister furrowing, contour cultivating, 
contour furrowing, land drainage, and land irrigation; 
 

i) Disturbed land areas of less than 10,000 square feet in size;  
 

j) Installation of fence and sign posts or telephone and electric poles and other kinds of posts or poles; 
 

k) Emergency work to protect life, limb or property, and emergency repairs; however, if the land-
disturbing activity would have required an approved erosion and sediment control plan, if the 
activity were not an emergency, then the land area disturbed shall be shaped and stabilized in accordance 
with the requirements of this ordinance. 

 
19. "Land-disturbing Permit or approval" means a permit or other form of approval issued by Russell 

County for the clearing, filling, excavating, grading, transporting of land or for any combination thereof or for 
any other land disturbing activity. 

 
20. “Natural channel design concepts” means the utilization of engineering analysis and fluvial geomorphic 

processes to create, rehabilitate, restore, or stabilize an open conveyance system for the purpose of creating or 
recreating a stream that conveys its bankfull storm event within its banks and allows larger flows to access its 
bankfull bench and its floodplain. 

 
21. "Owner" means the owner or owners of the freehold of the premises or lesser estate therein, mortgagee or 

vendee in possession, assignee of rents, receiver, executor, trustee, lessee, or other person, firm, or corporation 
in control of a property. 

 
22. “Peak flow rate” means the maximum instantaneous flow from a given storm condition at a particular location. 

 
23. "Permittee" means the person to whom the land-disturbing approval is issued or the person who certifies that 

the approved erosion and sediment control plan will be followed. 
 

24. "Person" means any individual, partnership, firm, association, joint venture, public or private corporation, 
trust, estate, commission, board, public or private institution, utility, cooperative, county, city, town or other 
political subdivision of the Commonwealth, governmental body, including a federal or state entity as 
applicable, any interstate body, or any other legal entity. 

 
25. "State permit" means an approval to conduct a land-disturbing activity issued by the Board in the form of a 

state stormwater individual permit or coverage issued under a state general permit. 
 

26. VESCP Plan-approving authority" means the building official department is responsible for determining the 
adequacy of a plan submitted for land-disturbing activities on a unit or units of lands and for approving plans. 

 



4 

 

 

28. "VESCP authority" or "program authority" means the County of Russell which has adopted a soil 
erosion and sediment control program that has been approved by the Board. 

 
29. Responsible Land Disturber” or "RLD" means an individual holding a certificate issued by the department 

who is responsible for carrying out the land-disturbing activity in accordance with the approved ESC plan. The 
RLD may be the owner, applicant, permittee, designer, superintendent, project manager, contractor, or any 
other project or development team member. The RLD must be designated on the ESC plan or permit as a 
prerequisite for engaging in land disturbance. 

 
30. “Runoff volume” means the volume of water that runs off the land development project from a prescribed 

storm event. 
 

31. ”Single-family residence" means a noncommercial dwelling that is occupied exclusively by one family. 
 

32. "State waters" means all waters on the surface and under the ground wholly or partially within or bordering the 
Commonwealth or within its jurisdiction. 

 
33. "Transporting" means any moving of earth materials from one place to another place other than such movement 

incidental to grading, when such movement results in destroying the vegetative ground cover either by tracking 
or the buildup of earth materials to the extent that erosion and sedimentation will result from the soil or earth 
materials over which such transporting occurs. 

 
34. "Virginia Erosion and Sediment Control Program" or "VESCP" means a program approved by the Board 

that has been established by a VESCP authority for the effective control of soil erosion, sediment deposition, 
and non-agricultural runoff associated with a land-disturbing activity to prevent the unreasonable degradation 
of properties, stream channels, waters, and other natural resources and shall include such items where 
applicable as local ordinances, rules, permit requirements, annual standards and specifications, policies and 
guidelines, technical materials, and requirements for plan review, inspection, enforcement where authorized in 
this article, and evaluation consistent with the requirements of this article and its associated regulations. 

 
35. “Water Quality Volume “means the volume equal to the first one-half inch of runoff multiplied by the 

impervious surface of the land development project. 
 
 

Section 10-3. LOCAL EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL PROGRAM 
 

Pursuant to section 62.1-44.15:54 of the Code of Virginia, the County hereby establishes a VESCP program and 
adopts the regulations promulgated by the Board (for the effective control of soil erosion and sediment deposition to 
prevent the unreasonable degradation of properties, stream channels, waters and other natural resources) and the 
Virginian Erosion & Sediment Control Handbook, third edition.  
 
In accordance with § 62.1-44.15:52 of the Code of Virginia, any plan approved prior to July 1, 2014 that provides for 
stormwater management that addresses any flow rate capacity and velocity requirements for natural or man-made channels 
shall satisfy the flow rate capacity and velocity requirements for natural or man-made channels if the practices are 
designed to (i) detain the water quality volume and to release it over 48 hours; (ii) detain and release over a 24-hour period 
the expected rainfall resulting from the one year, 24-hour storm; and (iii) reduce the allowable peak flow rate resulting from 
the 1.5, 2, and 10-year, 24-hour storms to a level that is less than or equal to the peak flow rate from the site assuming it 
was in a good forested condition, achieved through multiplication of the forested peak flow rate by a reduction factor 
that is equal to the runoff volume from the site when it was in a good forested condition divided by the runoff volume 
from the site in its proposed condition, and shall be exempt from any flow rate capacity and velocity requirements for 
natural or man-made channels 

 
 



5 

 

 

A. For plans approved on and after July 1, 2014, the flow rate capacity and velocity requirements for natural and 
man-made channels shall be satisfied by compliance with water quantity requirements specified in § 62.1-  
44.15:28 of the Stormwater Management Act and 9VAC25-870-66 of the Virginia Stormwater Management 
Program (VSMP) regulations, unless such land-disturbing activities are in accordance with the grandfathering 
provisions of the Virginia Stormwater Management Program (VSMP) Regulations. 

 
B. Pursuant to Sec. 62.1-44.15:53 of the Code of Virginia, an erosion control plan shall not be approved until it is 

reviewed by a certified plan reviewer. Inspections of land-disturbing activities shall be conducted by a certified 
inspector. The Erosion Control Program of the County shall contain a certified program administrator, a 
certified plan reviewer, and a certified inspector (who may be the same person.) 

 
C. The County hereby designates the building official department as the plan-approving authority. 

 
D. The program and regulations provided for in this ordinance shall be made available for public inspection at the 

office of the building official department. 
 

Section 10-4. SUBMISSION AND APPROVAL OF PLANS; CONTENTS OF PLANS 
 

A. Except as provided herein, no person may engage in any land-disturbing activity until he or she has 
submitted to the building official department an erosion and sediment control plan for the land-disturbing 
activity and such plan has been approved by the VESCP authority. No approval to begin a land disturbing 
activity will be issued unless evidence of state permit coverage is obtained where it is required. Where 
land-disturbing activities involve lands under the jurisdiction of more than one VESCP, an erosion and 
sediment control plan, at the option of the applicant, may be submitted to the Department for review and 
approval rather than to each jurisdiction concerned. Where the land-disturbing activity results from the 
construction of a single-family residence, an agreement in lieu of a plan may be substituted for an 
erosion and sediment control plan if executed by the plan-approving authority. 

 
B. The standards contained within the "Virginia Erosion and Sediment Control Regulations" and the  Virginia 

Erosion and Sediment Control Handbook as amended are to be used by the applicant when making a 
submittal under the provisions of this ordinance and in the preparation of an erosion and sediment control 
plan. The plan-approving authority, in considering the adequacy of a submitted plan, shall be guided by the 
same standards, regulations and guidelines. When the standards vary between the publications, the State 
regulations shall take precedence. 

 
C. The VESCP plan-approving authority shall review erosion and sediment control plans submitted to it and grant 

written approval within 60 days of the receipt of the plan if it determines that the plan meets the requirements of the 
Erosion and Sediment Control Law and the Board's regulations, and if the person responsible for carrying out the 
plan certifies that he will properly perform the measures included in the plan and will conform to the provisions of 
this ordinance. In addition, as a prerequisite to engaging in the land-disturbing activities shown on the approved 
plan, the person responsible for carrying out the plan shall provide the name of the responsible land disturber, to the 
program authority, as provided by § 62.1-44.15:52, of the Virginia Erosion and Sediment Control Law, who will be 
in charge of and responsible for carrying out the land-disturbing activity. Failure to provide the name of the 
responsible land disturber, prior to engaging in land-disturbing activities may result in revocation of the approval of 
the plan and the person responsible for carrying out the plan shall be subject to the penalties provided in this 
ordinance. 

 
The VESCP plan-approving authority shall waive the certificate of competence requirement for an agreement in 
lieu of a plan for construction of a single-family residence. If a violation occurs during the land-disturbing 
activity, then the person responsible for carrying out the agreement in lieu of a plan shall correct the violation 
and provide the name of the responsible land disturber, as provided by § 62.1-44.15:52 of the Virginia 
Erosion and Sediment Control Law. Failure to provide the name of the responsible land disturber shall be a 
violation of this ordinance. 

http://leg1.state.va.us/cgi-bin/legp504.exe?000%2Bcod%2B62.1-44.15C24
http://leg1.state.va.us/cgi-bin/legp504.exe?000%2Bcod%2B62.1-44.15C24
http://leg1.state.va.us/cgi-bin/legp504.exe?000%2Bcod%2B62.1-44.15C24


6 

 

 

 
D. When the plan is determined to be inadequate, written notice of disapproval stating the specific reasons for 

disapproval shall be communicated to the applicant within 45 days. The notice shall specify such 
modifications, terms and conditions that will permit approval of the plan. If no action is taken within 45 days, 
the plan shall be deemed approved and the person authorized to proceed with the proposed activity. 

 
E. The VESCP authority shall act on any erosion and sediment control plan that has been previously disapproved 

within 45 days after the plan has been revised, resubmitted for approval, and deemed adequate. 
 

F. The VESCP authority may require changes to an approved plan when: 
 

(1) The inspection reveals that the plan is inadequate to satisfy applicable regulations; or 
 

(2) The person responsible for carrying out the plan finds that because of changed circumstances or for 
other reasons the approved plan cannot be effectively carried out, and proposed amendments to the 
plan, consistent with the requirements of this ordinance, are agreed to by the plan-approving authority 
and the person responsible for carrying out the plans. 

G. Variances: The VESCP plan-approving authority may waive or modify any of the standards that are deemed to 
be inappropriate or too restrictive for site conditions, by granting a variance. A variance may be granted under 
these conditions: 

 
(1) At the time of plan submission, an applicant may request a variance to become part of the approved 

erosion and sediment control plan. The applicant shall explain the reasons for requesting variances in 
writing. Specific variances which are allowed by the plan-approving authority shall be documented in 
the plan. 

 
(2) During construction, the person responsible for implementing the approved plan may request a variance 

in writing from the plan-approving authority. The plan-approving authority shall respond in writing either 
approving or disapproving such a request. If the plan-approving authority does not approve a variance 
within 10 days of receipt of the request, the request shall be considered to be disapproved. Following 
disapproval, the applicant may resubmit a variance request with additional documentation. 

 
(3) The VESCP authority shall consider variance requests judiciously, keeping in mind both the need of 

the applicant to maximize cost effectiveness and the need to protect off-site properties and resources 
from damage. 

 
H. In order to prevent further erosion, the County may require approval of a plan for any land identified 

in the local program as an erosion impact area. 
 

I. When a land-disturbing activity will be required of a contractor performing construction work pursuant to a 
construction contract, the preparation, submission, and approval of an erosion and sediment control plan shall 
be the responsibility of the owner. 

 
J. In accordance with the procedure set forth in §62.1-44.15:55 (E) of the Code of Virginia, any person engaging, in 

more than one jurisdiction, in the creation and operation of wetland mitigation or stream restoration banks, which 
have been approved and are operated in accordance with applicable federal and state guidance, laws, or 
regulations for the establishment, use, and operation of wetland mitigation or stream restoration banks, pursuant 
to a mitigation banking instrument signed by the Department of Environmental Quality, the Marine Resources 
Commission, or the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, may, at the option of that person, file general erosion and 
sediment control specifications for wetland mitigation or stream restoration banks annually with the Board for 
review and approval consistent with guidelines established by the Board. Approval of general erosion and 
sediment control specifications does not relieve the owner or operator from compliance with any other local 
ordinances and regulations including requirements to submit plans and obtain permits as may be required by such 



7 

 

 

ordinances and regulations. 
 

K. State agency projects are exempt from the provisions of this ordinance except as provided for in the Code of 
Virginia, Sec. 62.1-44.15:56. 

 

Section 10-5. PERMITS; FEES; SECURITY FOR PERFORMANCE 
 

A. Agencies authorized under any other law to issue grading, building, or other permits for activities involving land- 
disturbing activities shall not issue any such permit unless the applicant submits with his application an approved 
erosion and sediment control plan, certification that the plan will be followed and evidence of state permit 
coverage where it is required. 

B. No person may engage in any land-disturbing activity until he has acquired a land-disturbing permit (unless the 
proposed land-disturbing activity is specifically exempt from the provisions of this ordinance), and has paid the fees 
and posted the required bond. 

 
C. An administrative fee of $150 shall be paid to the County at the time of submission of the erosion and sediment 

control plan. 
 

D. No land-disturbing permit shall be issued until the applicant submits with his application an approved erosion and 
sediment control plan or agreement in lieu of an approved erosion and sediment control plan and certification that 
the plan will be followed. 

 
E.      All applicants for Industrial, Commercial, or Retail Permits shall  provide the County a  performance bond   

with   surety,   cash   escrow,   or   an irrevocable letter of credit acceptable to the Building Official  to 
ensure that measures could be taken by the  County at the applicant's expense should the applicant fail, after 
proper notice, within the time specified to initiate or maintain appropriate conservation measures required of 
him by the approved plan as a result of his land-disturbing activity. 

 
The amount of the bond or other security for performance shall not exceed the total of the estimated cost to initiate 
and maintain appropriate conservation action based on unit price for new public or private sector construction in 
the locality and a reasonable allowance for estimated administrative costs and inflation which shall not exceed 
twenty-five percent of the cost of the conservation action. Should it be necessary for the County to take such 
conservation action, the County may collect from the applicant any costs in excess of the amount of the surety 
held. 

 
Within sixty (60) days of adequate stabilization, as determined by Building Official in any project or section of a 
project, such bond, cash escrow or letter of credit, or the unexpended or unobligated portion thereof, shall be 
either refunded to the applicant or terminated, based upon the percentage of stabilization accomplished in the 
project or project section. These requirements are in addition to all other provisions relating to the issuance of 
permits and are not intended to otherwise affect the requirements for such permits. 

 
Section 10-6. MONITORING, REPORTS, AND INSPECTIONS 

 

A. The responsible land disturber, as provided by § 62.1-44.15:52, shall be in charge of and responsible for 
carrying out the land-disturbing activity and provide for periodic inspections of the land-disturbing activity. 
The County may require the person responsible for carrying out the plan to monitor the land-disturbing 
activity. The person responsible for carrying out the plan will maintain records of these inspections and 
maintenance, to ensure compliance with the approved plan and to determine whether the measures required in 
the plan are effective in controlling erosion and sedimentation. 

 
B. The building official department shall periodically inspect the land-disturbing activity in accordance with 

9VAC25-840-60 of the Virginia Erosion and Sediment Control Regulations to ensure compliance with the 
approved plan and to determine whether the measures required in the plan are effective in controlling erosion and 

http://leg1.state.va.us/cgi-bin/legp504.exe?000%2Bcod%2B62.1-44.15C52


8 

 

 

sedimentation. The owner, permittee, or person responsible for carrying out the plan shall be given notice of the 
inspection. 

 
If the building official  assessor determines that there is a failure to comply with the plan, notice shall be served 
upon the permittee or person responsible for carrying out the plan by mailing with confirmation of 
delivery to the address specified in the permit application or in the plan certification, or by delivery at the 
site of the land-disturbing activities to the agent or employee supervising such activities. 

 
The notice shall specify the measures needed to comply with the plan and shall specify the time within which 
such measures shall be completed. Upon failure to comply within the specified time, the permit may be 
revoked and the permittee or person responsible for carrying out the plan shall be subject to the penalties 
provided by this ordinance. 

 
C. Upon issuance of an inspection report denoting a violation of Va. Code §§ 62.1-44.15:55, -44.15:56, the 

building official  assessor may, in conjunction with or subsequent to a notice to comply as specified in this 
ordinance, issue an order requiring that all or part of the land-disturbing activities permitted on the site be 
stopped until the specified corrective measures have been taken. 

 
If land-disturbing activities have commenced without an approved plan, the building official may issue an order 
requiring that all the land-disturbing activities be stopped until an approved plan or any required permits are 
obtained. 

 
Where the alleged noncompliance is causing or is in imminent danger of causing harmful erosion of lands or 
sediment deposition in waters within the watersheds of the Commonwealth, or where the land-disturbing activities 
have commenced without an approved plan or any required permits, such an order may be issued without regard to 
whether the alleged violator has been issued a notice to comply as specified in this ordinance. Otherwise, such an 
order may be issued only after the alleged violator has failed to comply with such a notice to comply. 

 
The order shall be served in the same manner as a notice to comply, and shall remain in effect for a period of 
seven days from the date of service pending application by the County or permit holder for appropriate relief to 
the Circuit Court of Russell County. The County shall serve such order for disturbance without an approved 
plan or permits upon the owner by mailing with confirmation of delivery to the address specified in the 
land records. Said order shall be posted on the site where the disturbance is occurring, and shall remain 
in effect until permits and plan approvals are secured, except in such situations where an agricultural 
exemption applies. 

 
If the alleged violator has not obtained an approved plan or any required permits within seven days from the 
date of service of the order, the building official  assessor may issue an order to the owner requiring that 
all construction and other work on the site, other than corrective measures, be stopped until an approved plan 
and any required permits have been obtained. Such an order shall be served upon the owner by mailing 
with confirmation of delivery to the address specified in the permit application or the land records of the 
County. 

 
The owner may appeal the issuance of an order to the Circuit Court of Russell County. 

 
Any person violating or failing, neglecting or refusing to obey an order issued by building official may be 
compelled in a proceeding instituted in the Circuit Court of Russell County to obey same and to comply 
therewith by injunction, mandamus or other appropriate remedy. 

 
 
Upon completion and approval of corrective action or obtaining an approved plan or any required permits, the 
order shall immediately be lifted.  Nothing in this section shall prevent the building official from taking any other 
action authorized by this ordinance. 



9 

 

 

 

Section 10-7. PENALTIES, INJUNCTIONS, AND OTHER LEGAL ACTIONS 
 

A. Violators of this ordinance shall be guilty of a Class I misdemeanor. 
 

B. Any person who violates any provision of Va. Code §§ 62.1-44.15:55, 62.1-44.15:56 shall, upon a finding of the 
District Court of Russell County, be assessed a civil penalty. The civil penalty for any one violation shall be 
not less than $100 nor more than $1,000, except that the civil penalty for commencement of land-disturbing 
activities without an approved plan shall be $1,000. Each day during which the violation is found to have 
existed shall constitute a separate offense. In no event shall a series of specified violations arising from the same 
operative set of facts result in civil penalties which exceed a total of $10,000, except that a series of violations 
arising from the commencement of land-disturbing activities without an approved plan for any site shall 
not result in civil penalties which exceed a total of $10,000. Any such civil penalties shall be in lieu of 
criminal sanctions and shall preclude the prosecution of such violation as a misdemeanor under subsection A 
of § 62.1-44.15:63. 

 
C. The building official  assessor, or the owner or property which has sustained damage or which is in imminent 

danger of being damaged, may apply to the Circuit Court of Russell County to enjoin a violation or a threatened 
violation of Va. Code §§ 62.1-44.15:55, 62.1-44.15:56, without the necessity of showing that an adequate 
remedy at law does not exist. 

 
However, an owner of property shall not apply for injunctive relief unless (i) he has notified in writing the 
person who has violated the local program, and the program authority, that a violation of the local program has 
caused, or creates a probability of causing, damage to his property, and (ii) neither the person who has violated 
the local program nor the program authority has taken corrective action within fifteen days to eliminate the 
conditions which have caused, or create the probability of causing, damage to his property. 

 
D. In addition to any criminal or civil penalties provided under this ordinance, any person who violates any provision 

of the Erosion and Sediment Control Law may be liable to Russell County in a civil action for damages. 
 

E. Without limiting the remedies which may be obtained in this section, any person violating or failing, neglecting, or 
refusing to obey any injunction, mandamus or other remedy obtained pursuant to this section shall be subject, in the 
discretion of the court, to a civil penalty not to exceed $2,000 for each violation. A civil action for such violation or 
failure may be brought by the County. 

 
Any civil penalties assessed by a court shall be paid into the treasury of Russell County, except that where the 
violator is the locality itself, or its agent, the court shall direct the penalty to be paid into the state treasury. 

 
F. With the consent of any person who has violated or failed, neglected or refused to obey any regulation or condition 

of a permit or any provision of this ordinance, or order of the VESCP authority the County may provide for the 
payment of civil charges for violations in specific sums, not to exceed the limit specified in Subsection E of this 
section. Such civil charges shall be instead of any appropriate civil penalty which could be imposed under 
Subsection B or E. 

 
G. The Commonwealth's Attorney shall, upon request of the County, take legal action to enforce the provisions of 

this ordinance. 
 

H. Compliance with the provisions of this ordinance shall be prima facie evidence in any legal or equitable proceeding 
for damages caused by erosion, siltation or sedimentation that all requirements of law have been met, and the 
complaining party must show negligence in order to recover any damages. 



10 

 

 

 
 

Section 10-8. APPEALS AND JUDICIAL REVIEW 
 

A.  Final decisions of Russell County under this ordinance shall be subject to review by the Russell County 
Circuit Court, provided an appeal is filed within 30 days from the date of any written decision adversely 
affecting the rights, duties, or privileges of the person engaging in or proposing to engage in land-disturbing 
activities. 



                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 
Board of Supervisors   Information Item  

137 Highland Drive                                  Presenters - Various 
Lebanon, VA 24266                    

          Meeting: 12/9/20      6:00 PM 
 

 
Presentations 
 
1. Dr. Greg Brown – RC School Board 

 
2. Jess Powers - RC Emergency Management 

 
Staff Recommendation: 

 
Presentation – Informational Only. 

 
Suggested Motion: 

 
Board Discretion.  

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
• Various  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 













Tracy
Highlight



Tracy
Highlight



 
     Board of Supervisors                       Action Item A-1 

137 Highland Drive  Presenter: Chairperson 
Lebanon, VA 24266 

       Meeting: 12/9/20       6:00 PM 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Approval of Minutes  

Request approval of the minutes from the following meeting: 

• Unapproved minutes of November 2, 2020 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s): 
Board discretion 

 
SUGGESTED MOTION(s): 
Motion to approve Board Minutes. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Board Minutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



November 02, 2020 

A regular monthly meeting of the Russell County Board of Supervisors was held on Monday, November 
2, 2020 beginning at 5:00 pm with Executive (closed) Session followed by the regular meeting at 6:00 pm 
at the Russell County Government Center in Lebanon, Virginia. 

The Clerk called the meeting to order. 

Roll Call by the Clerk: 

Present: 
Tim Lovelace 
Lou Wallace (by phone from her home due to COVID 19 quarantine) 
Carl Rhea 
David Eaton 
Steve Breeding 
Rebecca Dye 
Oris Christian 
 
Lonzo Lester, Clerk 
Vicki Porter, Deputy Clerk 
Senator Ben Chafin, County Attorney 
 
Absent: 
None 

EXECUTIVE (CLOSED) SESSION 

Motion made by Steve Breeding, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
enter Executive (closed) Session to discuss legal matters pursuant to Section 2.2-3711(A)(1) – discussions 
concerning Personnel Matters. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, David Eaton, Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, Rebecca Dye, Lou Wallace and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 

APPROVAL TO RETURN TO REGULAR SESSION 
 

Motion made by Steve Breeding, second Tim Lovelace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
return to regular session. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:   Steve Breeding, Tim Lovelace, David Eaton, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 

CERTIFICATION OF EXECUTIVE (CLOSED) SESSION 
 
Pursuant to § 2.2-3712(D) of the Code of Virginia 1950, as amended each member of the Board of 
Supervisors upon the Roll Call certifies that to the best of their knowledge (I) only public business 
matters lawfully exempted from the open meeting requirements under the Virginia Freedom of 



Information Act and (ii) only such public business matters that were identified in the motion(s) by which 
the closed meeting was convened were heard, discussed, or considered in the meeting by the Board of 
Supervisors. 

Any member of the Board of Supervisors who believes that there was a departure from the 
requirements of clauses (I) and (ii) above shall so state prior to the vote, indicating the substance of the 
departure that, in his or her judgment, has taken place. 
 
Are there any who believe a departure has taken place?  Seeing none, if you agree that the matters heard, 
discussed or considered during the closed meeting were pursuant only to the motion(s) by which the 
closed meeting was convened, please signify by saying aye or yes. 

Tim Lovelace – AYE 
Lou Wallace – AYE 
Carl Rhea – AYE 
David Eaton – AYE 
Rebecca Dye - AYE 
Steve Breeding – AYE 
Oris Christian – AYE 
 
Invocation by Chair Rebecca Dye, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 
 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 
Motion made by Steve Breeding, second Tim Lovelace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the agenda as amended. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, David Eaton, Rebecca Dye, Lou Wallace and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 
Presentations  
 
Andy Smith, Vice Chairman of the Russell County Planning Commission addressed the Board concerning 
the need for a County agent to be present at the Planning Commission monthly meetings.  He asked that 
the Board consider appointing someone to assume that role. 
 
Melissa Parsons, Department of Emergency Management commented that the participation agreement 
with the county needs to be signed to allow the transition to the NG911 Migration Program.  She gave 
an overview of the new 911 system and how it would now operate through fiber.  
 

APPROVAL OF THE NG911 MIGRATION PROGRAM PARTICIPAITON AGREEMENT 
 

Motion made by David Eaton, second Steve Breeding and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the NG911 Migration Program Participation Agreement. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, David Eaton, Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, Rebecca Dye, Lou Wallace and Oris Christian 



Nay:  None 
 
New Business 
 

APPROVAL OF OCTOBER 05, 2020 MINUTES 
 

Motion made by Steve Breeding, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
the October 05, 2020 minutes and dispense with the reading thereof. 

The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, David Eaton, Lou Wallace, Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 

APPROVAL OF THE OCTOBER 27, 2020 MINUTES 
 
Motion made by Tim Lovelace, second Carl Rhea and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the October 27, 2020 minutes and dispense with the reading thereof. 

The vote was: 
 
Aye:  Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, Lou Wallace, David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL GENERAL COUNTY INVOICES 
 

Motion made by Steve Breeding, second Lou Wallace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve general county invoices in the amount of $1,430,083.88 , including reoccurring and 
withholdings. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, David Eaton, Tim Lovelace, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  Nay 

TIM LOVELACE REAPPOINTED TO THE COAL HAUL ROAD COMMITTEE 
 

Motion made by Oris Christian, second Steve Breeding and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
reappoint Tim Lovelace to the Coal Haul Road Committee for a four (4) year term, said term ending 
November 07, 2024. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, David Eaton, Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, Rebecca Dye, Lou Wallace and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 
Citizens Comment 
 
The Chair opened citizens’ comment. 
 
Steve and Teresa Franklin and Nelson Hayes, Castlewood spoke about the little league field gates being 
locked in Castlewood.  Several attempts have been made to work something out with them but they 
have not been able to resolve the issue.   They want to use the field for their daughter to practice and 



think that they are entitled to do so since they are taxpayers.  Mr. Franklin stated that he did not have a 
problem with the Clinch River Little League using and leasing the field.  He just wants the community to 
be able to access it when not in use by the little league. 
 
Jim Lyttle, Pastor of the Church Hill United Methodist Church commented that the “hot spot” at the 
church that was made available for students to use was a success.  He thanked the public and the board.  
He also stated that the Tourism Advisory Committee had several fundraisers ongoing and was pleased 
with everyone involved and the work that they do. 
 
Dustin Keith, Lebanon stated that the GIS system that the county uses should be free for everyone to 
use.  All the surrounding counties allow access without charging a fee.  Mr. Keith is also a member of the 
Russell County Planning Commission. 
 
The Chair closed citizens’ comment. 
 
County Attorney Reports and Requests 
 
Senator Chafin, County Attorney commented that he would address the Board in Executive (closed) 
Session at the end of the meeting. 
 

APPROVAL OF RUSSELL COUNTY “CARES” BUSINESS GRANTS 
 
Motion made by David Eaton, second Tim Lovelace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the Russell County “Cares” Business Grants subject to the criteria in the application. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  David Eaton, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 

PUBLIC HEARING TO BE HELD ON THE RUSSELL COUNTY EROSION AND SEDIMENT ORDINANCE 
 
Motion made by Steve Breeding, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve a public hearing for the Russell County Erosion and Sediment Ordinance to be held at the next 
board meeting on Wednesday, December 09, 2020 at 6:00 pm. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, David Eaton, Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, Rebecca Dye, Lou Wallace and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL TURKEY DONATION PROGRAM 
 
Motion made by Carl Rhea, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the annual Russell County turkey donation program in the amount of $10,000. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Carl Rhea, David Eaton, Tim Lovelace, Steve Breeding, Lou Wallace, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 



APPROVAL OF THANKGIVING AND CHRISTMAS DAY HOLIDAY PAY FOR PART TIME COUNTY 
EMPLOYEES 

 
Motion made by David Eaton, second Steve Breeding and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
authorize Thanksgiving and Christmas Day payments for part time county employees. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Carl Rhea, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL OF A LETTER OF SUPPORT FOR THE CPRHA GRANT APPLICATION FOR DANTE 
 

Motion made by Steve Breeding, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve a letter of support and authorize the Chair to sign a Cumberland Plateau Regional Housing 
Authority housing project grant application for the Dante community. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Carl Rhea, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL TO CHANGE THE DECEMBER 07, 2020 BOS MEETING TO DECEMBER 09, 2020 
 
Motion made by Steve Breeding, second Carl Rhea and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
change the December 07, 2020 Board of Supervisors meeting date to Wednesday, December 09, 2020 at 
6:00 pm due to the county Christmas parade schedule. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, Carl Rhea, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, David Eaton, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 

EXECUTIVE (CLOSED) SESSION 
 

Motion made by Steve Breeding, second Oris Christian and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
enter Executive (closed) session to discuss legal matters pursuant to Section 2.2-3711(A)(1) – discussions 
concerning Personnel Matters. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, Oris Christian, Lou Wallace, Tim Lovelace, David Eaton, Rebecca Dye and Carl Rhea 
Nay:  None 

APPROVAL TO RETURN TO REGULAR SESSION 
 

Motion made by Steve Breeding, second Tim Lovelace and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
return to regular session. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:   Steve Breeding, Tim Lovelace, David Eaton, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 

 
 



CERTIFICATION OF EXECUTIVE (CLOSED) SESSION 
 
Pursuant to § 2.2-3712(D) of the Code of Virginia 1950, as amended each member of the Board of 
Supervisors upon the Roll Call certifies that to the best of their knowledge (I) only public business 
matters lawfully exempted from the open meeting requirements under the Virginia Freedom of 
Information Act and (ii) only such public business matters that were identified in the motion(s) by which 
the closed meeting was convened were heard, discussed, or considered in the meeting by the Board of 
Supervisors. 

Any member of the Board of Supervisors who believes that there was a departure from the 
requirements of clauses (I) and (ii) above shall so state prior to the vote, indicating the substance of the 
departure that, in his or her judgment, has taken place. 
 
Are there any who believe a departure has taken place?  Seeing none, if you agree that the matters heard, 
discussed or considered during the closed meeting were pursuant only to the motion(s) by which the 
closed meeting was convened, please signify by saying aye or yes. 

Tim Lovelace – AYE 
Lou Wallace – AYE 
Carl Rhea – AYE 
David Eaton – AYE 
Rebecca Dye - AYE 
Steve Breeding – AYE 
Oris Christian – AYE 
 

APPROVAL TO ADVERTISE FOR A FULL TIME DEPUTY EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT COORDINATOR 
 
Motion made by David Eaton, second Carl Rhea and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
advertise for a full-time deputy Emergency Management Coordinator. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  David Eaton, Carl Rhea, Lou Wallace, Tim Lovelace, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 

APPROVAL TO ADJOURN 
 
Motion made by Steve Breeding, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
adjourn. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, David Eaton, Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, Rebecca Dye, Lou Wallace and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________                                    ______________________________ 
Clerk of the Board                                                                             Chairperson 



 
                                                      Board of Supervisors                         Action Item A-2 

137 Highland Drive Presenter: Chairperson 
Lebanon, VA 24266 

       Meeting: 12/9/20      6:00 PM 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Approval of Expenditures 

Request approval of the County’s November 2020 Monthly Expenditures: 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s):  
County’s November 2020 Monthly Expenditures are in compliance with budget and operational 

services. 

 
SUGGESTED MOTION(s): 
Motion to approve County’s November 2020 Monthly Expenditures. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• November 2020 Monthly Expenditures 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 































 
Board of Supervisors      Action Item 

137 Highland Drive Presenter: Chairperson  
Lebanon, VA 24266 

        Meeting: 12/9/20        6:00 PM 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 
 
 
 
 

Board Appointments 
Committee Appointments for Board Consideration. 

 
Drill Community Center 
 
Charlene Blankenship    Two-Year Term December 31, 2020 
Rachel Helton Two-Year Term December 31, 2020 
Doug Lester Two-Year Term  December 31, 2020 
Harold D. Thomas Two-Year Term December 31, 2020 
Betty Sue Hess Two-Year Term December 31, 2020  
 

 
Staff Recommendation:  

 
Board Discretion. 



                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 
    Board of Supervisors   Action Item 

137 Highland Drive                                  Presenters - Attorney 
Lebanon, VA 24266                    

        Meeting: 12/9/20        6:00 PM 
 

 
County Attorney Reports 

 
 

1. Courthouse Project Proposal Resolution (Pursuant to PPEA)  
 

2. RC Erosion and Sediment Ordinance 
 

3. VRA & RC PSA Lenders’ Agreements 
 

4. Clinch River Little League  
 

5. Key Western Property Easement 
 

Staff Recommendation: 
 

Board Discretion. 
 

Suggested Motion: 
 

Motion Required.  
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
• Various  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
  

Russell County Virginia 
“The Heart of Southwest Virginia” 

 
Oris Christian   Carl Rhea 
At-Large  District 3  
 
Tim Lovelace  Rebecca Dye, Chairperson David Eaton 
District 1 District 6 District 4 
  
Lou Ann Wallace Steve Breeding, Vice-Chairman Lonzo Lester 
District 2 District 5 County Administrator 
 

Russell County Government Center 
137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 

www.russellcountyva.us 

  

 

    

    

    

  
 

RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT THE PROPOSAL OF J.A. STREET AND ASSOCIATES, 
INC. PURSUANT TO THE PUBLIC-PRIVATE EDUCATION FACILITIES AND 

INFRASTRUCTURE ACT OF 2002 (“PPEA”) AND THE PPEA GUIDELINES 
ADOPTED BY THE RUSSELL COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS ON OCTOBER 

7, 2019 REGARDING THE EXPANSION AND RENOVATION OF THE COUNTY 
COURTHOUSE WHICH HAS PREVIOUSLY BEEN DETERMINED TO BE A 

QUALIFYING PROJECT PURSUANT TO THE PPEA 

 

WHEREAS, on February 19, 2020, the Russell County Board of Supervisors declared the 
Renovations of the Courthouse to be a “Qualifying Project” and subsequently requested 
proposals regarding the renovation and/or expansion of the Courthouse. 

WHEREAS, on November 2, 2020 the Russell County Board of Supervisors was informed that 
the Courthouse Committee planned to receive revised proposals in the “detailed phase” pursuant 
to the PPEA guidelines with three proposers, namely, BurWil Construction Company, Inc., J.A. 
Street and Associates, Inc., Pray Construction Company. 

WHEREAS, on December 9, 2020 the Members of the Courthouse Committee reported that they 
had met with and interviewed extensively the three proposers named above and that those 
proposers are ranked by the authorized representatives of the Courthouse Committee as follows: 

1. J.A. Street and Associates, Inc. 
2. BurWil Construction Company, Inc. 
3. Pray Construction Company 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLOVED AS FOLLOWS; 
 
The Russell County Board of Supervisors hereby ratifies and reaffirms the determinations 
and the actions taken on its behalf reflected in the above recitals. The proposal of J.A. 
Street is hereby selected pursuant to the PPEA and the PPEA guidelines. 
 
The Russell County Board of Supervisors, in conjunction with the Courthouse Committee 
and Skanska USA Building Inc., shall continue negotiations for the purpose of entering 
into an Interim Agreement with J.A. Street and Associates, Inc. for design phase services 
only following a public hearing but no sooner than 30 days prior to the public hearing. 



 

 
Negotiations with J.A. Street and Associates, Inc. shall be done with a goal of preparing a 
Comprehensive Agreement on such terms and in such a format to be consistent with the 
requirements of the funding agencies and in the best interests of the citizens of Russell 
County. 
 
The Courthouse Committee shall keep the Russell County Board of Supervisors fully 
advised as to the status of those negotiations. 
 
The Russell County Board of Supervisors reserves the right to terminate this procurement 
at any time per the terms of the Interim Agreement prior to the execution of the 
comprehensive agreement. 
 
 ADOPTED the 9th day of December 2020. 
 
 
     RUSSELL COUNTY BOARD  

OF SUPERVISORS 
 
 
________________________ 
REBECCA DYE 
Chairperson 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

__________________ 

Lonzo Lester 
Clerk of the Board 

 
 



K&C Draft: 7/16/2020 
 
 
 

MASTER FINANCING AGREEMENT 
 

dated as of __________ 1, 2020 
 
 
 

BETWEEN 
 
 
 
 

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY,  

as Administrator of the 
Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund 

 
 

AND 
 
 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
 
 

Virginia Resources Authority 
Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund 

 
 
 

$6,157,089.73 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020B 
 

$5,901,097.65 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020C 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

[To Be Updated] 
Page 

 
ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 
 
Section 1.1. Definitions  ................................................................................................................1 
Section 1.2. Rules of Construction  ...............................................................................................4 
 
 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS 

 
Section 2.1. Representations by Borrower  ..................................................................................5 
 
 

ARTICLE III 
ISSUANCE AND DELIVERY OF THE LOCAL BONDS 

 
Section 3.1. Amendment and Restatement of Financing Agreements.........................................7 
Section 3.2. Conditions Precedent to Entering into Master Financing Agreement .....................7 
 
 

ARTICLE IV 
USE OF LOCAL BOND PROCEEDS AND CONSTRUCTION OF PROJECT 

 
Section 4.1. Application of Article IV .........................................................................................9 
Section 4.2. Application of Proceeds  ..........................................................................................9 
Section 4.3. Agreement to Accomplish Project  ........................................................................10 
Section 4.4. Permits  ..................................................................................................................11 
Section 4.5. Construction Contractors  ......................................................................................11 
Section 4.6. Engineering Services  ............................................................................................11 
Section 4.7. Borrower Required to Complete Project  ...............................................................11 
 
 

ARTICLE V 
PLEDGE, REVENUES AND RATES 

 
Section 5.1. Pledge of Revenues; Rate Covenant  .....................................................................12 
Section 5.2. Annual Budget  ......................................................................................................13 
Section 5.3. Qualified Independent Consultant’s Report ..........................................................13 
 
 



ARTICLE VI 
PAYMENTS 

 
Section 6.1. Payment of Local Bonds  .......................................................................................13 
Section 6.2. Payment of Additional Payments ..........................................................................14 
 
 

ARTICLE VII 
PREPAYMENTS 

 
Section 7.1. Prepayment of Local Bonds  ..................................................................................14 
 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
OWNERSHIP, OPERATION AND USE OF SYSTEM 

 
Section 8.1. Ownership and Operation of Project and System  .................................................15 
Section 8.2. Maintenance  ..........................................................................................................15 
Section 8.3. Additions and Modifications .................................................................................15 
Section 8.4. Use of System  .......................................................................................................15 
Section 8.5. Inspection of System and Borrower’s Books and Records  ...................................15 
Section 8.6. Ownership of System  ............................................................................................15 
Section 8.7. Sale or Encumbrance  ............................................................................................16 
Section 8.8. Collection of Revenues  .........................................................................................16 
Section 8.9. No Free Service .....................................................................................................16 
Section 8.10. No Competing Service  ..........................................................................................17 
Section 8.11. Mandatory Connection ..........................................................................................17 
Section 8.12. Lawful Charges  .....................................................................................................17 
Section 8.13. Operating Budget ...................................................................................................17 
Section 8.14. Operating Reserve  .................................................................................................17 
 
 

ARTICLE IX 
INSURANCE, DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION 

 
Section 9.1. Insurance  ...............................................................................................................17 
Section 9.2. Requirements of Policies  ......................................................................................18 
Section 9.3. Notice of Damage, Destruction and Condemnation  .............................................18 
Section 9.4. Damage and Destruction  .......................................................................................18 
Section 9.5. Condemnation and Loss of Title  ...........................................................................19 
 
 

ARTICLE X 
SPECIAL COVENANTS 

 
Section 10.1. Maintenance of Existence  .....................................................................................19 



Section 10.2. Financial Records and Statements  ........................................................................19 
Section 10.3. Certificate as to No Default  ..................................................................................20 
Section 10.4. Additional Indebtedness ........................................................................................20 
Section 10.5. Parity Bonds  ..........................................................................................................20 
Section 10.6. Further Assurances ................................................................................................22 
Section 10.7. Other Indebtedness ................................................................................................22 
Section 10.8. Assignment by Borrower  ......................................................................................22 
Section 10.9. Davis-Bacon Act  ...................................................................................................22 
Section 10.10. American Iron and Steel  .......................................................................................22 
Section 10.11. Recordkeeping and Reporting ...............................................................................23 
Section 10.12. Service Contracts  ..................................................................................................23  
 

 
ARTICLE XI 

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 
 
Section 11.1. Events of Default  ..................................................................................................23 
Section 11.2. Notice of Default ...................................................................................................24 
Section 11.3. Remedies on Default ..............................................................................................24 
Section 11.4. Delay and Waiver ..................................................................................................25 
Section 11.5. State Aid Intercept .................................................................................................25 
 
 

ARTICLE XII 
MISCELLANEOUS 

 
Section 12.1. Successors and Assigns .........................................................................................25 
Section 12.2. Amendments  .........................................................................................................25 
Section 12.3. Limitation of Borrower’s Liability ........................................................................25 
Section 12.4. Applicable Law  .....................................................................................................25 
Section 12.5. Severability  ...........................................................................................................26 
Section 12.6. Notices  ..................................................................................................................26 
Section 12.7. Right to Cure Default  ............................................................................................26 
Section 12.8. Headings  ...............................................................................................................27 
Section 12.9. Term of Agreement  ...............................................................................................27 
Section 12.10. Termination of Original Financing Agreements  ...................................................27 
Section 12.11. Counterparts  ..........................................................................................................27 
 
 

 



EXHIBITS 
 
 
Exhibit A - Form of Local Bonds 
Exhibit B - Project Descriptions 
Exhibit C - Project Budgets 
Exhibit D - Opinion of Borrower’s Bond Counsel 
Exhibit E - Form of Requisition 
Exhibit F - Original Bonds 
Exhibit G - Original Financing Agreements 
Exhibit H - Prior Bonds and Existing Parity Bonds  
Exhibit I - Debt Service Schedules 
Exhibit J - Form of Budget 
Exhibit K - Amended and Restated Support Agreement 



MASTER FINANCING AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS MASTER FINANCING AGREEMENT is made as of this first day of 
__________, 2020, between the VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, a public body 
corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Authority”), as 
Administrator of the VIRGINIA WATER SUPPLY REVOLVING FUND (the “Fund”), and 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY, a body politic and corporate 
and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Borrower”). 
 
 Pursuant to Chapter 23, Title 62.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended (the “Act”), 
the General Assembly created a permanent and perpetual fund known as the “Virginia Water 
Supply Revolving Fund” (the “Fund”).  In conjunction with the Board of Health, the Authority 
administers and manages the Fund.  From the Fund, the Authority from time to time makes loans to 
and acquires obligations of local governments in Virginia to finance or refinance the costs of water 
supply facilities within the meaning of Section 62.1-233 of the Act. 
 
 The Borrower has requested certain loans from the Fund and has evidenced its obligation 
to repay such loans by its bonds as described on Exhibit F (the “Russell PSA Bonds”) pursuant 
to Financing Agreements as described on Exhibit G, between the Authority, as Administrator of 
the Fund, and the Borrower (the “Russell PSA Financing Agreements”).  In connection with the 
transfers and assumptions described below, the Borrower has requested that the Authority agree 
to amendments to and restatements of the Russell PSA Financing Agreements with respect to the 
Russell PSA Bonds on the terms and conditions stated in this Agreement. 
 
 The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority (“Castlewood WSA”) has previously issued 
its bonds as described on Exhibit F (the “Castlewood WSA Bonds”) pursuant to Financing 
Agreements as described on Exhibit G, between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and 
Castlewood WSA (the “Castlewood WSA Financing Agreements”).  Castlewood WSA has agreed 
to transfer to the Borrower the facilities financed by the Castlewood WSA Bonds and the Borrower 
has agreed to assume the Castlewood WSA Bonds.  The parties desire to provide for the assumption 
by the Borrower of the obligations of the Castlewood WSA with respect to the Castlewood WSA 
Bonds, on the terms and conditions stated in this Agreement. 
 
 The County of Russell, Virginia (the “County”) has previously issued its bonds as described 
on Exhibit F (the “County Bonds”) pursuant to Financing Agreements as described on Exhibit G, 
between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and the County (the “County Financing 
Agreements”).  The County has agreed to transfer to the Borrower the facilities financed by the 
County Bonds and the Borrower has agreed to assume the County Bonds.  The parties desire to 
provide for the assumption by the Borrower of the obligations of the County with respect to the 
County Bonds, on the terms and conditions stated in this Agreement. 
 
 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

 
 Section 1.1. Definitions.  The capitalized terms contained in this Agreement and not 
defined above shall have the meanings set forth below unless the context requires otherwise and 



any capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning assigned to such terms 
in the Act: 
 
 “Additional Payments” means the payments required by Section 6.2. 
 
 “Agreement” means this Master Financing Agreement between the Authority and the 
Borrower, together with any amendments or supplements hereto. 
 
 “Annual Administrative Fee” means the portion of the Cost of Funds specified in 
Section 6.1 and Exhibit I payable as an annual fee for administrative and management services 
attributable to certain of the Local Bonds. 
  
 “Authorized Representative” means any member, official or employee of the Borrower 
authorized by resolution, ordinance or other official act of the governing body of the Borrower to 
perform the act or sign the document in question. 
 
 “Board” means the Virginia Board of Health. 
 

“Castlewood WSA” means The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority. 
 

 “Castlewood WSA Bonds” means, collectively, the bonds and any allonges thereto 
described in Exhibit F issued by Castlewood WSA to the Authority, as Administrator of the 
Fund. 
 
 “Castlewood WSA Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the financing 
agreements between the Authority and Castlewood WSA as further described on Exhibit G. 
 
 “Closing Date” means the date of delivery of the Local Bonds to the Authority, as 
Administrator of the Fund. 
 
 “Consulting Engineer” means the engineer or firm of independent consulting engineers 
of recognized standing and experienced in the field of sanitary engineering and registered to do 
business in Virginia which is designated by the Borrower from time to time as the Borrower’s 
consulting engineer in accordance with Section 4.6 in a written notice to the Authority.  Such 
individual or firm shall be subject to the reasonable approval of the Authority.  Unless and until 
the Authority notifies the Borrower otherwise, any of the Borrower’s employees that are licensed 
and registered as professional engineers in the Commonwealth of Virginia may serve as 
Consulting Engineer under this Agreement. 

 
“Cost of Funds” means interest, including the part thereof allocable to the Annual 

Administrative Fee, if any, payable as set forth in Section 6.1 and Exhibit I.  
 
“County” means the County of Russell, Virginia. 
 

 “County Bonds” means, collectively, the bonds and any allonges thereto described in 
Exhibit F issued by the County to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund. 



 
 “County Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the financing agreements 
between the Authority and the County as further described on Exhibit G. 
 
 “Default” means an event or condition the occurrence of which would, with the lapse of 
time or the giving of notice or both, become an Event of Default. 
 
 “Department” means the Virginia Department of Health. 
 
 “Event of Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.1. 
 
 “Existing Parity Bonds” means any of the Borrower’s bonds, notes or other evidences 
of indebtedness, as further described on Exhibit H, that on the respective dates of the Local 
Bonds’ issuance and delivery were secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues on a parity 
with the pledge of Revenues securing the Local Bonds. 
 
 “Fiscal Year” means the period of twelve months established by the Borrower as its 
annual accounting period. 
 
 “Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the Castlewood WSA Financing 
Agreements, the County Financing Agreements and the Russell PSA Financing Agreements. 
 
 “Funding Agreement” means the Amended and Restated Funding Agreement, dated as 
of the date hereof, between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and the Borrower. 
 
 “Local Bonds” means, collectively, the bonds relating to the assumption of the 
Castlewood WSA Bonds and the County Bonds and the amendments and restatements of the 
Russell PSA Bonds, substantially in the forms attached to this Financing Agreement as Exhibit 
A, issued by the Borrower to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, pursuant to this 
Agreement. 
 
 “Local Bond Proceeds” means the aggregate proceeds from the sale of the Local Bonds 
pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
 “Local Resolution” means all resolutions or ordinances adopted by the governing body 
of the Borrower approving the transactions contemplated by and authorizing the execution and 
delivery of this Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement and the Transfer Agreement and the 
execution, issuance and delivery of the Local Bonds. 
 
 “Master Parity Agreement” means the Master Parity Agreement dated as of __________, 
2020, among the Authority, the Borrower and United States of America, acting by and through the 
Rural Utilities Service, an agency of the United States Department of Agriculture. 
 
 “Net Proceeds” means the gross proceeds from any insurance recovery or condemnation 
award remaining after payment of attorneys’ fees and expenses of the Authority and all other 
expenses incurred in the collection of such gross proceeds. 



 
 “Net Revenues Available for Debt Service” means the Revenues less amounts 
necessary to pay Operation and Maintenance Expense. 
 
 “Operating Reserve Fund” means the operating reserve fund established in Section 
8.13. 
 
 “Operation and Maintenance Expense” means the costs of operating and maintaining 
the System determined pursuant to generally accepted accounting principles, exclusive of 
(i) interest on any debt secured by or payable from Revenues, (ii) depreciation and any other 
items not requiring the expenditure of cash, (iii) any amounts expended for capital replacements, 
repairs and maintenance not recurring annually or reserves therefor, and (iv) reserves for 
administration, operation and maintenance occurring in the normal course of business. 
 
 “Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion of recognized bond counsel, acceptable 
to the Authority. 
 
 “Original Bonds” means, collectively, the Castlewood WSA Bonds, the County Bonds 
and the Russell PSA Bonds. 
 
 “Original Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the Castlewood WSA Financing 
Agreements, the County Financing Agreements and the Russell PSA Financing Agreements. 
 
 “Parity Bonds” means bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the Borrower 
issued under Section 10.5. 
 
 “Prior Bonds” means bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the Borrower  
secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues all or any portion of which was superior to the 
pledge of Revenues securing the Local Bonds. 
 
 “Project” means, collectively, the particular projects described in Exhibit B, the costs of 
the construction, acquisition or equipping of which were financed or financing in whole or in 
part with the Local Bond Proceeds. 
 
 “Project Budgets” means, collectively, the budgets for the financing or the refinancing 
of each Project, copies of which are attached to this Agreement as Exhibit C. 
 
 “Project Costs” means the costs of the construction, acquisition or equipping of each 
Project, as further described in the Project Budgets, and such other costs as may be approved in 
writing by the Authority, provided such costs are permitted by the Act. 
 
 “Qualified Independent Consultant” shall mean an independent professional consultant 
having the skill and experience necessary to provide the particular certificate, report or approval 
required by the provision of this Agreement in which such requirement appears, including 
without limitation a Consulting Engineer, so long as such individual is not an employee of the 



Borrower, and an independent certified public accountant or firm of independent certified public 
accountants.  Such individual or firm shall be subject to the reasonable approval of the Authority. 
 
 “Required Operating Reserve” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.13. 
 
 “Revenues” means (i) all rates, fees, rentals, charges and income properly allocable to 
the System in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles or resulting from the 
Borrower’s ownership or operation of the System, excluding customer and other deposits subject 
to refund until such deposits have become the Borrower’s property, (ii) the proceeds of any 
insurance covering business interruption loss relating to the System, (iii) interest on any money 
or securities related to the System held by or on behalf of the Borrower, (iv) amounts that may be 
appropriated for and paid to the Borrower by the County under the Support Agreement or 
otherwise, and (v) any other income from other sources pledged by the Borrower to the payment 
of its Local Bonds. 
 
 “Russell PSA Bonds” means, collectively, the bonds and any allonges thereto described 
in Exhibit F issued by the Borrower to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund. 
 
 “Russell PSA Financing Agreements” means, collectively, the financing agreements 
between the Authority and Borrower as further described on Exhibit G. 
 
 “Service Contracts” means the Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Water dated May 6, 
2014, between the Borrower and the Buchanan County Public Service Authority; Water Sale 
Agreement dated July 8, 2015, between the Borrower and the Town of Honaker, Virginia; 
Agreement for the Bulk Sales of Water dated March 14, 2002, between the Borrower and the 
Town of Lebanon, Virginia; Agreement for the Bulk Sale of Water dated June 11, 2001, between 
the Borrower and the Tazewell County Public Service Authority; and Contract for Sale of Water 
dated October 3, 2013, between the Borrower and the Washington County Service Authority. 
[Add any service contracts transferred from Castlewood WSA and Russell County] 
 
 “Subordinate Bonds” means bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the 
Borrower  secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues expressly made subordinate to the 
pledge of Revenues securing the Local Bonds. 
 
 “Support Agreement” means the Amended and Restated Support Agreement, dated the 
date hereof, among the Borrower, the Authority and the County, substantially in the form of 
Exhibit K hereto. 
 
 “System” means all plants, systems, facilities, equipment or property, including but not 
limited to the Project, owned, operated or maintained by the Borrower and used in connection 
with the collection, supply, treatment, storage or distribution of water or the collection or 
treatment of wastewater as the same may from time to time exist. 
 
 “Transfer Agreement” means the Transfer Agreement dated as of __________, 2020, 
among the Borrower, the County and The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority. 
 



 Section 1.2. Rules of Construction.  The following rules shall apply to the 
construction of this Agreement unless the context requires otherwise: 
 
  (a) Singular words shall connote the plural number as well as the singular and 
vice versa. 
 
  (b) All references in this Agreement to particular Sections or Exhibits are 
references to Sections or Exhibits of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. 
 
  (c) The headings and table of contents as used in this Agreement are solely 
for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement nor shall they 
affect its meaning, construction or effect. 
 
 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS 

 
 Section 2.1. Representations by Borrower.  The Borrower makes the following 
representations as the basis for its undertakings under this Agreement: 
 
  (a) The Borrower is a duly created and validly existing “local government” 
(as defined in Section 62.1-233 of the Act) of the Commonwealth of Virginia and is vested with 
the rights and powers conferred upon it by Virginia law. 
 
  (b) The Borrower has full right, power and authority to (i) adopt the Local 
Resolution and execute and deliver this Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support 
Agreement, the Transfer Agreement and the other documents related thereto, (ii) issue, sell and 
deliver the Local Bonds to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, (iii) own and operate the 
System, (iv) fix, charge and collect charges for the use of and for the services furnished by the 
System, (v) construct, acquire or equip the Project (as described in Exhibit B) and finance or 
refinance the Project Costs by borrowing money for such purpose pursuant to this Agreement 
and the issuance of the Local Bonds, (vi) pledge the Revenues of the System to the payment of 
the Local Bonds, and (vii) carry out and consummate all of the transactions contemplated by the 
Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Local Bonds. 
 
  (c) This Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement, 
the Transfer Agreement and the Local Bonds were duly authorized by the Local Resolution and 
are in substantially the same form as presented to the governing body of the Borrower at its 
meeting at which the Local Resolution was adopted. 
 
  (d) All governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, 
authorizations and approvals required to have been obtained as of the date of the delivery of this 
Agreement have been obtained for (i) the Borrower’s adoption of the Local Resolution, (ii) the 
execution and delivery by the Borrower of this Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the 
Support Agreement, the Transfer Agreement and the Local Bonds, (iii) the performance and 
enforcement of the obligations of the Borrower thereunder, (iv) the acquisition, construction, 
equipping, occupation, operation and use of the Project, and (v) the operation and use of the 



System.  The Borrower knows of no reason why any such required governmental permits, 
licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations and approvals not obtained as of the date 
hereof cannot be obtained as needed. 
 
  (e) This Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement 
and the Transfer Agreement have been executed and delivered by duly authorized officials of the 
Borrower and constitute a legal, valid and binding obligations of the Borrower enforceable 
against the Borrower in accordance with their terms. 
 
  (f) When executed and delivered in accordance with the Local Resolution and 
this Agreement, the Local Bonds will have been executed and delivered by duly authorized 
officials of the Borrower and will constitute a legal, valid and binding limited obligation of the 
Borrower enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with its terms. 
 
  (g) The issuance of the Local Bonds and the execution and delivery of this 
Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement 
and the performance by the Borrower of its obligations thereunder are within the powers of the 
Borrower and will not conflict with, or constitute a breach or result in a violation of, (i) to the 
best of the Borrower’s knowledge, any Federal, or Virginia constitutional or statutory provision, 
including the Borrower’s charter or articles of incorporation, if any, (ii) any agreement or other 
instrument to which the Borrower is a party or by which it is bound or (iii) any order, rule, 
regulation, decree or ordinance of any court, government or governmental authority having 
jurisdiction over the Borrower or its property. 

  (h) The Borrower is not in default in the payment of the principal of or 
interest on any of its indebtedness for borrowed money and is not in default under any instrument 
under and subject to which any indebtedness for borrowed money has been incurred.  No event 
or condition has happened or existed, or is happening or existing, under the provisions of any 
such instrument, including but not limited to this Agreement, which constitutes, or which, with 
notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute an event of default thereunder. 

  (i) The Borrower (i) to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, is not in 
violation of any existing law, rule or regulation applicable to it in any way which would have a 
material adverse effect on its financial condition or its ability to perform its obligations under 
this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bonds and (ii) is not in default under any 
indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, lien, lease, contract, note, order, judgment, decree or other 
agreement, instrument or restriction of any kind to which the Borrower is a party or by which it 
is bound or to which any of its assets is subject, which would have a material adverse effect on 
its financial condition or its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement, the Support 
Agreement or the Local Bonds.  The execution and delivery by the Borrower of this Agreement, 
the Support Agreement or the Local Bonds and the compliance with the terms and conditions 
thereof will not conflict with or result in a breach of or constitute a default under any of the 
foregoing. 

  (j) There are not pending nor, to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, 
threatened against the Borrower, any actions, suits, proceedings or investigations of a legal, 
equitable, regulatory, administrative or legislative nature, (i) affecting the creation, organization 



or existence of the Borrower or the title of its officers to their respective offices, (ii) seeking to 
prohibit, restrain or enjoin the approval, execution, delivery or performance of the Local 
Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bonds or the issuance or 
delivery of the Local Bonds, (iii) in any way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability 
of the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Local Bonds or any 
agreement or instrument relating to any of the foregoing, (iv) in which a judgment, order or 
resolution may have a material adverse effect on the Borrower or its business, assets, condition 
(financial or otherwise), operations or prospects or on its ability to perform its obligations under 
the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bonds, (v) in any way 
affecting or contesting the undertaking of the Project, or (vi) contesting or challenging the power 
of the Borrower to pledge the Revenues to the payment of the Local Bonds. 

  (k) No material adverse change has occurred in the financial condition of the 
Borrower as indicated in the financial statements, applications and other information furnished to 
the Authority. 
 
  (l) Except as may otherwise be approved by the Authority or permitted by the 
terms of this Agreement, the System at all times is and will be owned by the Borrower and will 
not be operated or controlled by any other entity or person.  

   (m) There is no indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from a 
pledge of Revenues on a parity with or prior to the lien of the pledge of Revenues securing the 
Local Bonds except any Existing Parity Bonds set forth on Exhibit H. 
 
  (n) The Service Contracts are in full force and effect; no default or event of 
default has occurred and is continuing under the Service Contracts; and the Borrower is not 
currently aware of any fact or circumstance that would have an adverse impact on the 
Borrower’s ability to set rates, to receive payments, or to exercise any other rights and remedies 
available to the Borrower, under or pursuant to the Service Contracts. 
 
  (o) No Event of Default or Default has occurred and is continuing. 
 
  (p) All of the representations and warranties of the Borrower contained in the 
Master Parity Agreement and the Transfer Agreement are true and correct and all terms of the 
Master Parity Agreement and the Transfer Agreement are reaffirmed, ratified and confirmed. 

 
 



ARTICLE III 
AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF FINANCING AGREEMENTS 

 
 Section 3.1. Amendment and Restatement of Financing Agreements; Assumption 
of Local Bonds.  (a)  This Agreement in part constitutes an amendment and restatement of the 
Financing Agreements with respect to the Local Bonds; however, this Agreement shall not 
constitute a novation of the original debt evidenced by the Russell County PSA Bonds. 

 (b) The Borrower agrees to assume each of Castlewood WSA’s and the County’s 
obligations to make payments of the principal and other sums that become due under its respective 
Local Bonds after the Closing Date.   
 
 (c) The Borrower’s obligations with respect to the amendments and restatements of the 
Russell PSA Financing Agreements and the Russell PSA Bonds and the assumption of the 
Castlewood WSA Bonds and the County Bonds shall be evidenced by the Locals Bonds. The 
Authority agrees to release Castlewood WSA and the County from their respective obligations 
under its respective Local Bonds, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 
 
 Section 3.2. Conditions Precedent to Entering into the Master Financing 
Agreement.  This Agreement shall not be effective until the Authority shall have received the 
following, all in form and substance satisfactory to the Authority: 
 
  (a) The Local Bonds, the Funding Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, 
the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement. 
 
  (b) A certified copy of the Local Resolution. 
 
  (c) A certificate of appropriate officials of the Borrower as to the matters set 
forth in Section 2.1 and such other matters as the Authority may reasonably require. 
 
  (d) Evidence satisfactory to the Authority that the Borrower has performed 
and satisfied all of the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement to be performed and 
satisfied by it as of such date. 
 
  (e) An Opinion of Counsel, substantially in the form of Exhibit D, addressed 
to the Fund and the Authority. 
 
  (f) An opinion of counsel to the Borrower in form and substance reasonably 
satisfactory to the Authority. 
 
  (g) Such other documentation, certificates and opinions as the Authority, the 
Board or the Department may reasonably require, including an opinion from counsel acceptable 
to the Authority that the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer 
Agreement are valid and enforceable against the Borrower, subject to usual and customary 
qualifications. 
 



  (h)  Deposit into the Operating Reserve Fund the amount of $________ from 
the Borrower’s available funds. 
 
 

ARTICLE IV 
USE OF LOCAL BOND PROCEEDS AND CONSTRUCTION OF PROJECT 

 
 Section 4.1. Application of Article IV.  The provisions of Article IV shall only apply 
with respect to the following Original Bonds: 
 
 [WSL-022-15E in the amount of $_____] 
 
 [WSL-028-14E in the amount of $_____] 
 
 Section 4.2. Application of Proceeds. 
 
 (a) The Borrower agrees to apply the Local Bond Proceeds solely and exclusively to 
the payment, or the reimbursement of the Borrower for the payment, of Project Costs and further 
agrees to exhibit to the Department or the Authority receipts, vouchers, statements, bills of sale 
or other evidence of the actual payment of such Project Costs.  The Authority shall disburse 
money from the Fund to or for the account of the Borrower not more frequently than once each 
calendar month (unless otherwise agreed by the Authority and the Borrower) upon receipt by the 
Authority (with a copy to be furnished to the Department) of the following: 
 
  (1) A requisition (upon which the Authority, the Board and the Department 
shall be entitled to rely) signed by an Authorized Representative and containing all information 
called for by, and otherwise being in the form of, Exhibit E to this Agreement; 
 
  (2) If any requisition includes an item for payment for labor or to contractors, 
builders or materialmen, 
 
   (i) a certificate, signed by the Consulting Engineer, stating that such 

work was actually performed or such materials, supplies or equipment 
were actually furnished or installed in or about the construction of the 
Project; and 

 
   (ii) a certificate, signed by an Authorized Representative, stating either 

that such materials, supplies or equipment are not subject to any lien or 
security interest or that such lien or security interest will be released or 
discharged upon payment of the requisition. 

 
 Upon receipt of each such requisition and accompanying certificate or certificates and 
approval thereof by the Department, the Authority shall disburse Local Bond Proceeds hereunder 
to or for the account of the Borrower in accordance with such requisition in an amount and to the 
extent approved by the Department and shall note the date and amount of each such 
disbursement on a schedule of principal disbursements to be included on the Local Bond.  The 



Authority shall have no obligation to disburse any such Local Bond Proceeds if the Borrower is 
in default hereunder nor shall the Department have any obligation to approve any requisition if 
the Borrower is not in compliance with the terms of this Agreement. 
 
 (b) The Borrower shall comply with all applicable laws of the Commonwealth of 
Virginia, including but not limited to, the Virginia Public Procurement Act, as amended, 
regarding the awarding and performance of public construction contracts related to the Project.  
Except as may otherwise be approved by the Department, disbursements shall be held at ninety-
five percent (95%) of the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond to ensure satisfactory 
completion of the Project.  Upon receipt from the Borrower of the certificate specified in 
Section 4.3 and a final requisition detailing all retainages to which the Borrower is then entitled, 
the Authority, to the extent approved by the Department and subject to the provisions of this 
Section and Section 4.3, will disburse to or for the account of the Borrower Local Bond Proceeds 
to the extent of such approval. 
 
 The Authority shall have no obligation to disburse Local Bond Proceeds in excess of the 
amount necessary to pay for approved Project Costs.  If principal disbursements up to the 
maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond are not made, principal installments due on the 
Local Bond shall be reduced only in accordance with Section 6.1. 
 
 Section 4.3. Agreement to Accomplish Project.  The Borrower agrees to cause the 
Project to be acquired, constructed, expanded, renovated or equipped as described in Exhibit B 
and in accordance with the Project Budget and the plans, specifications and designs prepared by 
the Consulting Engineer and approved by the Department.  All plans, specifications and designs 
shall be approved by all applicable regulatory agencies.  The Borrower agrees to maintain 
complete and accurate books and records of the Project Costs and permit the Authority and the 
Department through their duly authorized representatives to inspect such books and records at 
any reasonable time.  The Borrower and the Authority, with the consent of the Department, may 
amend the description of the Project set forth in Exhibit B. 
 
 When the Project has been completed, the Borrower shall promptly deliver to the 
Authority and the Department a certificate signed by an Authorized Representative of the 
Borrower and by the Consulting Engineer stating (i) that the Project has been completed substan-
tially in accordance with this Section, the plans and specifications as amended from time to time, 
as approved by the Department, and in substantial compliance with all material applicable laws, 
ordinances, rules and regulations, (ii) the date of such completion, (iii) that all certificates of 
occupancy or other material permits necessary for the Project’s use, occupancy and operation 
have been issued or obtained, and (iv) the amount, if any, to be reserved for payment of Project 
Costs. 
 
 Section 4.4. Permits.  The Borrower, at its sole cost and expense, shall comply with and 
shall obtain all permits, consents and approvals required by local, state or federal laws, ordinances, 
rules, regulations or requirements in connection with the acquisition, construction, equipping, 
occupation, operation or use of the Project.  The Borrower shall, upon request, promptly furnish to 
the Authority and the Department copies of all such permits, consents and approvals.  The Borrower 
shall also comply with all applicable lawful program or procedural guidelines or requirements duly 



promulgated and amended from time to time by the Department in connection with the acquisition, 
construction, equipping, occupation, operation or use of projects financed from the Fund under the 
Act.  The Borrower shall also comply in all respects with all applicable federal laws, regulations and 
other requirements relating to or arising out of or in connection with the Project and the funding 
thereof from the Fund.  Where noncompliance with such requirements is determined by the 
Authority or the Department, the issue shall be referred to the proper governmental authority or 
agency for consultation or enforcement action. 
 
 Section 4.5. Construction Contractors.  Each construction contractor employed in the 
accomplishment of the Project shall be required in the construction contract to furnish a 
performance bond and a payment bond each in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) 
of the particular contract price.  Such bonds shall list the Borrower, the Fund, the Authority, the 
Department and the Board as beneficiaries.  Each contractor shall be required to maintain during 
the construction period covered by the particular construction contract builder’s risk insurance, 
workers’ compensation insurance, public liability insurance, property damage insurance and 
vehicle liability insurance in amounts and on terms satisfactory to the Consulting Engineer.  
Upon request of the Authority, the Department or the Board, the Borrower shall cause each 
contractor to furnish evidence of such bonds and insurance to the Authority, the Department and 
the Board. 
 
 Section 4.6. Engineering Services.  The Borrower shall retain a Consulting Engineer 
to provide engineering services covering the operation of the System and the supervision and 
inspection of the construction of the Project.  The Consulting Engineer shall certify to the Fund, 
the Authority and the Department as to the various stages of the completion of the Project as 
disbursements of Local Bond Proceeds are requested and shall upon completion of the Project 
provide to the Fund, the Authority and the Department the certificates required by Sections 4.2 
and 4.3. 
 
 Section 4.7. Borrower Required to Complete Project.  If the Local Bond Proceeds 
are not sufficient to pay in full the cost of the Project, the Borrower will complete the Project at 
its own expense and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement therefor from the Fund, the 
Authority, the Department or the Board or any abatement, diminution or postponement of the 
Borrower’s payments under the Local Bond or this Agreement. 
 
 

ARTICLE V 
PLEDGE, REVENUES AND RATES 

 
 Section 5.1. Pledge of Revenues; Rate Covenant.  Subject to the Borrower’s right to 
apply Revenues to the payment of Operation and Maintenance Expense, the Revenues are hereby 
pledged to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, to secure the payment of the principal of and 
Cost of Funds, if any, on the Local Bonds and the payment and performance of the Borrower’s 
obligations under this Agreement.  This pledge shall be valid and binding from and after the 
execution and delivery of this Agreement.  The Revenues, as received by the Borrower, shall 
immediately be subject to the lien of this pledge without any physical delivery of them or further 
act.  The lien of this pledge of the Revenues is on a parity with the lien of the pledge of the 



Revenues securing the Existing Parity Bonds.  The lien of this pledge shall, subject to the right of 
the Borrower to apply Revenues to the payment of Operation and Maintenance Expense, have 
priority over all other obligations and liabilities of the Borrower, and the lien of this pledge shall be 
valid and binding against all parties having claims of any kind against the Borrower regardless of 
whether such parties have notice of this pledge. 
 
 (a) The Borrower covenants and agrees that it will fix and collect rates, fees and other 
charges for the use of and for services furnished or to be furnished by the System, and will from 
time to time revise such rates, fees and other charges so that in each Fiscal Year the Net Revenues 
Available for Debt Service will equal at least 100% of the amount required during the Fiscal Year to 
pay the principal of and Cost of Funds, if any, on the Local Bonds, the Additional Payments and all 
other indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from Revenues including without 
limitation, indebtedness under leases which are treated as capital leases under generally accepted 
accounting principles (the “Rate Covenant”).  If, for any reason, the Revenues are insufficient to 
satisfy the foregoing covenant, the Borrower shall within ninety (90) days adjust and increase its 
rates, fees and other charges or reduce its Operation and Maintenance Expense so as to provide 
sufficient Revenues to satisfy such requirement. 
 
 (b) On or before the last day of each Fiscal Year, the Borrower shall review the 
adequacy of its rates, fees and other charges for the next Fiscal Year, and, if such review indicates 
the Borrower’s rates, fees and other charges are insufficient to satisfy the Rate Covenant, the 
Borrower shall promptly take appropriate action to increase its rates, fees and other charges or 
reduce its Operations and Maintenance Expense to cure any deficiency. 
 
 Section 5.2. Annual Budget.  The Borrower agrees before the first day of each Fiscal 
Year to adopt a budget for such Fiscal Year containing all information called for by, and otherwise 
being in the form of, Exhibit J to this Agreement, for such Fiscal Year setting forth a schedule of the 
rates, fees and other charges to be imposed by the Borrower, the Revenues estimated to be 
generated thereby, the expenditures anticipated by the Borrower for operations, maintenance, 
repairs, replacements, improvements, debt service and other purposes, and specifically identifying 
any amounts made available by the County pursuant to the Support Agreement.  Such budget as 
approved by the Borrower’s governing body is referred to in this Agreement as the Annual Budget.  
The Borrower may at any time during any Fiscal Year amend the Annual Budget for such Fiscal 
Year so long as such amendment does not result in a Default.  The Borrower shall submit a copy of 
the Annual Budget and any amendments thereto to the Authority. 
 
 Section 5.3.  Qualified Independent Consultant’s Report.  (a)  If at the end of any 
Fiscal Year, the Borrower is not in compliance with the Rate Covenant, within two hundred ten 
(210) days after the end of such Fiscal Year, the Borrower shall obtain a report from the 
Qualified Independent Consultant giving advice and making recommendations as to the proper 
maintenance, repair, replacement and operation of the System for the next ensuing Fiscal Year 
and estimating the costs thereof as to the rates, fees, and other charges which should be 
established by the Borrower to satisfy the Rate Covenant.  The Borrower shall promptly furnish a 
copy of such report to the Authority and, subject to Section 5.3(b), take measures to implement 
the recommendations of the Qualified Independent Consultant within ninety (90) days of 
obtaining such report. 



 
 (b) If the Borrower determines that the Qualified Independent Consultant’s 
recommendations are impractical or inappropriate, the Borrower may in lieu thereof adopt other 
procedures which the Borrower believes will bring it into compliance with the Rate Covenant 
when such measures have been implemented and become fully effective.  Such alternative plan 
shall be filed with the Authority not later than thirty (30) days after receipt of the Qualified 
Independent Consultant’s report along with a detailed explanation of the Borrower’s reason for 
rejecting the Qualified Independent Consultant’s recommendations.  Notwithstanding anything 
herein to the contrary, the Authority reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to reject such 
alternate procedures and require the Borrower to comply with the Qualified Independent 
Consultant’s recommendations. 
 
 

ARTICLE VI 
PAYMENTS 

 
 Section 6.1. Payment of Local Bonds.  The Local Bonds shall be dated as of the Closing 
Date.  The Cost of Funds, if any, of each of the Local Bonds shall be computed on the disbursed 
principal balance thereof from the date of each disbursement at the rate set forth on Exhibit I 
with respect to each of the Local Bonds.  Principal and the Cost of Funds, if any, due under each 
of the Local Bonds shall be payable in equal installments as set forth on Exhibit I with respect to 
each of the Local Bonds.  All amounts due hereunder and under each of the Local Bonds shall be 
due and payable in full with the final installment of principal and Cost of Funds, if any, due as 
set forth on Exhibit I with respect to each of the Local Bonds.  Each installment shall be applied 
first to payment of the Cost of Funds, if any, accrued and unpaid to the payment date and then to 
principal.   If principal disbursements up to the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond 
are not made, the principal amount due on the Local Bond shall not include such undisbursed 
amount.  However, unless the Borrower and the Authority agree otherwise in writing, until all 
amounts due hereunder and under the Local Bond shall have been paid in full, less than full 
disbursement of the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond shall not postpone the due 
date of any semi-annual installment due on the Local Bond, or change the amount of such 
installment.  If any installment of principal of or the Cost of Funds, if any, on any of the Local 
Bonds is not paid within ten (10) days after its due date, the Borrower agrees to pay the 
Authority a late payment charge in an amount equal to five percent (5.0%) of the overdue 
installment on such Local Bonds. 
 
 Section 6.2. Payment of Additional Payments.  In addition to the payments of 
principal of and Cost of Funds, if any, on the Local Bonds, the Borrower agrees to pay on 
demand of the Authority the following Additional Payments: 
 
   (1) The costs of the Fund, the Authority, the Department or the Board 

in connection with the enforcement of this Agreement, including the reasonable 
fees and expenses of any attorneys used by any of them; and 

 



   (2) All expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, relating to any 
amendments, waivers, consents or collection or enforcement proceedings pursuant 
to the provisions hereof. 

 
 The Borrower agrees to pay interest on any Additional Payments enumerated in (1) or (2) 
above not received by the Authority within ten (10) days after demand therefor at a rate of five 
percent (5.0%) per annum of the overdue installment from its due date until the date it is paid. 
 
 

ARTICLE VII 
PREPAYMENTS 

 
 Section 7.1. Prepayment of Local Bonds.  At its option and after giving at least ten 
(10) days’ written notice to the Authority, the Borrower may prepay the Local Bonds at any time, 
in whole or in part and without penalty.  Such written notice shall specify the date on which the 
Borrower will make such prepayment and whether the Local Bonds will be prepaid in full or in 
part, and if in part, the principal amount to be prepaid.  Any such partial prepayment shall be 
applied against the principal amount outstanding under the Local Bonds but shall not postpone 
the due date of any subsequent payment on the Local Bonds, or change the amount of such 
installment, unless the Borrower and the Authority agree otherwise in writing. 
 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
OWNERSHIP, OPERATION AND USE OF SYSTEM 

 
 Section 8.1. Ownership and Operation of Project and System.  Except as may 
otherwise be approved by the Authority or permitted by the terms hereof, the Project and the 
System at all times shall be owned by the Borrower and shall not be operated or controlled by 
any other entity or person. 
 
 Section 8.2. Maintenance.  At its own cost and expense, the Borrower shall operate 
the System in a proper, sound and economical manner and in compliance with all legal 
requirements, shall maintain the System in good repair and operating condition and from time to 
time shall make all necessary repairs, renewals and replacements. 
 
 Section 8.3. Additions and Modifications.  At its own expense, the Borrower from 
time to time may make any additions, modifications or improvements to the System which it 
deems desirable and which do not materially reduce the value of the System or the structural or 
operational integrity of any part of the System, provided that all such additions, modifications or 
improvements comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, rules, regulations, orders, 
permits, authorizations and requirements.  All such renewals, replacements, additions, modifi-
cations and improvements shall become part of the System. 
 
 Section 8.4. Use of System.  The Borrower shall comply with all lawful requirements 
of any governmental authority regarding the System, whether now existing or subsequently 
enacted, whether foreseen or unforeseen or whether involving any change in governmental 



policy or requiring structural, operational and other changes to the System, irrespective of the 
cost of making the same. 
 
 Section 8.5. Inspection of System and Borrower’s Books and Records.  The 
Authority and the Board and their duly authorized representatives and agents shall have such 
reasonable rights of access to the System as may be necessary to determine whether the 
Borrower is in compliance with the requirements of this Agreement and shall have the right at all 
reasonable times and upon reasonable prior notice to the Borrower to examine and copy the 
books and records of the Borrower insofar as such books and records relate to the System. 
 
 Section 8.6. Ownership of Land.  The Borrower shall not construct, reconstruct or 
install any part of the System on lands other than those which the Borrower owns or can acquire 
title to or a perpetual easement over, in either case sufficient for the Borrower’s purposes, unless 
such part of the System is lawfully located in a public street or highway or is a main, conduit, 
pipeline, main connection or facility located on land in which the Borrower has acquired a right 
or interest less than a fee simple or perpetual easement and such lesser right or interest has been 
approved by written opinion of counsel to the Borrower as sufficient for the Borrower’s 
purposes. 
 
 Section 8.7. Sale or Encumbrance.  No part of the System shall be sold, exchanged, 
leased, mortgaged, encumbered or otherwise disposed of except as provided in any one of the 
following subsections, or as may be otherwise consented and agreed to by the Authority in 
writing: 
 
  (a) The Borrower may grant easements, licenses or permits across, over or 
under parts of the System for streets, roads and utilities as will not adversely affect the use of the 
System; 
 
  (b) The Borrower may sell or otherwise dispose of property constituting part 
of the System if it uses the proceeds of such disposition and any other necessary funds to replace 
such property with property serving the same or a similar function; and 
 
  (c) The Borrower may sell or otherwise dispose of property constituting part 
of the System; provided, however, (i) no such property shall be sold or otherwise disposed of 
unless there is filed with the Authority a certificate of the Borrower, signed by an Authorized 
Representative, stating that such property is no longer needed or useful in the operation of the 
System, and, if the proceeds of such sale or disposition, together with the aggregate value of any 
other property sold or otherwise disposed of during the Fiscal Year, shall exceed $125,000, there 
shall also be filed with the Borrower and the Authority a certificate of the Consulting Engineer 
stating that such property is not necessary or useful to the operation of the System, and (ii) the 
proceeds to be received from any sale or disposition shall be applied first to cure any default that 
may exist in the payment of the principal of and Cost of Funds, if any, on the Local Bonds, and 
then, if such property constitutes part of the Project, to the prepayment of the Local Bonds under 
Article VII hereof. 
 



 Section 8.8. Collection of Revenues.  The Borrower shall use its best efforts to collect 
all rates, fees and other charges due to it, including, when appropriate, by perfecting liens on 
premises served by the System for the amount of all delinquent rates, fees and other charges 
where such action is permitted by law.  The Borrower shall, to the full extent permitted by law, 
discontinue and shut off, or cause to be discontinued and shut off, services and facilities of the 
System, and use its best efforts to cause to be shut off water service furnished otherwise than 
through the System, to customers of the System who are delinquent beyond any customary grace 
periods in the payment of rates, fees and other charges due to the Borrower. 
 
 Section 8.9. No Free Service.  The Borrower shall not permit connections with or the 
use of the System, or furnish any services afforded by the System, without making a charge 
therefor based on the Borrower’s uniform schedule of rates, fees and charges. 
 
 Section 8.10. No Competing Service.  The Borrower shall not provide, grant any 
franchise to provide or give consent for anyone else to provide, any services which would 
compete with the System. 
 
 Section 8.11. Mandatory Connection.  The Borrower shall, consistent with applicable 
law, require the owner, tenant or occupant of each lot or parcel of land which is served or may 
reasonably be served by the System and upon which lot or parcel a building shall have been 
constructed for residential, commercial or industrial use, to connect such building to the System; 
provided, however, the Borrower may permit the continued use of private systems, meeting the 
standards of the Board, by any such building already in existence at the time the services of the 
System become available to it upon such conditions as may be specified by the Borrower. 
 
 Section 8.12. Lawful Charges.  The Borrower shall pay when due all taxes, fees, 
assessments, levies and other governmental charges of any kind whatsoever (collectively, the 
“Governmental Charges”) which are (i) assessed, levied or imposed against the System or the 
Borrower’s interest in it, or (ii) incurred in the operation, maintenance, use and occupancy of the 
System.  The Borrower shall pay or cause to be discharged, or shall make adequate provision to 
pay or discharge, all lawful claims and demands for labor, materials, supplies or other objects 
which, if unpaid, might by law become a lien upon all or any part of the System or the Revenues 
(collectively, the “Mechanics’ Charges”).  The Borrower, however, after giving the Authority ten 
(10) days’ notice of its intention to do so, at its own expense and in its own name, may contest in 
good faith any Governmental Charges or Mechanics’ Charges.  If such a contest occurs, the 
Borrower may permit the same to remain unpaid during the period of the contest and any 
subsequent appeal unless, in the reasonable opinion of the Authority, such action may impair the 
lien on Revenues granted by this Agreement, in which event, such Governmental Charges or 
Mechanics’ Charges promptly shall be satisfied or secured by posting with the Authority or an 
appropriate court a bond in form and amount reasonably satisfactory to the Authority.  Upon 
request, the Borrower shall furnish to the Authority proof of payment of all Governmental 
Charges and the Mechanics’ Charges required to be paid by the Borrower under this Agreement. 
 
 Section 8.13.  Operating Budget.  The Borrower agrees to include a reserve in the 
amount of $300,000 in the Annual Budget for each of the fiscal years ending June 30, 2021 
through June 30, 2022. 



 
 Section 8.14. Operating Reserve. (a)  There is hereby established the “Russell County 
PSA Operating Reserve Fund” (the “Operating Reserve Fund”) to be held by the Borrower in a 
separate and segregated account.  Until the principal of and Cost of Funds on the Local Bond and 
the Existing Parity Bonds and all amounts payable pursuant to this Agreement have been paid or 
provided for in full, the Borrower agrees to deposit in the Operating Reserve Fund the following 
amounts on the dates provided for below: 
 

  (i) On the Closing Date, the amount of $________ from the Borrower’s 
available funds (the “Initial Required Operating Reserve”). 

 
  (ii) On or before June 30, 2023, an amount that equals the Required Operating 

Reserve (as defined below), taking into account the deposit of the Initial Required Operating 
Reserve. 

 
  (iii) To the extent there is any deficiency in the Operating Reserve Fund due to 

an increase in the prior Fiscal Year’s Operation and Maintenance Expense, in the next Fiscal 
Year an amount equal to such deficiency, such that by the end of the next Fiscal Year the 
Operating Reserve Fund shall hold the Required Operating Reserve. 

 
  (iv) To the extent funds are drawn from the Operating Reserve Fund for the 

payment of Authorized Expenses (as defined below), commencing in the next Fiscal Year and 
continuing in each Fiscal Year thereafter until the deficiency is eliminated, an amount equal to 
one-third of the amount of such deficiency, such that by the end of the third Fiscal Year 
following the payment of the Authorized Expenses the Operating Reserve Fund shall hold the 
Required Operating Reserve. 
  
 “Required Operating Reserve” means an amount that equals $450,000. 

   
(b) Except as set forth in subsection (d) below, amounts in the Operating Reserve 

Fund may only be disbursed, upon written notice to the Authority for amounts up to $50,000 and 
upon the written consent of the Authority for the remainder of the Required Operating Reserve, 
to pay extraordinary maintenance or repair expenses related to the operation of the System to the 
extent available funds, including cash or other reserves, of the Borrower are insufficient to pay 
such expenses (the “Authorized Expenses”). 

 
 (c) Failure to deposit the Required Operating Reserve under subsections (a)(i) and (ii) 
above or failure to replenish any deficiency in the Operating Reserve Fund under subsections 
(a)(iii) and (iv) above in the time specified shall constitute an Event of Default under Section 
11.1.  The Authority shall have no obligation to disburse any Local Bond Proceeds if the 
Borrower has not satisfied the provisions contained in this Section. 
 

(d) Any amounts in the Operating Reserve Fund, including investment earnings 
thereon, in excess of the Required Operating Reserve shall be transferred to the Borrower as of 
the end of each Fiscal Year; provided, that if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, 
such amounts shall be maintained in the Operating Reserve Fund.  Unless the Authority agrees 



otherwise, the Borrower shall deposit or invest, as appropriate, monies in the Operating Reserve 
Fund, as the Borrower may direct in writing, in accounts covered and secured under the Virginia 
Security for Public Deposits Act (Chapter 44, Title 2.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended), 
or in a “Permitted Investments” (as defined below), with a term of not more than five years.  
“Permitted Investments” are (a) bonds, notes and other direct obligations of the United States of 
America, (b) securities unconditionally guaranteed as to the timely payment of principal, if 
applicable, and interest by the United States of America, (c) bonds, notes and other obligations of 
any agency of the United States of America unconditionally guaranteed as to the timely payment 
of principal and interest by the United States of America, or (d) obligations of Federal Home 
Loan Banks and obligations of Federal Farm Credit Banks. 
 

(e) The Borrower’s obligations to make deposits under subsection (a) above and to 
make payments as scheduled under the Local Bond shall not be discharged in whole or in part by 
any transfer made by the Borrower from the Operating Reserve Fund. 

 
(f) The Authority and the Borrower acknowledge that the Operating Reserve Fund is 

being established and maintained for the benefit of the System.   
 

ARTICLE IX 
INSURANCE, DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION 

 
 Section 9.1. Insurance.  Unless the Authority otherwise agrees in writing, the 
Borrower continuously shall maintain or cause to be maintained insurance against such risks as 
are customarily insured against by public bodies operating systems similar in size and character 
to the System, including, without limitation: 
 
  (a) Insurance in the amount of the full replacement cost of the System’s 
insurable portions against loss or damage by fire and lightning, with broad form extended 
coverage endorsements covering damage by windstorm, explosion, aircraft, smoke, sprinkler 
leakage, vandalism, malicious mischief and such other risks as are normally covered by such 
endorsements (limited only as may be provided in the standard form of such endorsements at the 
time in use in Virginia); provided that during the construction of the Project, the Borrower may 
provide or cause to be provided, in lieu of the insurance in the amount of the full replacement 
cost of the Project, builders’ risk or similar types of insurance in the amount of the full 
replacement cost thereof.  The determination of replacement cost shall be made by a recognized 
appraiser or insurer selected by the Borrower and reasonably acceptable to the Authority. 
 
  (b) Comprehensive general liability insurance with a combined single limit of 
$2,000,000 per year against liability for bodily injury, including death resulting therefrom, and 
for damage to property, including loss of use thereof, arising out of the ownership, maintenance, 
operation or use of the System. 
 
  (c) Unless the Borrower qualifies as a self-insurer under the laws of Virginia, 
workers’ compensation insurance. 
 



 The Authority shall not have any responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) the 
procurement or maintenance of insurance or the amounts or the provisions with respect to 
policies of insurance, or (ii) the application of the proceeds of insurance. 
 
 The Borrower shall provide no less often than annually and upon the written request of 
the Authority a certificate or certificates of the respective insurers evidencing the fact that the 
insurance required by this Section is in full force and effect. 
 
 Section 9.2. Requirements of Policies.  All insurance required by Section 9.1 shall be 
maintained with generally recognized, responsible insurance companies selected by the 
Borrower and reasonably acceptable to the Authority.  Such insurance may be written with 
deductible amounts comparable to those on similar policies carried by other utility systems of 
like size and character to the System and shall contain an undertaking by the insurer that such 
policy shall not be modified adversely to the interests of, or canceled without at least thirty (30) 
days' prior notice to, the Authority.  If any such insurance is not maintained with an insurer 
licensed to do business in Virginia or placed pursuant to the requirements of the Virginia Surplus 
Lines Insurance Law (Chapter 48, Title 38.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended) or any 
successor provision of law, the Borrower shall provide evidence reasonably satisfactory to the 
Authority that such insurance is enforceable under Virginia law. 
 
 Section 9.3. Notice of Damage, Destruction and Condemnation.  In the case of 
(i) any damage to or destruction of any material part of the System, (ii) a taking of all or any part 
of the System or any right therein under the exercise of the power of eminent domain, (iii) any 
loss of the System because of failure of title, or (iv) the commencement of any proceedings or 
negotiations which might result in such a taking or loss, the Borrower shall give prompt notice 
thereof to the Authority describing generally the nature and extent of such damage, destruction, 
taking, loss, proceedings or negotiations. 
 
 Section 9.4. Damage and Destruction.  If all or any part of the System is destroyed or 
damaged by fire or other casualty, and the Borrower shall not have exercised its option to prepay 
in full the Local Bonds pursuant to Article VII, the Borrower shall restore promptly the property 
damaged or destroyed to substantially the same condition as before such damage or destruction, 
with such alterations and additions as the Borrower may determine and which will not impair the 
capacity or character of the System for the purpose for which it then is being used or is intended 
to be used.  The Borrower may apply so much as may be necessary of the Net Proceeds of 
insurance received on account of any such damage or destruction to payment of the cost of such 
restoration, either on completion or as the work progresses.  If such Net Proceeds are not 
sufficient to pay in full the cost of such restoration, the Borrower shall pay so much of the cost as 
may be in excess of such Net Proceeds.  If the Net Proceeds are derived from property 
constituting part of the Project, any balance of such Net Proceeds remaining after payment of the 
cost of such restoration shall promptly be applied to prepayment of the Local Bonds pursuant to 
Article VII. 
 
 Section 9.5. Condemnation and Loss of Title.  If title to or the temporary use of all or 
any part of the System shall be taken under the exercise of the power of eminent domain or lost 
because of failure of title, and the Borrower shall not have exercised its option to prepay in full 



the Local Bonds pursuant to Article VII, the Borrower shall cause the Net Proceeds from any 
such condemnation award or from title insurance to be applied to the restoration of the System to 
substantially its condition before the exercise of such power of eminent domain or failure of title.  
If such Net Proceeds are not sufficient to pay in full the cost of such restoration, the Borrower 
shall pay so much of the cost as may be in excess of such Net Proceeds.  If the Net Proceeds are 
derived from property constituting part of the Project, any balance of such Net Proceeds 
remaining after payment of the cost of such restoration shall promptly be applied to prepayment 
of the Local Bonds pursuant to Article VII. 
  

ARTICLE X 
SPECIAL COVENANTS 

 
 Section 10.1. Maintenance of Existence.  The Borrower shall maintain its existence as 
a “local government” (as defined in the Act) of the Commonwealth of Virginia and, without 
consent of the Authority and the Board, shall not dissolve or otherwise dispose of all or 
substantially all of its assets or consolidate or merge with or into another entity.  Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, the Borrower may consolidate or merge with or into, or sell or otherwise transfer 
all or substantially all of its assets to a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, 
and the Borrower thereafter may dissolve, if the surviving, resulting or transferee political 
subdivision, if other than the Borrower, assumes, in written form acceptable to the Authority and 
the Board, all of the obligations of the Borrower contained in the Local Bonds and this 
Agreement, and there is furnished to the Authority and the Board an Opinion of Counsel 
acceptable to the Authority and the Board subject to customary exceptions and qualifications, to 
the effect that such assumption constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the 
surviving, resulting or transferee political subdivision enforceable against it in accordance with 
its terms. 
 
 Section 10.2. Financial Records and Statements.  The Borrower shall maintain proper 
books of record and account in which proper entries shall be made in accordance with generally 
accepted government accounting standards, consistently applied, of all its business and affairs 
related to the System.  The Borrower shall have an annual audit of the financial condition of the 
Borrower (and at the reasonable request of the Authority, of the System) made by an independent 
certified public accountant, within one hundred and eighty (180) days after the end of each Fiscal 
Year.  The annual audit shall include a supplemental schedule demonstrating whether the Borrower 
during such Fiscal Year satisfied the Rate Covenant.  The Borrower shall furnish to the Authority 
copies of such report immediately after it is accepted by the Borrower.  Such report shall include 
statements in reasonable detail, certified by such accountant, reflecting the Borrower’s financial 
position as of the end of such Fiscal Year and the results of the Borrower’s operations and 
changes in the financial position of its funds for the Fiscal Year.   
 
 Section 10.3. Certificate as to No Default.  The Borrower shall deliver to the 
Authority, within one hundred and eighty (180) days after the close of each Fiscal Year, a 
certificate signed by an Authorized Representative stating that, during such year and as of the 
date of such certificate, no event or condition has happened or existed, or is happening or 
existing, which constitutes an Event of Default or a Default, or if such an event or condition has 



happened or existed, or is happening or existing, specifying the nature and period of such event 
or condition and what action the Borrower has taken, is taking or proposes to take to rectify it. 
 
 Section 10.4. Additional Indebtedness.  The Borrower shall not incur any indebtedness 
or issue any bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness secured by or payable from a pledge 
of Revenues, except Subordinate Bonds or Parity Bonds. 
 
 Section 10.5. Parity Bonds.  Provided the Borrower is not in default hereunder, the 
Borrower may issue bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness (“Parity Bonds”) ranking on 
parity with the Local Bonds with respect to the pledge of Revenues to (i) pay Project Costs to 
complete the Project, (ii) pay the cost of improvements, additions, extensions, replacements, 
equipment or betterments and of any property, rights or easements deemed by the Borrower to be 
necessary, useful or convenient for the System, (iii) refund some or all of the Local Bonds, Parity 
Bonds or Existing Parity Bonds, or (iv) effect some combination of (i), (ii) and (iii); provided in 
each case the following conditions are satisfied.  Except to the extent otherwise consented and 
agreed to by the Authority in writing, before any Parity Bonds are issued or delivered, the 
Borrower shall deliver to the Authority the following: 
 
  (a) Certified copies of all resolutions and ordinances of the Borrower 
authorizing the issuance of the Parity Bonds. 
 
  (b) A certificate of an appropriate official of the Borrower setting forth the 
purposes for which the Parity Bonds are to be issued and the manner in which the Borrower will 
apply the proceeds from the issuance and sale of the Parity Bonds. 
 
  (c) If the Parity Bonds are authorized for any purpose other than the refunding 
of the Local Bonds, Parity Bonds or Existing Parity Bonds, in form and substance satisfactory to the 
Authority, a certificate of the Consulting Engineer , or with respect to subsection (iv)(C) below, a 
certificate, including supporting documentation, of the Qualified Independent Consultant, to the 
effect that in the opinion of the Consulting Engineer or Qualified Independent Consultant, as 
applicable, (i) the improvements or property to which the proceeds from the issuance of the 
Parity Bonds are to be applied will be a part of the System, (ii) the funds available to the 
Borrower from the issuance of the Parity Bonds and other specified sources will be sufficient to 
pay the estimated cost of such improvements or property, (iii) the period of time which will be 
required to complete such improvements or acquire such property, and (iv) (A) the Parity Bond 
proceeds are necessary to complete the Project, (B) the failure to make such improvements or 
acquire or construct such property will result in an interruption or reduction of Revenues, or 
(C) during the first two complete Fiscal Years following completion of the improvements or the 
acquisition of the property financed with the proceeds of the Parity Bonds, the projected Net 
Revenues Available for Debt Service (excluding any amounts made available by the County 
pursuant to the Support Agreement) will equal at least 100% of the amount required during each 
such Fiscal Year to pay any and all amounts due under the Local Bonds, this Agreement, the 
Parity Bonds or Existing Parity Bonds, and all other indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or 
payable from Revenues, including without limitation, indebtedness under leases which are 
treated as capital leases under generally accepted accounting principles.  In providing this 
certificate, as applicable, the Qualified Independent Consultant may take into consideration future 



System rate increases, provided that such rate increases have been duly approved by the governing 
body of the Borrower and any other person and entity required to give approval for the rate increase 
to become effective.  In addition, the Qualified Independent Consultant may take into consideration 
additional future revenues of the System to be derived under then existing contractual agreements 
entered into by the Borrower and from reasonable estimates of growth in the customer base of the 
Borrower. 
 
  (d) If the Parity Bonds are authorized solely to refund the Local Bonds (with the 
consent of the Authority), Existing Parity Bonds or Parity Bonds, either (i) a certificate, including 
supporting documentation, of a Qualified Independent Consultant satisfactory to the Authority that 
the refunding Parity Bonds will have annual debt service requirements in each of the years the Local 
Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Parity Bonds to be refunded would have been outstanding which 
are lower than the annual debt service requirements in each such year on the Local Bonds, Existing 
Parity Bonds or Parity Bonds to be refunded, or (ii) a certificate, including supporting 
documentation, of the Qualified Independent Consultant to the effect that during the first two 
complete Fiscal Years following the issuance of the refunding Parity Bonds, the projected Net 
Revenues Available for Debt Service (excluding any amounts made available by the County 
pursuant to the Support Agreement) will equal at least 100% of the amount required during each 
such Fiscal Year to pay any and all amounts due under the Local Bonds, this Agreement, the 
Parity Bonds or Existing Parity Bonds, and all other indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or 
payable from Revenues, including without limitation, indebtedness under leases which are 
treated as capital leases under generally accepted accounting principles.  In providing the 
certificate described in clause (ii), the Qualified Independent Consultant may take into account 
the factors described in the last two sentences of subsection (c) of this Section. 
 
  (e) An Opinion of Counsel satisfactory to the Authority subject to customary 
exceptions and qualifications, approving the form of the resolution authorizing the issuance of 
the Parity Bonds and stating that its terms and provisions conform with the requirements of this 
Agreement and that the certificates and documents delivered to the Authority constitute 
compliance with the provisions of this Section. 
 
 Section 10.6. Further Assurances.  The Borrower shall to the fullest extent permitted 
by law pass, make, do, execute, acknowledge and deliver such further resolutions, acts, deeds, 
conveyances, assignments, transfers and assurances as may be necessary or desirable for the 
better assuring, conveying, granting, assigning and confirming the rights, Revenues and other 
funds pledged or assigned by this Agreement, or as may be required to carry out the purposes of 
this Agreement.  The Borrower shall at all times, to the fullest extent permitted by law, defend, 
preserve and protect the pledge of the Revenues and other funds pledged under this Agreement 
and all rights of the Authority and the Board under this Agreement against all claims and 
demands of all persons. 
 
 Section 10.7. Other Indebtedness.  The Borrower agrees to pay when due all amounts 
required by any other bonded indebtedness and to perform all of its obligations in connection 
therewith. 
 



 Section 10.8. Assignment by Borrower.  The Borrower may not assign its rights under 
this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Authority and the Board.  If the 
Borrower desires to assign its rights under this Agreement to another “local government” (as 
defined in the Act), the Borrower shall give notice of such fact to the Authority and the Board.  If 
the Authority and the Board consent to the proposed assignment, the Borrower may proceed with 
the proposed assignment, but such assignment shall not become effective until the Authority and 
the Board are furnished (i) an assumption agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the 
Authority and the Board by which the assignee agrees to assume all of the Borrower’s 
obligations under the Local Bonds and this Agreement, and (ii) an Opinion of Counsel to the 
assignee, subject to customary exceptions and qualifications, that the assumption agreement, the 
Local Bonds and this Agreement constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the assignee 
enforceable against the assignee in accordance with their terms and that the assignment and 
assumption comply in all respects with the provisions of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the assignment of the rights of the Borrower under the Local Bonds and this 
Agreement or the assumption of the obligations thereunder by the assignee shall in no way be 
construed as releasing the Borrower’s obligations. 
 
 Section 10.9. Davis-Bacon Act.  The Borrower agrees to comply with the Davis-Bacon 
Act and related acts, as amended, with respect to the Project and require that all laborers and 
mechanics employed by contractors and subcontractors for the Project shall be paid wages at 
rates not less than those prevailing on projects of a similar character, as determined by the United 
States Secretary of Labor in accordance with Section 1450(e) of the Safe Drinking Water Act 
and related acts, as amended. 
 

Section 10.10. American Iron and Steel.  The Borrower agrees to comply with all 
federal requirements, including those imposed by the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014, 
P.L. 113-76, and related Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Policy Guidelines, as amended 
and supplemented and in effect from time to time, with respect to the Project.  Such requirements 
include, among other things, that all iron and steel products used for the Project are to be 
produced in the United States.  The term “iron and steel products” is defined to mean the 
following products made primarily of iron or steel: lined or unlined pipes and fittings, manhole 
covers and  other municipal castings, hydrants, tanks, flanges, pipe clamps and restraints, valves, 
structural steel, reinforced precast concrete and construction materials. 

 
Section 10.11. Recordkeeping and Reporting.  The Borrower agrees to comply with all 

recordkeeping and reporting requirements under the Safe Drinking Water Act and related acts, as 
amended, including any reports required by a federal agency or the Authority, such as 
performance indicators of program deliverables, information on costs and progress with respect 
to the Project.  The Borrower acknowledges that each contract and subcontract related to the 
Project is subject to audit by appropriate federal and state entities. 



 
Section 10.12. Service Contracts.  The Borrower shall give prompt notice to the 

Authority of any renewal, extension, amendment, default or termination of any of the Service 
Contracts.  The Borrower shall enforce the terms of such agreements and use its best efforts to 
ensure that such agreements remain in full force and effect during the term of this Agreement. 

 
 
[Add language regarding control over PSA and County leachate] 
 
 

ARTICLE XI 
DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

 
 Section 11.1. Events of Default.  Each of the following events shall be an “Event of 
Default”: 
 
  (a) The failure to pay when due any payment of principal or Cost of Funds, if 
any, due hereunder or to make any other payment required to be made under the Local Bonds or 
this Agreement, including payments required to fund the Operating Reserve Fund to the amount 
of the Required Operating Reserve or restore the balance in the Operating Reserve Fund to the 
Required Operating Reserve upon any shortfall therein; 
 
  (b) The Borrower’s failure to perform or observe any of the other covenants, 
agreements or conditions of the Local Bonds, the Support Agreement or this Agreement and the 
continuation of such failure for a period of thirty (30) days after the Authority gives the 
Borrower written notice specifying such failure and requesting that it be cured, unless the 
Authority shall agree in writing to an extension of such time prior to its expiration; provided, 
however, if the failure stated in the notice is correctable but cannot be corrected within the 
applicable period, the Authority will not unreasonably withhold its consent to an extension of 
such time if corrective action is instituted by the Borrower within the applicable period and 
diligently pursued until the Default is corrected; 
 
  (c) Any warranty, representation or other statement by or on behalf of 
Borrower contained in this Agreement or in any instrument furnished in compliance with or in 
reference to this Agreement or in connection with the issuance and sale of the Local Bonds is 
false or misleading in any material respect; 
 
  (d) The early termination of the Funding Agreement pursuant to Sections 
5.3(b) and (c) thereof; 
 
  (e) The occurrence of a default by the Borrower under the terms of any 
Subordinate Bonds, Parity Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds and the failure to cure 
such default or obtain a waiver thereof within any period of time permitted thereunder; 
 
  (f) An order or decree shall be entered, with the Borrower’s consent or 
acquiescence, appointing a receiver or receivers of the System or any part thereof or of the 



Revenues thereof, or if such order or decree, having been entered without the Borrower’s consent 
or acquiescence, shall not be vacated, discharged or stayed on appeal within sixty (60) days after 
the entry thereof; 
 
  (g) Any proceeding shall be instituted, with the Borrower’s consent or 
acquiescence, for the purpose of effecting a composition between the Borrower and its creditors 
or for the purpose of adjusting the claims of such creditors, pursuant to any federal or state 
statute now or hereafter enacted, if the claims of such creditors are under any circumstances 
secured by or payable from Revenues; or 
 
  (h) Any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar proceeding shall be instituted 
by or against the Borrower under any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency law now or 
hereinafter in effect and, if instituted against the Borrower, is not dismissed within sixty (60) 
days after filing. 
 
 Section 11.2. Notice of Default.  The Borrower agrees to give the Authority prompt 
written notice if any order, decree or proceeding referred to in Section 11.1(f), (g) or (h) is 
entered or instituted against the Borrower or of the occurrence of any other event or condition 
which constitutes a Default or an Event of Default immediately upon becoming aware of the 
existence thereof. 
 
 Section 11.3. Remedies on Default.  Whenever any Event of Default referred to in 
Section 11.1 shall have happened and be continuing, the Authority shall, in addition to any other 
remedies provided herein or by law, including rights specified in Section 62.1-237 of the Act, 
have the right, at its option without any further demand or notice, to take one or both of the 
following remedial steps: 
 
  (a) Declare immediately due and payable all payments due or to become due 
on the Local Bonds and under this Agreement, and upon notice to the Borrower, the same shall 
become immediately due and payable by the Borrower without further notice or demand; and 
 
  (b) Take whatever other action at law or in equity may appear necessary or 
desirable to collect the payments then due and thereafter to become due on the Local Bonds and 
under this Agreement, to enforce any other of the Fund’s, the Authority’s or the Board’s rights 
under this Agreement, or to enforce performance by the Borrower of its covenants, agreements 
or undertakings contained herein or in the Local Bonds, which the Borrower hereby agrees are 
assigned to the Authority upon the occurrence of an Event of Default. 
 
 Section 11.4. Delay and Waiver.  No delay or omission to exercise any right or power 
accruing upon any Default or Event of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be 
construed to be a waiver of any such Default or Event of Default or acquiescence therein, and 
every such right or power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed 
expedient.  No waiver of any Default or Event of Default under this Agreement shall extend to or 
shall affect any subsequent Default or Event of Default or shall impair any rights or remedies 
consequent thereto. 
 



Section 11.5. State Aid Intercept.  The Borrower acknowledges that the Authority may 
take any and all actions available to it under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, 
including Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code, to secure payment of the principal of and 
Cost of Funds, if any, on the Local Bonds, if payment of such principal or Cost of Funds, if any, 
shall not be paid when the same shall become due and payable. 

 
 

ARTICLE XII 
MISCELLANEOUS 

 
 Section 12.1. Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to 
the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties and their respective successors and assigns. 
 
 Section 12.2. Amendments.  The Authority and the Borrower, with the written consent 
of the Department, shall have the right to amend from time to time any of the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, provided that all amendments shall be in writing and shall be 
signed by or on behalf of the Authority and the Borrower; provided, however, that the written 
consent of the Department shall not be required for the Authority and the Borrower to amend 
Articles I, V, IX and XI or Sections 8.13, 8.14, 10.4 and 10.5 of this Agreement. 
 
 Section 12.3. Limitation of Borrower’s Liability.  Notwithstanding anything in the 
Local Bonds or this Agreement to the contrary, the Borrower’s obligations are not its general 
obligations, but are limited obligations payable solely from the Revenues which are specifically 
pledged for such purpose.  Neither the Local Bonds nor this Agreement shall be deemed to create 
or constitute a debt or a pledge of the faith and credit of the Borrower and the Borrower shall not 
be obligated to pay the principal of or Cost of Funds, if any, on the Local Bonds or other costs 
incident thereto except from the Revenues and other funds pledged therefor.  In the absence of 
fraud, no present or future director, official, officer, employee or agent of the Borrower shall be 
liable personally in respect of this Agreement or the Local Bonds or for any other action taken by 
such individual pursuant to or in connection with the financing provided for in this Agreement or 
the Local Bonds. 
 
 Section 12.4. Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the applicable 
laws of Virginia. 
 
 Section 12.5. Severability.  If any clause, provision or section of this Agreement shall 
be held illegal or invalid by any court, the illegality or invalidity of such clause, provision or 
Section shall not affect the remainder of this Agreement which shall be construed and enforced 
as if such illegal or invalid clause, provision or section had not been contained in this Agreement.  
If any agreement or obligation contained in this Agreement is held to be in violation of law, then 
such agreement or obligation shall be deemed to be the agreement or obligation of the Authority 
and the Borrower, as the case may be, only to the extent permitted by law. 
 
 Section 12.6. Notices.  Unless otherwise provided for herein, all demands, notices, 
approvals, consents, requests, opinions and other communications under the Local Bonds or this 



Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given when delivered in person 
or mailed by first class registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 
 
 Fund:   Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund 

c/o Virginia Resources Authority 
1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920 
Richmond, VA  23219 
Attention:  Executive Director 

 
 Authority:  Virginia Resources Authority 

1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920 
Richmond, VA  23219 
Attention:  Executive Director 

 
 Board:   Virginia Department of Health 

109 Governor Street 
Richmond, VA  23219 
Attention:  State Health Commissioner 

 
Borrower:  The Russell County Public Service Authority 

137 Highland Drive 
Lebanon, Virginia  24266 
Attention:  Chairman 

 
 
A duplicate copy of each demand, notice, approval, consent, request, opinion or other 
communication given by any party named in this Section shall also be given to each of the other 
parties named.  The Authority, the Board and the Borrower may designate, by notice given 
hereunder, any further or different addresses to which subsequent demands, notices, approvals, 
consents, requests, opinions or other communications shall be sent or persons to whose attention 
the same shall be directed. 
 
 Section 12.7. Right to Cure Default.  If the Borrower shall fail to make any payment or 
to perform any act required by it under the Local Bonds or this Agreement, the Authority without 
prior notice to or demand upon the Borrower and without waiving or releasing any obligation or 
default, may (but shall be under no obligation to) make such payment or perform such act.  All 
amounts so paid by the Authority and all costs, fees and expenses so incurred shall be payable by 
the Borrower as an additional obligation under this Agreement, together with interest thereon at 
the rate of interest of five percent (5.0%) per annum until paid.  The Borrower’s obligation under 
this Section shall survive the payment of the Local Bonds. 
 
 Section 12.8. Headings.  The headings of the several articles and sections of this 
Agreement are inserted for convenience only and do not comprise a part of this Agreement. 
 
 Section 12.9. Term of Agreement.  This Agreement shall be effective upon its 
execution and delivery, provided that the Local Bonds previously or simultaneously shall have 



been executed and delivered.  Except as otherwise specified, the Borrower’s obligations under 
the Local Bonds and this Agreement shall expire upon payment in full of the Local Bonds and all 
other amounts payable by the Borrower under this Agreement. 
 
 Section 12.10. Termination of Original Financing Agreements.  The Original 
Financing Agreements heretofore executed between the parties thereto are cancelled and 
terminated as of the Closing Date, provided that such cancellation and termination shall not be 
construed as a waiver, relinquishment or release of any claims, damages, liability, rights of 
action or causes of action that the parties thereto may have against the other thereunder and that 
have accrued before the effective date of this Agreement. 
 
 Section 12.11. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one 
and the same instrument. 
 
 

[Signature Page Follows] 



 
 WITNESS the following signatures, all duly authorized. 
 
 

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, as 
Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving 
Fund 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 

 
 
 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE 
AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 

 
 
 



 
EXHIBIT A 

 
FORM OF LOCAL BONDS 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
 

 
 

[To Be Provided] 
 



 
EXHIBIT B 

 
PROJECT DESCRIPTIONS 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
 

 
 

[To Be Provided] 
 



EXHIBIT C 
 

PROJECT BUDGETS 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

 
 
 

[To Be Provided] 



EXHIBIT D 
 

OPINION OF BORROWER’S BOND COUNSEL 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

 
 
 

[To Come from Borrower’s Bond Counsel] 
 



EXHIBIT E 
 

FORM OF REQUISITION 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

 
 

[LETTERHEAD OF BORROWER] 
 

[Date] 
 
__________, Director 
Office of Drinking Water, 6th Floor 
Virginia Department of Health 
109 Governor Street 
Richmond, VA 23219 
 
Re: Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund 
 The Russell County Public Service Authority 
 Loan No. WSL-028-14E; WSL-022-15E 
 
Dear Mr./Ms. __________: 
 
 This requisition, Number ___, is submitted in connection with the Master Financing 
Agreement and Amended and Restated Funding Agreement, each dated as of __________ 1, 2020 
(together, the “Agreements”) between the Virginia Resources Authority, as Administrator of the 
Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund (the “Fund”), and The Russell County Public Service 
Authority (the “Borrower”).  Unless otherwise defined in this requisition, all capitalized terms used 
herein shall have the meaning set forth in Article I of the Agreements.  The undersigned Authorized 
Representative of the Borrower hereby requests disbursement of loan proceeds under the 
Agreements in the amount of $___________, for the purposes of payment of the Project Costs as set 
forth on Schedule 1 attached hereto. 
 
 Attached hereto are invoices relating to the items for which payment is requested. 
 
 The undersigned certifies that (a) the amounts requested by this requisition will be applied 
solely and exclusively to the payment, or the reimbursement of the Borrower for the payment, of 
Project Costs, and (b) any materials, supplies or equipment covered by this requisition are not 
subject to any lien or security interest or such lien or security interest will be released upon payment 
of the requisition.  In addition, the undersigned certifies that the Borrower has conducted adequate 
oversight for compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act and related acts through (a) the review of 
payrolls and associated certifications, and (b) the posting of all wage determinations and additional 
classifications (as appropriate) on the work site, and through this oversight, the Borrower has 
determined to the best of its ability that the Project complies with the requirements of the Davis-
Bacon Act and related acts.  The Borrower further certifies that all products included in this request 
satisfy the appropriate provisions of the American Iron and Steel requirements included in the 
Agreements. 
 

The undersigned further certifies that (a) no Event of Default or Default has occurred and is 



continuing, and no condition exists which, with the passing of time or with the giving of notice or 
both, would constitute an Event of Default hereunder, and (b) the representations and warranties of 
the Borrower contained in the Agreements are true, correct and complete and the Borrower has 
performed all of its obligations thereunder required to be performed as of the date hereof. 
 

This requisition includes an accompanying Certificate of the Consulting Engineer as to the 
performance of the work. 
 

Sincerely, 
 
___________________________________________ 
(Authorized Representative of the Borrower) 

 
Attachments 
cc: VDH Project Engineer (with all attachments) 



 
 

CERTIFICATE OF THE CONSULTING ENGINEER 
 

FORM TO ACCOMPANY REQUEST FOR DISBURSEMENT 
 

 
Loan No. WSL-028-14E; WSL-022-15E 
 
 
 This Certificate is submitted in connection with Requisition Number ____, dated 
_________, 20__, submitted by The Russell County Public Service Authority.  Capitalization 
terms used herein shall have the same meanings set forth in Article I of the Agreements referred 
to in the Requisition. 

 
 The undersigned Consulting Engineer for the Borrower hereby certifies that insofar as the 
amounts covered by this Requisition include payments for labor or to contractors, builders or 
materialmen, such work was actually performed or such materials, supplies or equipment were 
actually furnished to or installed in the Project. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
             SEAL                      
  

 
   
 
      ______________________________ 
        [Consulting Engineer] 
 
 Date: ________________________



SCHEDULE 1 
VIRGINIA WATER SUPPLY REVOLVING FUND 

FORM TO ACCOMPANY REQUEST FOR DISBURSEMENT 
 
REQUISITION # ______ 
BORROWER: The Russell County Public Service Authority 
LOAN NUMBER: WSL-028-14E; WSL-022-15E 
 
CERTIFYING SIGNATURE: ________________________________ 
TITLE: ___________________________________ 
 

Cost Category Amount 
Budgeted 

Previous 
Disbursements 

Expenditures This 
Period 

Total Expenditures 
to Date 

Net Balance 
Remaining 

      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      

 
Total Funding Amount $ ____________________ 

Previous Disbursements $ ____________________ 
This Request $ ____________________ 

             Loan Proceeds Remaining $ ____________________



EXHIBIT F 
 

ORIGINAL BONDS 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

 
 
 

“Original Bonds” means, collectively, (a) the following bonds issued by the Borrower 
(the “Russell PSA Bonds”): 

(1) $99,775 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2006 (Green Valley Project); 

(2) $1,534,941 The Russell County Public Service Authority Revenue Bond, Series 
2008A (Big A Mountain Phase II Project); 

(3) $325,227 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2010-A (Back Valley—Big A Mountain Interconnection Project); 

(4) $1,059,765 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2011-A (Green Valley West Water Line Extension Project); 

(5) $103,783 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2011-B  (Long Branch/Strouth Creek/Fuller Mt. Water Line Extension Project); 

(6) $700,843 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2012-A (New Garden/Finney Water Line Extension Project); 

(7) $3,537,000 Water Revenue Refunding Bond, Series 2014; 

(8) $93,071 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2015 (Mountain Meadows Line Extension 
Project); 

(9) $294,202 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2016 (iPerl Radio Read Meter 
Replacement Project); 

(10) $445,925 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2016 (Route 656 East Water Line 
Extension Project); 

(11) $197,027 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2017 (Thompson Creek/Tunnel Road 
Waterline Extension Project); and 

(12) $512,023 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2017 (Fincastle Estates Waterline 
Extension Project); 

and (b) the following bonds issued by the County that have been assumed by the 
Borrower (the “County Bonds”): 



 

(13) $672,000 Russell County Series 1988 Water Revenue Bond (RD Sword’s Creek 
Project); 

(14) $900,000 Russell County Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 1996 (RD Dante Project); 

(15) $119,530 Russell County, Virginia, Water Revenue Bond, Series 1999 (RD Lynn 
Springs Project); 

(16) $935,690 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2001A (Big A Mountain 
Project); 

(17) $1,678,400 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2001B (Belfast Project); 

(18) $344,477 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2001C (Pine Creek Project); 

(19) $822,366 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2002A (Swords Creek Public 
Service Authority) (Clark’s Valley Project); 

(20) $556,538 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2005A (Drill Mountain Project); 

(21) $91,439 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2005B (Clark’s Valley—South 
Extension Water Project); 

(22) $1,906,717 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2005E  (Belfast –Rosedale 
Project); 

(23) $415,518 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2006A (Miller Creek/Frank’s 
Hollow/Honeysuckle Lane Project); and 

(24) $197,170 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2007A (Belfast—Highlands and 
Yates Project); 

and (c) the following bonds issued by Castlewood WSA that have been assumed by the 
Borrower (the “Castlewood WSA Bonds”): 

(25) $350,000 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2000 (Castlewood Water Project); 

(26) $640,000 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2001 (Red Oak Ridge Water 
Project); 

(27) $653,250 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2002 (Mew Road Water 
Project); 

 

(28) $661,019 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2004 (Carbo/Back Valley 
Water Project); 



(29) $937,300 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2005 (Dante Rehabilitation Water 
Project); 

(30) $299,409 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2006 (Seven Springs Water 
Project);  

(31) $359,813 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2008A (Castlewood Heights 
Water Project);  

(32) $200,400 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2008B (Blue Devil Water 
Project); 

(33) $167,012 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2010 (Kingland Heights Water 
Project);  

(34) $100,000 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2011 (Castlewood Phase One 
Water Project);  

(35) $325,473 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2012 (Route 58/Memorial 
Drive/Greystone Water Project);  

(36) $2,200,000 Sewer Revenue Bond, Series of 2013 (Sewer Phase 1A); 

(37) $163,680 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2015 (Upper Bear Wallow 
Water Project); and 

(38) $317,151 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2016 (Radio Read Meter 
Replacement and Telemetry Installation Project). 



 
EXHIBIT G 

 
ORIGINAL FINANCING AGREEMENTS 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
 

 
 

[To Be Provided] 



EXHIBIT H 
 

PRIOR BONDS AND EXISTING PARITY BONDS 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

 
 
Prior Bonds: 
 
None 

 
 

Existing Parity Bonds: 
 
$672,000 Russell County Series 1988 Water Revenue Bond (RD Sword’s Creek Project) 
 
$900,000 Russell County Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 1996 (RD Dante Project) 
 
$119,530 Russell County, Virginia, Water Revenue Bond, Series 1999 (RD Lynn Springs 
Project) 
 
$350,000 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2000 (RD Castlewood Water Project) 
 
$937,300 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2005 (Dante Rehabilitation Water Project) 
 
$2,200,000 Sewer Revenue Bond, Series of 2013 (Sewer Phase 1A) 
 
$23,173.29 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020A 
 
$418,700 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2020D 



EXHIBIT I 
 

DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULES 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

 
 
 

[To Be Provided]



EXHIBIT J 
 

FORM OF BUDGET 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

 
 
 

(To Be on Borrower’s Letterhead) 
 

[Date] 
 
Executive Director 
Virginia Resources Authority 
1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920 
Richmond, VA  23219 
 
Dear Mr./Ms. __________: 
 

Pursuant to the Financing Agreement[s] between Virginia Resources Authority and The 
Russell County Public Service Authority, a copy of the fiscal year [20xx] annual budget is 
enclosed.  Such annual budget provides for the satisfaction of the rate covenant as demonstrated 
below. 
 
Revenues1 Operation & 

Maintenance Expense 
Net Revenues Available 
for Debt Service 
( Revenues – O&M 
Expense) 

Debt Service Coverage 
(Net Revenues Available 
for Debt Service/Debt 
Service) 

     

__________________________________________ 
1  Of the amount set forth here as Revenues, $_________ is derived from a transfer from the County of Russell,     
   Virginia’s general fund pursuant to the Support Agreement. 
 
 
 All capitalized terms used herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Financing 
Agreement[s]. 
 
Very truly yours, 
 
 
 
        
By: __________________________ 
 
        
Its: _________________________ 



EXHIBIT K 
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED SUPPORT AGREEMENT 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

 
 
THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED SUPPORT AGREEMENT is made as of the 

first day of __________, 2020, by and among the BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF RUSSELL 
COUNTY, VIRGINIA (the “Board”), acting as the governing body of Russell County, Virginia 
(the “County”), THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY (the 
“Borrower”), and the VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY (the “Authority”), as 
Administrator of the VIRGINIA WATER SUPPLY REVOLVING FUND (the “Fund”) and as 
purchaser of the Local Bonds, as hereinafter defined, pursuant to a Master Financing Agreement 
dated as of the date hereof (the “Master Financing Agreement”), between the Authority and the 
Borrower. 
 

RECITALS: 
 
 WHEREAS, the Borrower was created by the Board pursuant to the Virginia Water and 
Waste Authorities Act (Chapter 51, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended) and owns 
and operates the System in the County; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Borrower has previously issued its bonds as described on Exhibit A (the 
“Russell PSA Bonds”) pursuant to certain financing agreements, between the Authority, as 
Administrator of the Fund, and the Borrower; 
 
 WHEREAS, The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority (“Castlewood WSA”) has 
previously issued its bonds as described on Exhibit A (the “Castlewood WSA Bonds”) pursuant to 
certain financing agreements, between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and  
Castlewood WSA; 
 
 WHEREAS, the County of Russell, Virginia (the “County”) has previously issued its bonds 
as described on Exhibit A (the “County Bonds”) pursuant to certain financing agreements, between 
the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and  Castlewood WSA; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Borrower desires to amend and restate its obligations with respect to the 
Russell PSA Bonds, assume the obligations of Castlewood WSA with respect to the Castlewood 
WSA Bonds and assume the obligations of the County with respect to the County Bonds;  
 
 WHEREAS, the Board adopted on July 6, 2020, a resolution authorizing, among other 
things, the execution of an agreement providing for a non-binding obligation of the Board to 
consider certain appropriations in support of the Local Bonds. 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual 
covenants herein set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows:  
 



  1. Unless otherwise defined, each capitalized term used in this Support Agreement 
shall have the meaning given it in the Master Financing Agreement. 
 
  2. No later than May 15 of each year, beginning May 15, 2020, the Borrower shall 
notify the Board of the amount (the “Annual Deficiency Amount”) by which the Borrower 
reasonably expects the Revenues to be insufficient to pay (i) the debt service obligations under 
the Master Financing Agreement, the Local Bonds and any other indebtedness secured by or 
payable from the Revenues, including the Existing Parity Bonds set forth on Exhibit H to the 
Master Financing Agreement, (ii) the Operation and Maintenance Expense, and (iii) the 
Additional Payments in full as and when due during the County’s fiscal year beginning the 
following July 1. 

 
 3. The County Administrator of the County (the “County Administrator”) shall 

include the Annual Deficiency Amount in his budget submitted to the Board for the following 
fiscal year as an amount to be appropriated to or on behalf of the Borrower.  The County 
Administrator shall deliver to the Authority within ten days after the adoption of the County’s 
budget for each fiscal year, but not later than July 15 of each year, a certificate stating whether 
the Board has appropriated to or on behalf of the Borrower an amount equal to the Annual 
Deficiency Amount. 
 
  4. If at any time Revenues shall be insufficient to make any of the payments referred 
to in paragraph 3 hereof, the Borrower shall notify the County Administrator of the amount of 
such insufficiency and the County Administrator shall request a supplemental appropriation from 
the Board in the amount necessary to make such payment.  
 
  5. The County Administrator shall present each request for appropriation pursuant to 
paragraph 5 above to the Board, and the Board shall consider such request, at the Board’s next 
regularly scheduled meeting at which it is possible to satisfy any applicable notification 
requirement.  Promptly after such meeting, the County Administrator shall notify the Authority 
as to whether the amount so requested was appropriated.  If the Board shall fail to make any such 
appropriation, the County Administrator shall add the amount of such requested appropriation to 
the Annual Deficiency Amount reported to the County by the County Administrator for the 
County’s next fiscal year.  
 
  6. The Board hereby undertakes a non-binding obligation to appropriate such 
amounts as may be requested from time to time pursuant to paragraphs 4 and 5 above, to the 
fullest degree and in such manner as is consistent with the Constitution and laws of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia.  The Board, while recognizing that it is not empowered to make any 
binding commitment to make such appropriations in future fiscal years, hereby states its intent to 
make such appropriations in future fiscal years, and hereby recommends that future Boards of 
Supervisors do likewise.  
 
 7. The Board acknowledges that (i) the Authority would not purchase the Local 
Bonds without the security and credit enhancement provided by this Agreement, and (ii) the 
Authority is treating this Agreement as a “local obligation” within the meaning of Section 62.1-
199 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the “Virginia Code”), which in the event of a 
nonpayment hereunder authorizes the Authority to file an affidavit with the Governor that such 



nonpayment has occurred pursuant to Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code.  In purchasing 
the Local Bonds, the Authority is further relying on Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code, 
providing that if  the Governor is satisfied that the nonpayment has occurred, the Governor will 
immediately make an order directing the Comptroller to withhold all further payment to 
the County of all funds, or of any part of them, appropriated and payable by the Commonwealth 
of Virginia to the County for any and all purposes, and the Governor will, while the nonpayment 
continues, direct in writing the payment of all sums withheld by the Comptroller, or as much of 
them as is necessary, to the Authority, so as to cure, or cure insofar as possible, such 
nonpayment. 
 
  8. Nothing herein contained is or shall be deemed to be a lending of the credit of the 
County to the Borrower, the Authority or to any holder of the Local Bonds or to any other 
person, and nothing herein contained is or shall be deemed to be a pledge of the faith and credit 
or the taxing power of the County, nor shall anything herein contained legally bind or obligate 
the Board to appropriate funds for the purposes described herein.  
 
  9. Any notices or requests required to be given hereunder shall be deemed given if 
sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed (i) if to the County, to 137 
Highland Drive, Lebanon, Virginia  24266, Attention: County Administrator, (ii) if to the 
Borrower, to 137 Highland Drive, Lebanon, Virginia  24266, Attention:  Chairman, and (iii) if to 
the Authority, to 1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920, Richmond, Virginia, 23219, Attention: 
Executive Director.  Any party may designate any other address for notices or requests by giving 
notice.  
 
 10. It is the intent of the parties hereto that this Agreement shall be governed by the 
laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.  

 
 11. This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect until the Local Bonds and all 
other amounts payable by the Borrower under the Master Financing Agreement have been paid 
in full.  
 
 12. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which 
shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 
 
 

[Signature page follows] 
 



 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have each caused this Agreement to be 
executed in their respective names as of the date first above written.  
 
 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF RUSSELL COUNTY, 
VIRGINIA 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 
 
    
 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE 
AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 
 

 
 

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, as 
Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving 
Fund 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 

 
 



EXHIBIT A 
 

ORIGINAL BONDS 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

 
 
 

“Original Bonds” means, collectively, (a) the following bonds issued by the Borrower 
(the “Russell PSA Bonds”): 

(1) $99,775 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2006 (Green Valley Project); 

(2) $1,534,941 The Russell County Public Service Authority Revenue Bond, Series 
2008A (Big A Mountain Phase II Project); 

(3) $325,227 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2010-A (Back Valley—Big A Mountain Interconnection Project); 

(4) $1,059,765 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2011-A (Green Valley West Water Line Extension Project); 

(5) $103,783 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2011-B  (Long Branch/Strouth Creek/Fuller Mt. Water Line Extension Project); 

(6) $700,843 The Russell County Public Service Authority Water Revenue Bond, 
Series 2012-A (New Garden/Finney Water Line Extension Project); 

(7) $3,537,000 Water Revenue Refunding Bond, Series 2014; 

(8) $93,071 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2015 (Mountain Meadows Line Extension 
Project); 

(9) $294,202 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2016 (iPerl Radio Read Meter 
Replacement Project); 

(10) $445,925 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2016 (Route 656 East Water Line 
Extension Project); 

(11) $197,027 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2017 (Thompson Creek/Tunnel Road 
Waterline Extension Project); and 

(12) $512,023 Water Revenue Bond, Series 2017 (Fincastle Estates Waterline 
Extension Project); 

and (b) the following bonds issued by the County that have been assumed by the 
Borrower (the “County Bonds”): 



(13) $672,000 Russell County Series 1988 Water Revenue Bond (RD Sword’s Creek 
Project); 

(14) $900,000 Russell County Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 1996 (RD Dante Project); 

(15) $119,530 Russell County, Virginia, Water Revenue Bond, Series 1999 (RD Lynn 
Springs Project); 

(16) $935,690 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2001A (Big A Mountain 
Project); 

(17) $1,678,400 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2001B (Belfast Project); 

(18) $344,477 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2001C (Pine Creek Project); 

(19) $822,366 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2002A (Swords Creek Public 
Service Authority) (Clark’s Valley Project); 

(20) $556,538 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2005A (Drill Mountain Project); 

(21) $91,439 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2005B (Clark’s Valley—South 
Extension Water Project); 

(22) $1,906,717 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2005E  (Belfast –Rosedale 
Project); 

(23) $415,518 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2006A (Miller Creek/Frank’s 
Hollow/Honeysuckle Lane Project); and 

(24) $197,170 Russell County Revenue Bond, Series 2007A (Belfast—Highlands and 
Yates Project); 

and (c) the following bonds issued by Castlewood WSA that have been assumed by the 
Borrower (the “Castlewood WSA Bonds”): 

(25) $350,000 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2000 (Castlewood Water Project); 

(26) $640,000 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2001 (Red Oak Ridge Water 
Project); 

(27) $653,250 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2002 (Mew Road Water 
Project); 

(28) $661,019 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2004 (Carbo/Back Valley 
Water Project); 

(29) $937,300 Water Revenue Bond, Series of 2005 (Dante Rehabilitation Water 
Project); 



(30) $299,409 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2006 (Seven Springs Water 
Project);  

(31) $359,813 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2008A (Castlewood Heights 
Water Project);  

(32) $200,400 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2008B (Blue Devil Water 
Project); 

(33) $167,012 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2010 (Kingland Heights Water 
Project);  

(34) $100,000 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2011 (Castlewood Phase One 
Water Project);  

(35) $325,473 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2012 (Route 58/Memorial 
Drive/Greystone Water Project);  

(36) $2,200,000 Sewer Revenue Bond, Series of 2013 (Sewer Phase 1A); 

(37) $163,680 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2015 (Upper Bear Wallow 
Water Project); and 

(38) $317,151 Water and Sewer Revenue Bond, Series 2016 (Radio Read Meter 
Replacement and Telemetry Installation Project). 



KC Draft: 08/12/2019 
 
 
 

FINANCING AGREEMENT 
 

dated as of __________ 1, 2019 
 
 
 

BETWEEN 
 
 
 
 

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY,  

as Administrator of the 
Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund 

 
 

AND 
 
 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
 
 

Virginia Resources Authority 
Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Loan No. WSL-020-18 
 

Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project 
 

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Page 
 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

 
Section 1.1. Definitions  ................................................................................................................1 
Section 1.2. Rules of Construction  ...............................................................................................4 
 
 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS 

 
Section 2.1. Representations by Borrower  ..................................................................................5 
 
 

ARTICLE III 
ISSUANCE AND DELIVERY OF THE LOCAL BOND 

 
Section 3.1. Loan to Borrower and Purchase of the Local Bond  ................................................7 
Section 3.2. Conditions Precedent to Purchase of the Local Bond  .............................................7 
 
 

ARTICLE IV 
USE OF LOCAL BOND PROCEEDS AND CONSTRUCTION OF PROJECT 

 
Section 4.1. Application of Proceeds  ..........................................................................................9 
Section 4.2. Agreement to Accomplish Project  ........................................................................10 
Section 4.3. Permits  ..................................................................................................................11 
Section 4.4. Construction Contractors  ......................................................................................11 
Section 4.5. Engineering Services  ............................................................................................11 
Section 4.6. Borrower Required to Complete Project  ...............................................................12 
 
 

ARTICLE V 
PLEDGE, REVENUES AND RATES 

 
Section 5.1. Pledge of Revenues; Rate Covenant  .....................................................................12 
Section 5.2. Annual Budget  ......................................................................................................13 
Section 5.3. Qualified Independent Consultant’s Report ..........................................................13 
 
 



ARTICLE VI 
PAYMENTS 

 
Section 6.1. Payment of Local Bond  ........................................................................................13 
Section 6.2. Payment of Additional Payments ..........................................................................14 
 
 

ARTICLE VII 
PREPAYMENTS 

 
Section 7.1. Prepayment of Local Bond  ...................................................................................14 
 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
OPERATION AND USE OF SYSTEM 

 
Section 8.1. Ownership and Operation of Project and System  .................................................15 
Section 8.2. Maintenance  ..........................................................................................................15 
Section 8.3. Additions and Modifications .................................................................................15 
Section 8.4. Use of System  .......................................................................................................15 
Section 8.5. Inspection of System and Borrower’s Books and Records  ...................................15 
Section 8.6. Ownership of Land  ...............................................................................................15 
Section 8.7. Sale or Encumbrance  ............................................................................................16 
Section 8.8. Collection of Revenues  .........................................................................................16 
Section 8.9. No Free Service .....................................................................................................16 
Section 8.10. No Competing Service  ..........................................................................................17 
Section 8.11. Mandatory Connection ..........................................................................................17 
Section 8.12. Lawful Charges  .....................................................................................................17 
 
 

ARTICLE IX 
INSURANCE, DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION 

 
Section 9.1. Insurance  ...............................................................................................................17 
Section 9.2. Requirements of Policies  ......................................................................................18 
Section 9.3. Notice of Damage, Destruction and Condemnation  .............................................18 
Section 9.4. Damage and Destruction  .......................................................................................18 
Section 9.5. Condemnation and Loss of Title  ...........................................................................19 
 
 

ARTICLE X 
SPECIAL COVENANTS 

 
Section 10.1. Maintenance of Existence  .....................................................................................19 
Section 10.2. Financial Records and Statements  ........................................................................19 
Section 10.3. Certificate as to No Default  ..................................................................................20 



Section 10.4. Additional Indebtedness ........................................................................................20 
Section 10.5. Parity Bonds  ..........................................................................................................20 
Section 10.6. Further Assurances ................................................................................................22 
Section 10.7. Other Indebtedness ................................................................................................22 
Section 10.8. Assignment by Borrower  ......................................................................................22 
Section 10.9. Davis-Bacon Act  ...................................................................................................22 
Section 10.10. American Iron and Steel  .......................................................................................22 
Section 10.11. Recordkeeping and Reporting ...............................................................................23 
Section 10.12. Service Contracts  ..................................................................................................23  
Section 10.13. Waterworks Business Operations Plan and Rate Study  ........................................23  
 

 
ARTICLE XI 

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 
 
Section 11.1. Events of Default  ..................................................................................................23 
Section 11.2. Notice of Default ...................................................................................................24 
Section 11.3. Remedies on Default ..............................................................................................24 
Section 11.4. Delay and Waiver ..................................................................................................25 
Section 11.5. State Aid Intercept .................................................................................................25 
 
 

ARTICLE XII 
MISCELLANEOUS 

 
Section 12.1. Successors and Assigns .........................................................................................25 
Section 12.2. Amendments  .........................................................................................................25 
Section 12.3. Limitation of Borrower’s Liability ........................................................................25 
Section 12.4. Applicable Law  .....................................................................................................25 
Section 12.5. Severability  ...........................................................................................................26 
Section 12.6. Notices  ..................................................................................................................26 
Section 12.7. Right to Cure Default  ............................................................................................26 
Section 12.8. Headings  ...............................................................................................................27 
Section 12.9. Term of Agreement  ...............................................................................................27 
Section 12.10. Commitment Letter  ...............................................................................................27 
Section 12.11. Counterparts  ..........................................................................................................27 
 
 

 



EXHIBITS 
 
 
Exhibit A - Form of Local Bond 
Exhibit B - Project Description 
Exhibit C - Project Budget 
Exhibit D - Opinion of Borrower’s Bond Counsel 
Exhibit E - Requisition for Disbursement 
Exhibit F - Prior Bonds and Existing Parity Bonds  
Exhibit G - Form of Budget 
Exhibit H - Support Agreement 



FINANCING AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS FINANCING AGREEMENT is made as of this first day of __________, 2019, 
between the VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, a public body corporate and a political 
subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Authority”), as Administrator of the 
VIRGINIA WATER SUPPLY REVOLVING FUND, and THE RUSSELL COUNTY 
PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY, a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of 
the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Borrower”). 
 
 Pursuant to Chapter 23, Title 62.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended (the “Act”), 
the General Assembly created a permanent and perpetual fund known as the “Virginia Water 
Supply Revolving Fund” (the “Fund”).  In conjunction with the Board of Health, the Authority 
administers and manages the Fund.  From the Fund, the Authority from time to time makes loans to 
and acquires obligations of local governments in Virginia to finance or refinance the costs of water 
supply facilities within the meaning of Section 62.1-233 of the Act. 
 
 The Borrower has requested a loan from the Fund and will evidence its obligation to repay 
such loan by the Local Bond the Borrower will issue and sell to the Authority, as Administrator of 
the Fund.  The Borrower will use the proceeds of the sale of the Local Bond to the Authority to 
finance that portion of the Project Costs not being paid from other sources, all as further set forth in 
the Project Budget. 
 
 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

 
 Section 1.1. Definitions.  The capitalized terms contained in this Agreement and not 
defined above shall have the meanings set forth below unless the context requires otherwise and 
any capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning assigned to such terms 
in the Act: 
 
 “Additional Payments” means the payments required by Section 6.2. 
 
 “Agreement” means this Financing Agreement between the Authority and the Borrower, 
together with any amendments or supplements hereto. 
 
 “Annual Administrative Fee” means the portion of the Cost of Funds specified in 
Section 6.1(a)(ii) payable as an annual fee for administrative and management services 
attributable to the Local Bond. 
  
 “Authorized Representative” means any member, official or employee of the Borrower 
authorized by resolution, ordinance or other official act of the governing body of the Borrower to 
perform the act or sign the document in question. 
 
 “Board” means the Virginia Board of Health. 
 



 “Closing Date” means the date of the delivery of the Local Bond to the Authority, as 
Administrator of the Fund. 
 
 “Commitment Letter” means the commitment letter from the Authority to the 
Borrower, dated __________, 2019, and all extensions and amendments thereto. 

 
 “Consulting Engineer” means the engineer or firm of independent consulting engineers 
of recognized standing and experienced in the field of sanitary engineering and registered to do 
business in Virginia which is designated by the Borrower from time to time as the Borrower’s 
consulting engineer in accordance with Section 4.5 in a written notice to the Authority.  Such 
individual or firm shall be subject to the reasonable approval of the Authority.  Unless and until 
the Authority notifies the Borrower otherwise, any of the Borrower’s employees that are licensed 
and registered as professional engineers in the Commonwealth of Virginia may serve as 
Consulting Engineer under this Agreement. 

 
“Cost of Funds” means interest, including the part thereof allocable to the Annual 

Administrative Fee, payable as set forth in Section 6.1.  
 
“County” means the County of Russell, Virginia. 

 
 “Default” means an event or condition the occurrence of which would, with the lapse of 
time or the giving of notice or both, become an Event of Default. 
 
 “Department” means the Virginia Department of Health. 
 
 “Event of Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.1. 
 
 “Existing Parity Bonds” means any of the Borrower’s bonds, notes or other evidences 
of indebtedness, as further described on Exhibit F, that on the date of the Local Bond’s issuance 
and delivery were secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues on a parity with the pledge 
of Revenues securing the Local Bond. 
 
 “Fiscal Year” means the period of twelve months established by the Borrower as its 
annual accounting period. 
 
 “Funding Agreement” means the Funding Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, 
between the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, and the Borrower. 
 
 “Local Bond” means the bond in substantially the form attached to this Financing 
Agreement as Exhibit A issued by the Borrower to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, 
pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
 “Local Bond Proceeds” means the proceeds of the sale of the Local Bond to the 
Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, pursuant to this Agreement. 
 



 “Local Resolution” means all resolutions or ordinances adopted by the governing body 
of the Borrower approving the transactions contemplated by and authorizing the execution and 
delivery of this Agreement and the Transfer Agreement and the execution, issuance and delivery 
of the Local Bond. 
 
 “Net Proceeds” means the gross proceeds from any insurance recovery or condemnation 
award remaining after payment of attorneys’ fees and expenses of the Authority and all other 
expenses incurred in the collection of such gross proceeds. 
 
 “Net Revenues Available for Debt Service” means the Revenues less amounts 
necessary to pay Operation and Maintenance Expense. 
 
 “Operation and Maintenance Expense” means the costs of operating and maintaining 
the System determined pursuant to generally accepted accounting principles, exclusive of 
(i) interest on any debt secured by or payable from Revenues, (ii) depreciation and any other 
items not requiring the expenditure of cash, (iii) any amounts expended for capital replacements, 
repairs and maintenance not recurring annually or reserves therefor, and (iv) reserves for 
administration, operation and maintenance occurring in the normal course of business. 
 
 “Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion of recognized bond counsel, acceptable 
to the Authority. 
 
 “Parity Bonds” means bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the Borrower 
issued under Section 10.5. 
 
 “Prior Bonds” means any of the Borrower’s bonds, notes or other evidences of 
indebtedness, as further described in Exhibit F, that on the date of the Local Bond’s issuance and 
delivery were secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues all or any portion of which was 
superior to the pledge of Revenues securing the Local Bond. 
 
 “Project” means the particular project described in Exhibit B, the costs of the 
construction, acquisition or equipping of which are to be financed or refinanced in whole or in 
part with the Local Bond Proceeds. 
 
 “Project Budget” means the budget for the financing or the refinancing of the Project, a 
copy of which is attached to this Agreement as Exhibit C, with such changes therein as may be 
approved in writing by the Authority. 
 
 “Project Costs” means the costs of the construction, acquisition or equipping of the 
Project, as further described in the Project Budget, and such other costs as may be approved in 
writing by the Authority, provided such costs are permitted by the Act. 
  
 “Qualified Independent Consultant” shall mean an independent professional consultant 
having the skill and experience necessary to provide the particular certificate, report or approval 
required by the provision of this Agreement in which such requirement appears, including 
without limitation a Consulting Engineer, so long as such individual is not an employee of the 



Borrower, and an independent certified public accountant or firm of independent certified public 
accountants.  Such individual or firm shall be subject to the reasonable approval of the Authority. 
 
 “Revenues” means (i) all rates, fees, rentals, charges and income properly allocable to 
the System in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles or resulting from the 
Borrower’s ownership or operation of the System, excluding customer and other deposits subject 
to refund until such deposits have become the Borrower’s property, (ii) the proceeds of any 
insurance covering business interruption loss relating to the System, (iii) interest on any money 
or securities related to the System held by or on behalf of the Borrower, (iv) amounts that may be 
appropriated for and paid to the Borrower by the County under the Support Agreement or 
otherwise, and (v) any other income from other sources pledged by the Borrower to the payment 
of its Local Bond. 
 
 “Service Contracts” means the Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Water dated May 6, 
2014, between the Borrower and the Buchanan County Public Service Authority; Water Sale 
Agreement dated July 8, 2015, between the Borrower and the Town of Honaker, Virginia; 
Agreement for the Bulk Sales of Water dated March 14, 2002, between the Borrower and the 
Town of Lebanon, Virginia; Agreement for the Bulk Sale of Water dated June 11, 2001, between 
the Borrower and the Tazewell County Public Service Authority; and Contract for Sale of Water 
dated October 3, 2013, between the Borrower and the Washington County Service Authority 
[ADD ANY SERVICE CONTRACTS TRANSFERRED FROM CASTLEWOOD WSA]. 
 
 “Subordinate Bonds” means bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the 
Borrower described on Exhibit F, secured by or payable from a pledge of Revenues expressly 
made subordinate to the pledge of Revenues securing the payment of the Local Bond. 
 
 “Support Agreement” means the Support Agreement, dated the date hereof, among the 
Borrower, the Authority and the County, substantially in the form of Exhibit H hereto. 
 
 “System” means all plants, systems, facilities, equipment or property, including but not 
limited to the Project, owned, operated or maintained by the Borrower and used in connection 
with the collection, supply, treatment, storage or distribution of water or the collection or 
treatment of wastewater as the same may from time to time exist. 
 
 “Transfer Agreement” means the Transfer Agreement dated as of __________, 2019, 
between the Borrower and ____________________. 
 
 Section 1.2. Rules of Construction.  The following rules shall apply to the 
construction of this Agreement unless the context requires otherwise: 
 
  (a) Singular words shall connote the plural number as well as the singular and 
vice versa. 
 
  (b) All references in this Agreement to particular Sections or Exhibits are 
references to Sections or Exhibits of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. 
 



  (c) The headings and table of contents as used in this Agreement are solely 
for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement nor shall they 
affect its meaning, construction or effect. 
 
 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS 

 
 Section 2.1. Representations by Borrower.  The Borrower makes the following 
representations as the basis for its undertakings under this Agreement: 
 
  (a) The Borrower is a duly created and validly existing “local government” 
(as defined in Section 62.1-233 of the Act) of the Commonwealth of Virginia and is vested with 
the rights and powers conferred upon it by Virginia law. 
 
  (b) The Borrower has full right, power and authority to (i) adopt the Local 
Resolution and execute and deliver this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Transfer 
Agreement and the other documents related thereto, (ii) issue, sell and deliver the Local Bond to 
the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, (iii) own and operate the System, (iv) fix, charge 
and collect charges for the use of and for the services furnished by the System, (v) construct, 
acquire or equip the Project (as described in Exhibit B) and finance or refinance the Project Costs 
by borrowing money for such purpose pursuant to this Agreement and the issuance of the Local 
Bond, (vi) pledge the Revenues of the System  to the payment of the Local Bond, and (vii) carry 
out and consummate all of the transactions contemplated by the Local Resolution, this 
Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Local Bond. 
 
  (c) This Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Transfer Agreement and the 
Local Bond were duly authorized by the Local Resolution and are in substantially the same form 
as presented to the governing body of the Borrower at its meeting at which the Local Resolution 
was adopted. 
 
  (d) All governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, 
authorizations and approvals required to have been obtained as of the date of the delivery of this 
Agreement have been obtained for (i) the Borrower’s adoption of the Local Resolution, (ii) the 
execution and delivery by the Borrower of this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Transfer 
Agreement and the Local Bond, (iii) the performance and enforcement of the obligations of the 
Borrower thereunder, (iv) the acquisition, construction, equipping, occupation, operation and use 
of the Project, and (v) the operation and use of the System.  The Borrower knows of no reason 
why any such required governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations 
and approvals not obtained as of the date hereof cannot be obtained as needed. 
 
  (e) This Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement have 
been executed and delivered by duly authorized officials of the Borrower and constitute a legal, 
valid and binding obligations of the Borrower enforceable against the Borrower in accordance 
with their terms. 
 



  (f) When executed and delivered in accordance with the Local Resolution and 
this Agreement, the Local Bond will have been executed and delivered by duly authorized 
officials of the Borrower and will constitute a legal, valid and binding limited obligation of the 
Borrower enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with its terms. 
 
  (g) The issuance of the Local Bond and the execution and delivery of this 
Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement and the performance by the 
Borrower of its obligations thereunder are within the powers of the Borrower and will not 
conflict with, or constitute a breach or result in a violation of, (i) to the best of the Borrower’s 
knowledge, any Federal, or Virginia constitutional or statutory provision, including the 
Borrower’s charter or articles of incorporation, if any, (ii) any agreement or other instrument to 
which the Borrower is a party or by which it is bound or (iii) any order, rule, regulation, decree 
or ordinance of any court, government or governmental authority having jurisdiction over the 
Borrower or its property. 

  (h) The Borrower is not in default in the payment of the principal of or 
interest on any of its indebtedness for borrowed money and is not in default under any instrument 
under and subject to which any indebtedness for borrowed money has been incurred.  No event 
or condition has happened or existed, or is happening or existing, under the provisions of any 
such instrument, including but not limited to this Agreement, which constitutes, or which, with 
notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute an event of default thereunder. 

  (i) The Borrower (i) to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, is not in 
violation of any existing law, rule or regulation applicable to it in any way which would have a 
material adverse effect on its financial condition or its ability to perform its obligations under 
this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bond and (ii) is not in default under any 
indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, lien, lease, contract, note, order, judgment, decree or other 
agreement, instrument or restriction of any kind to which the Borrower is a party or by which it 
is bound or to which any of its assets is subject, which would have a material adverse effect on 
its financial condition or its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement, the Support 
Agreement or the Local Bond.  The execution and delivery by the Borrower of this Agreement, 
the Support Agreement or the Local Bond and the compliance with the terms and conditions 
thereof will not conflict with or result in a breach of or constitute a default under any of the 
foregoing. 

  (j) There are not pending nor, to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, 
threatened against the Borrower, any actions, suits, proceedings or investigations of a legal, 
equitable, regulatory, administrative or legislative nature, (i) affecting the creation, organization 
or existence of the Borrower or the title of its officers to their respective offices, (ii) seeking to 
prohibit, restrain or enjoin the approval, execution, delivery or performance of the Local 
Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bond or the issuance or 
delivery of the Local Bond, (iii) in any way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability 
of the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Local Bond or any 
agreement or instrument relating to any of the foregoing, (iv) in which a judgment, order or 
resolution may have a material adverse effect on the Borrower or its business, assets, condition 
(financial or otherwise), operations or prospects or on its ability to perform its obligations under 
the Local Resolution, this Agreement, the Support Agreement or the Local Bond, (v) in any way 



affecting or contesting the undertaking of the Project, or (vi) contesting or challenging the power 
of the Borrower to pledge the Revenues to the payment of the Local Bond. 

  (k) There have been no defaults by any contractor or subcontractor under any 
contract made by the Borrower in connection with the construction or equipping of the Project. 
 
  (l) No material adverse change has occurred in the financial condition of the 
Borrower as indicated in the financial statements, applications and other information furnished to 
the Authority. 
 
  (m) Except as may otherwise be approved by the Authority or permitted by the 
terms of this Agreement, the System at all times is and will be owned by the Borrower and will 
not be operated or controlled by any other entity or person.  

   (n) There is no indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from a 
pledge of Revenues on a parity with or prior to the lien of the pledge of Revenues securing the 
Local Bond except any Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds set forth on Exhibit F. 
 
  (o) The Service Contracts are in full force and effect; no default or event of 
default has occurred and is continuing under the Service Contracts; and the Borrower is not 
currently aware of any fact or circumstance that would have an adverse impact on the 
Borrower’s ability to set rates, to receive payments, or to exercise any other rights and remedies 
available to the Borrower, under or pursuant to the Service Contracts. 
 
  (p) No Event of Default or Default has occurred and is continuing. 

 
 

ARTICLE III 
ISSUANCE AND DELIVERY OF THE LOCAL BOND 

 
 Section 3.1. Loan to Borrower and Purchase of the Local Bond. The Borrower 
agrees to borrow from the Authority and the Authority agrees to lend to the Borrower, from the 
Fund, the principal amount equal to the sum of the principal disbursements made pursuant to 
Section 4.1, but not to exceed $_____ for the purposes herein set forth, a portion of which may 
be made from federal financial assistance.  The Borrower’s obligation shall be evidenced by the 
Local Bond, which shall be in substantially the form of Exhibit A attached hereto and made a 
part hereof and delivered to the Authority on the Closing Date.  The Local Bond shall be in the 
original principal amount of the loan and shall mature, bear a Cost of Funds and be payable as 
hereinafter provided. 
 
 Section 3.2. Conditions Precedent to Purchase of the Local Bond.  The Authority 
shall not be required to make the loan to Borrower and purchase the Local Bond unless the 
Authority shall have received the following, all in form and substance satisfactory to the 
Authority: 
 
  (a) The Local Bond, the Funding Agreement, the Support Agreement and the 
Transfer Agreement. 



 
  (b) A certified copy of the Local Resolution. 
 
  (c) A certificate of appropriate officials of the Borrower as to the matters set 
forth in Section 2.1 and such other matters as the Authority may reasonably require. 
 
  (d) A closing certificate from the Department certifying that the Project is in 
compliance with all federal and state laws and project requirements applicable to the Fund. 
 
  (e) A certificate of the Consulting Engineer estimating the total Project Costs 
to be financed with the Local Bond Proceeds, which estimate is in an amount and otherwise 
compatible with the financing plan described in the Project Budget. 
   
  (f) A certificate of the Consulting Engineer to the effect that in the opinion of 
the Consulting Engineer (i) the Project will be a part of the System, and (ii) the Local Bond 
Proceeds and funds available from the other sources specified in the Project Budget will be 
sufficient to pay the estimated Project Costs. 
 
  (g) A certificate, including supporting documentation, of a Qualified 
Independent Consultant that in the opinion of the Qualified Independent Consultant, during the 
first two complete Fiscal Years of the Borrower following completion of the Project, the 
projected Net Revenues Available for Debt Service will satisfy the rate covenant made by the 
Borrower in Section 5.1(a).  In providing this certificate, the Qualified Independent Consultant 
may take into consideration future System rate increases, provided that such rate increases have 
been duly approved by the governing body of the Borrower and any other person or entity 
required to give approval for the rate increase to become effective.  In addition, the Qualified 
Independent Consultant may take into consideration additional future revenues to be derived 
under existing contractual arrangements entered into by the Borrower and from reasonable 
estimates of growth in the consumer base of the Borrower. 
 
  (h) A certificate of the Consulting Engineer as to the date the Borrower is 
expected to complete the acquisition, construction and equipping of the Project. 
 
  (i) Evidence satisfactory to the Authority that all governmental permits, 
licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations and approvals for the Project required to have 
been obtained as of the date of the delivery of this Agreement have been obtained and a 
statement of the Consulting Engineer that he knows of no reason why any future required 
governmental permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations and approvals cannot be 
obtained as needed. 
 
  (j) Evidence satisfactory to the Authority that the Borrower has obtained or 
has made arrangements satisfactory to the Authority to obtain any funds or other financing for 
the Project as contemplated in the Project Budget. 
 



  (k) Evidence satisfactory to the Authority that the Borrower has performed 
and satisfied all of the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement to be performed and 
satisfied by it as of such date. 
 
  (l) An Opinion of Counsel, substantially in the form of Exhibit D, addressed 
to the Fund and the Authority. 
 
  (m) An opinion of counsel to the Borrower in form and substance reasonably 
satisfactory to the Authority. 
 
  (n) Evidence satisfactory to the Authority that the Borrower has complied 
with the insurance provisions set forth in Sections 9.1 and 9.2 hereof. 
 
  (o) Evidence that the Borrower has satisfied all conditions precedent to the 
issuance of the Local Bond as a “Parity Bond” under the financing agreements for the Existing 
Parity Bonds. 
 
  (p) Evidence satisfactory to the Authority that the Service Contracts are in full 
force and effect and that they are binding and enforceable agreements as to each of the Borrower 
and the other parties to such agreements. 
 
  (q) Such other documentation, certificates and opinions as the Authority, the 
Board or the Department may reasonably require, including an opinion from counsel acceptable 
to the Authority that the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement are valid and 
enforceable against the Borrower, subject to usual and customary qualifications. 
 
 

ARTICLE IV 
USE OF LOCAL BOND PROCEEDS AND CONSTRUCTION OF PROJECT 

 
 Section 4.1. Application of Proceeds. 
 
 (a) The Borrower agrees to apply the Local Bond Proceeds solely and exclusively to 
the payment, or the reimbursement of the Borrower for the payment, of Project Costs and further 
agrees to exhibit to the Board or the Authority receipts, vouchers, statements, bills of sale or 
other evidence of the actual payment of such Project Costs.  The Authority shall disburse money 
from the Fund to or for the account of the Borrower not more frequently than once each calendar 
month (unless otherwise agreed by the Authority and the Borrower) upon receipt by the 
Authority (with a copy to be furnished to the Board) of the following: 
 
  (1) A requisition (upon which the Authority, the Board and the Department 
shall be entitled to rely) signed by an Authorized Representative and containing all information 
called for by, and otherwise being in the form of, Exhibit E to this Agreement; 
 
  (2) If any requisition includes an item for payment for labor or to contractors, 
builders or materialmen, 



 
   (i) a certificate, signed by the Consulting Engineer, stating that such 

work was actually performed or such materials, supplies or equipment 
were actually furnished or installed in or about the construction of the 
Project; and 

 
   (ii) a certificate, signed by an Authorized Representative, stating either 

that such materials, supplies or equipment are not subject to any lien or 
security interest or that such lien or security interest will be released or 
discharged upon payment of the requisition. 

 
 Upon receipt of each such requisition and accompanying certificate or certificates and 
approval thereof by the Board, the Authority shall disburse Local Bond Proceeds hereunder to or 
for the account of the Borrower in accordance with such requisition in an amount and to the 
extent approved by the Board and shall note the date and amount of each such disbursement on a 
schedule of principal disbursements to be included on the Local Bond.  The Authority shall have 
no obligation to disburse any such Local Bond Proceeds if the Borrower is in default hereunder 
nor shall the Board have any obligation to approve any requisition if the Borrower is not in 
compliance with the terms of this Agreement. 
 
 (b) The Borrower shall comply with all applicable laws of the Commonwealth of 
Virginia, including but not limited to, the Virginia Public Procurement Act, as amended, 
regarding the awarding and performance of public construction contracts related to the Project.  
Except as may otherwise be approved by the Board, disbursements shall be held at ninety-five 
percent (95%) of the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond to ensure satisfactory 
completion of the Project.  Upon receipt from the Borrower of the certificate specified in 
Section 4.2 and a final requisition detailing all retainages to which the Borrower is then entitled, 
the Authority, to the extent approved by the Board and subject to the provisions of this Section 
and Section 4.2, will disburse to or for the account of the Borrower Local Bond Proceeds to the 
extent of such approval. 
 
 The Authority shall have no obligation to disburse Local Bond Proceeds in excess of the 
amount necessary to pay for approved Project Costs.  If principal disbursements up to the 
maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond are not made, principal installments due on the 
Local Bond shall be reduced only in accordance with Section 6.1. 
 
 Section 4.2. Agreement to Accomplish Project.  The Borrower agrees to cause the 
Project to be acquired, constructed, expanded, renovated or equipped as described in Exhibit B 
and in accordance with the Project Budget and the plans, specifications and designs prepared by 
the Consulting Engineer and approved by the Board.  The Borrower shall use its best efforts to 
complete the Project by the date set forth in the certificate provided to the Authority pursuant to 
Section 3.2(h).  All plans, specifications and designs shall be approved by all applicable 
regulatory agencies.  The Borrower agrees to maintain complete and accurate books and records 
of the Project Costs and permit the Authority and the Board through their duly authorized 
representatives to inspect such books and records at any reasonable time.  The Borrower and the 



Authority, with the consent of the Board, may amend the description of the Project set forth in 
Exhibit B. 
 
 When the Project has been completed, the Borrower shall promptly deliver to the 
Authority and the Board a certificate signed by an Authorized Representative of the Borrower 
and by the Consulting Engineer stating (i) that the Project has been completed substantially in 
accordance with this Section, the plans and specifications as amended from time to time, as 
approved by the Board, and in substantial compliance with all material applicable laws, 
ordinances, rules and regulations, (ii) the date of such completion, (iii) that all certificates of 
occupancy or other material permits necessary for the Project’s use, occupancy and operation 
have been issued or obtained, and (iv) the amount, if any, to be reserved for payment of Project 
Costs. 
 
 Section 4.3. Permits.  The Borrower, at its sole cost and expense, shall comply with, 
and shall obtain all permits, consents and approvals required by local, state or federal laws, 
ordinances, rules, regulations or requirements in connection with the acquisition, construction, 
equipping, occupation, operation or use of the Project.  The Borrower shall, upon request, 
promptly furnish to the Authority and the Board copies of all such permits, consents and 
approvals.  The Borrower shall also comply with all lawful program or procedural guidelines or 
requirements duly promulgated and amended from time to time by the Board in connection with 
the acquisition, construction, equipping, occupation, operation or use of projects financed from 
the Fund under the Act.  The Borrower shall also comply in all respects with all applicable 
federal laws, regulations and other requirements relating to or arising out of or in connection 
with the Project and the funding thereof from the Fund, including, but not limited to, the federal 
“crosscutting” requirements identified in Schedule A of the Commitment Letter.  Where 
noncompliance with such requirements is determined by the Authority or the Board, the issue 
shall be referred to the proper federal authority or agency for consultation or enforcement action. 
 
 Section 4.4. Construction Contractors.  Each construction contractor employed in the 
accomplishment of the Project shall be required in the construction contract to furnish a 
performance bond and a payment bond each in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) 
of the particular contract price.  Such bonds shall list the Borrower, the Fund, the Authority and 
the Board as beneficiaries.  Each contractor shall be required to maintain during the construction 
period covered by the particular construction contract builder’s risk insurance, workers’ 
compensation insurance, public liability insurance, property damage insurance and vehicle 
liability insurance in amounts and on terms satisfactory to the Consulting Engineer.  Upon 
request of the Authority or the Board, the Borrower shall cause each contractor to furnish 
evidence of such bonds and insurance to the Authority and the Board. 
 
 Section 4.5. Engineering Services.  The Borrower shall retain a Consulting Engineer 
to provide engineering services covering the operation of the System and the supervision and 
inspection of the construction of the Project.  The Consulting Engineer shall certify to the Fund, 
the Authority and the Board as to the various stages of the completion of the Project as 
disbursements of Local Bond Proceeds are requested and shall upon completion of the Project 
provide to the Fund, the Authority and the Board the certificates required by Sections 4.1 and 
4.2. 



 
 Section 4.6. Borrower Required to Complete Project.  If the Local Bond Proceeds 
are not sufficient to pay in full the cost of the Project, the Borrower will complete the Project at 
its own expense and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement therefor from the Fund, the 
Authority or the Board or any abatement, diminution or postponement of the Borrower’s 
payments under the Local Bond or this Agreement. 
 
 

ARTICLE V 
PLEDGE, REVENUES AND RATES 

 
 Section 5.1. Pledge of Revenues; Rate Covenant.  Subject to the Borrower’s right to 
apply Revenues to the payment of Operation and Maintenance Expense, the Revenues are hereby 
pledged to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, to secure the payment of the principal of and 
Cost of Funds on the Local Bond and the payment and performance of the Borrower’s obligations 
under this Agreement.  This pledge shall be valid and binding from and after the execution and 
delivery of this Agreement.  The Revenues, as received by the Borrower, shall immediately be 
subject to the lien of this pledge without any physical delivery of them or further act.  The lien of 
this pledge of the Revenues is on a parity with the lien of the pledge of the Revenues securing the 
Existing Parity Bonds.  The lien of this pledge shall, subject to the right of the Borrower to apply 
Revenues to the payment of Operation and Maintenance Expense, have priority over all other 
obligations and liabilities of the Borrower, and the lien of this pledge shall be valid and binding 
against all parties having claims of any kind against the Borrower regardless of whether such parties 
have notice of this pledge. 
 
 (a) The Borrower covenants and agrees that it will fix and collect rates, fees and other 
charges for the use of and for services furnished or to be furnished by the System, and will from 
time to time revise such rates, fees and other charges so that in each Fiscal Year the Net Revenues 
Available for Debt Service will equal at least 100% of the amount required during the Fiscal Year to 
pay the principal of and Cost of Funds on the Local Bond, the Additional Payments and all other 
indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from Revenues including without limitation, 
indebtedness under leases which are treated as capital leases under generally accepted accounting 
principles.  If, for any reason, the Revenues are insufficient to satisfy the foregoing covenant, the 
Borrower shall within ninety (90) days adjust and increase its rates, fees and other charges or reduce 
its Operation and Maintenance Expense so as to provide sufficient Revenues to satisfy such 
requirement. 
 
 (b) On or before the last day of each Fiscal Year, the Borrower shall review the 
adequacy of its rates, fees and other charges for the next Fiscal Year, and, if such review indicates 
the Borrower’s rates, fees and other charges are insufficient to satisfy the rate covenant in 
subsection (a) of this Section, the Borrower shall promptly take appropriate action to increase its 
rates, fees and other charges or reduce its Operations and Maintenance Expense to cure any 
deficiency. 
 
 Section 5.2. Annual Budget.  The Borrower agrees before the first day of each Fiscal 
Year to adopt a budget for such Fiscal Year containing all information called for by, and otherwise 



being in the form of, Exhibit H to this Agreement, for such Fiscal Year setting forth a schedule of 
the rates, fees and other charges to be imposed by the Borrower, the Revenues estimated to be 
generated thereby, the expenditures anticipated by the Borrower for operations, maintenance, 
repairs, replacements, improvements, debt service and other purposes, and specifically identifying 
any amounts made available by the County pursuant to the Support Agreement.  Such budget as 
approved by the Borrower’s governing body is referred to in this Agreement as the Annual Budget.  
The Borrower may at any time during any Fiscal Year amend the Annual Budget for such Fiscal 
Year so long as such amendment does not result in a Default.  The Borrower shall submit a copy of 
the Annual Budget and any amendments thereto to the Authority. 
 
 Section 5.3.  Qualified Independent Consultant’s Report.  (a)  If at the end of any 
Fiscal Year, the Borrower is not in compliance with the rate covenant made by the Borrower in 
Section 5.1(a), within two hundred ten (210) days after the end of such Fiscal Year, the Borrower 
shall obtain a report from the Qualified Independent Consultant giving advice and making 
recommendations as to the proper maintenance, repair, replacement and operation of the System 
for the next ensuing Fiscal Year and estimating the costs thereof as to the rates, fees, and other 
charges which should be established by the Borrower to satisfy the rate covenant in Section 
5.1(a).  The Borrower shall promptly furnish a copy of such report to the Authority and, subject 
to Section 5.3(b), take measures to implement the recommendations of the Qualified Independent 
Consultant within ninety (90) days of obtaining such report. 
 
 (b) If the Borrower determines that the Qualified Independent Consultant’s 
recommendations are impractical or inappropriate, the Borrower may in lieu thereof adopt other 
procedures which the Borrower believes will bring it into compliance with the rate covenant 
made by the Borrower in Section 5.1(a) when such measures have been implemented and 
become fully effective.  Such alternative plan shall be filed with the Authority not later than 
thirty (30) days after receipt of the Qualified Independent Consultant’s report along with a 
detailed explanation of the Borrower’s reason for rejecting the Qualified Independent 
Consultant’s recommendations.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Authority 
reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to reject such alternate procedures and require the 
Borrower to comply with the Qualified Independent Consultant’s recommendations. 
 
 

ARTICLE VI 
PAYMENTS 

 
 Section 6.1. Payment of Local Bond. (a) The Local Bond shall be dated the date of its 
delivery to the Authority.  The Cost of Funds on the Local Bond shall be computed on the 
disbursed principal balance thereof from the date of each disbursement at the rate of two and 
fifty one-hundredths percent (2.50%) per annum, consisting of the following: 
 

 (i) interest of one percent (1.00%) per annum payable for the benefit of the Fund, and 
 
 (ii) one and fifty one-hundredths percent (1.50%) per annum payable as an Annual 
Administrative Fee. 

 



 (b) The Cost of Funds only on all amounts disbursed under the Local Bond shall be 
due and payable on __________ 1, 20__.  Commencing __________ 1, 20__ and continuing 
semi-annually thereafter on __________ 1 and __________ 1 in each year, principal and Cost of 
Funds due under the Local Bond shall be payable in equal installments of $_____, with a final 
installment of $_____ due and payable on __________ 1, 20__, when, if not sooner paid, all 
amounts due hereunder and under the Local Bond shall be due and payable in full.  Each 
installment shall be applied first to payment of the Cost of Funds accrued and unpaid to the 
payment date and then to principal.  If principal disbursements up to the maximum authorized 
amount of the Local Bond are not made, the principal amount due on the Local Bond shall not 
include such undisbursed amount.  However, unless the Borrower and the Authority agree 
otherwise in writing, until all amounts due hereunder and under the Local Bond shall have been 
paid in full, less than full disbursement of the maximum authorized amount of the Local Bond 
shall not postpone the due date of any semi-annual installment due on the Local Bond, or change 
the amount of such installment.  If any installment of principal of or Cost of Funds on the Local 
Bond is not paid within ten (10) days after its due date, the Borrower agrees to pay to the 
Authority a late payment charge in an amount equal to five percent (5.0%) of the overdue 
installment. 
 
 Section 6.2. Payment of Additional Payments.  In addition to the payments of 
principal of and Cost of Funds on the Local Bond, the Borrower agrees to pay on demand of the 
Authority the following Additional Payments: 
 
   (1) The costs of the Fund, the Authority, the Department or the Board 

in connection with the enforcement of this Agreement, including the reasonable 
fees and expenses of any attorneys used by any of them; and 

 
   (2) All expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, relating to any 

amendments, waivers, consents or collection or enforcement proceedings pursuant 
to the provisions hereof. 

 
 The Borrower agrees to pay interest on any Additional Payments enumerated in (1) or (2) 
above not received by the Authority within ten (10) days after demand therefor at a rate of five 
percent (5.0%) per annum of the overdue installment from its due date until the date it is paid. 
 
 

ARTICLE VII 
PREPAYMENTS 

 
 Section 7.1. Prepayment of Local Bond.  Upon completion of the Project and after 
giving at least ten (10) days’ written notice to the Authority, the Borrower may prepay the Local 
Bond at any time, in whole or in part and without penalty.  Such written notice shall specify the 
date on which the Borrower will make such prepayment and whether the Local Bond will be 
prepaid in full or in part, and if in part, the principal amount to be prepaid.  Any such partial 
prepayment shall be applied against the principal amount outstanding under the Local Bond but 
shall not postpone the due date of any subsequent payment on the Local Bond, or change the 
amount of such installment, unless the Borrower and the Authority agree otherwise in writing. 



 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
OPERATION AND USE OF SYSTEM 

 
 Section 8.1. Ownership and Operation of Project and System.  Except as may 
otherwise be approved by the Authority or permitted by the terms hereof, the Project and the 
System at all times shall be owned by the Borrower and shall not be operated or controlled by 
any other entity or person. 
 
 Section 8.2. Maintenance.  At its own cost and expense, the Borrower shall operate 
the System in a proper, sound and economical manner and in compliance with all legal 
requirements, shall maintain the System in good repair and operating condition and from time to 
time shall make all necessary repairs, renewals and replacements. 
 
 Section 8.3. Additions and Modifications.  At its own expense, the Borrower from 
time to time may make any additions, modifications or improvements to the System which it 
deems desirable and which do not materially reduce the value of the System or the structural or 
operational integrity of any part of the System, provided that all such additions, modifications or 
improvements comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, rules, regulations, orders, 
permits, authorizations and requirements.  All such renewals, replacements, additions, modifi-
cations and improvements shall become part of the System. 
 
 Section 8.4. Use of System.  The Borrower shall comply with all lawful requirements 
of any governmental authority regarding the System, whether now existing or subsequently 
enacted, whether foreseen or unforeseen or whether involving any change in governmental 
policy or requiring structural, operational and other changes to the System, irrespective of the 
cost of making the same. 
 
 Section 8.5. Inspection of System and Borrower’s Books and Records.  The 
Authority and the Board and their duly authorized representatives and agents shall have such 
reasonable rights of access to the System as may be necessary to determine whether the 
Borrower is in compliance with the requirements of this Agreement and shall have the right at all 
reasonable times and upon reasonable prior notice to the Borrower to examine and copy the 
books and records of the Borrower insofar as such books and records relate to the System. 
 
 Section 8.6. Ownership of Land.  The Borrower shall not construct, reconstruct or 
install any part of the System on lands other than those which the Borrower owns or can acquire 
title to or a perpetual easement over, in either case sufficient for the Borrower’s purposes, unless 
such part of the System is lawfully located in a public street or highway or is a main, conduit, 
pipeline, main connection or facility located on land in which the Borrower has acquired a right 
or interest less than a fee simple or perpetual easement and such lesser right or interest has been 
approved by written opinion of counsel to the Borrower as sufficient for the Borrower’s 
purposes. 
 



 Section 8.7. Sale or Encumbrance.  No part of the System shall be sold, exchanged, 
leased, mortgaged, encumbered or otherwise disposed of except as provided in any one of the 
following subsections, or as may be otherwise consented and agreed to by the Authority in 
writing: 
 
  (a) The Borrower may grant easements, licenses or permits across, over or 
under parts of the System for streets, roads and utilities as will not adversely affect the use of the 
System; 
 
  (b) The Borrower may sell or otherwise dispose of property constituting part 
of the System if it uses the proceeds of such disposition and any other necessary funds to replace 
such property with property serving the same or a similar function; and 
 
  (c) The Borrower may sell or otherwise dispose of property constituting part 
of the System; provided, however, (i) no such property shall be sold or otherwise disposed of 
unless there is filed with the Authority a certificate of the Borrower, signed by an Authorized 
Representative, stating that such property is no longer needed or useful in the operation of the 
System, and, if the proceeds of such sale or disposition, together with the aggregate value of any 
other property sold or otherwise disposed of during the Fiscal Year, shall exceed $125,000, there 
shall also be filed with the Borrower and the Authority a certificate of the Consulting Engineer 
stating that such property is not necessary or useful to the operation of the System, and (ii) the 
proceeds to be received from any sale or disposition shall be applied first to cure any default that 
may exist in the payment of the principal of and Cost of Funds on the Local Bond, and then, if 
such property constitutes part of the Project, to the prepayment of the Local Bond under Article 
VII hereof. 
 
 Section 8.8. Collection of Revenues.  The Borrower shall use its best efforts to collect 
all rates, fees and other charges due to it, including, when appropriate, by perfecting liens on 
premises served by the System for the amount of all delinquent rates, fees and other charges 
where such action is permitted by law.  The Borrower shall, to the full extent permitted by law, 
discontinue and shut off, or cause to be discontinued and shut off, services and facilities of the 
System, and use its best efforts to cause to be shut off water service furnished otherwise than 
through the System, to customers of the System who are delinquent beyond any customary grace 
periods in the payment of rates, fees and other charges due to the Borrower. 
 
 Section 8.9. No Free Service.  The Borrower shall not permit connections with or the 
use of the System, or furnish any services afforded by the System, without making a charge 
therefor based on the Borrower’s uniform schedule of rates, fees and charges. 
 
 Section 8.10. No Competing Service.  The Borrower shall not provide, grant any 
franchise to provide or give consent for anyone else to provide, any services which would 
compete with the System. 
 
 Section 8.11. Mandatory Connection.  The Borrower shall, consistent with applicable 
law, require the owner, tenant or occupant of each lot or parcel of land which is served or may 
reasonably be served by the System and upon which lot or parcel a building shall have been 



constructed for residential, commercial or industrial use, to connect such building to the System; 
provided, however, the Borrower may permit the continued use of private systems, meeting the 
standards of the Board, by any such building already in existence at the time the services of the 
System become available to it upon such conditions as may be specified by the Borrower. 
 
 Section 8.12. Lawful Charges.  The Borrower shall pay when due all taxes, fees, 
assessments, levies and other governmental charges of any kind whatsoever (collectively, the 
“Governmental Charges”) which are (i) assessed, levied or imposed against the System or the 
Borrower’s interest in it, or (ii) incurred in the operation, maintenance, use and occupancy of the 
System.  The Borrower shall pay or cause to be discharged, or shall make adequate provision to 
pay or discharge, all lawful claims and demands for labor, materials, supplies or other objects 
which, if unpaid, might by law become a lien upon all or any part of the System or the Revenues 
(collectively, the “Mechanics’ Charges”).  The Borrower, however, after giving the Authority ten 
(10) days’ notice of its intention to do so, at its own expense and in its own name, may contest in 
good faith any Governmental Charges or Mechanics’ Charges.  If such a contest occurs, the 
Borrower may permit the same to remain unpaid during the period of the contest and any 
subsequent appeal unless, in the reasonable opinion of the Authority, such action may impair the 
lien on Revenues granted by this Agreement, in which event, such Governmental Charges or 
Mechanics’ Charges promptly shall be satisfied or secured by posting with the Authority or an 
appropriate court a bond in form and amount reasonably satisfactory to the Authority.  Upon 
request, the Borrower shall furnish to the Authority proof of payment of all Governmental 
Charges and the Mechanics’ Charges required to be paid by the Borrower under this Agreement. 

 
ARTICLE IX 

INSURANCE, DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION 
 
 Section 9.1. Insurance.  Unless the Authority otherwise agrees in writing, the 
Borrower continuously shall maintain or cause to be maintained insurance against such risks as 
are customarily insured against by public bodies operating systems similar in size and character 
to the System, including, without limitation: 
 
  (a) Insurance in the amount of the full replacement cost of the System’s 
insurable portions against loss or damage by fire and lightning, with broad form extended 
coverage endorsements covering damage by windstorm, explosion, aircraft, smoke, sprinkler 
leakage, vandalism, malicious mischief and such other risks as are normally covered by such 
endorsements (limited only as may be provided in the standard form of such endorsements at the 
time in use in Virginia); provided that during the construction of the Project, the Borrower may 
provide or cause to be provided, in lieu of the insurance in the amount of the full replacement 
cost of the Project, builders’ risk or similar types of insurance in the amount of the full 
replacement cost thereof.  The determination of replacement cost shall be made by a recognized 
appraiser or insurer selected by the Borrower and reasonably acceptable to the Authority. 
 
  (b) Comprehensive general liability insurance with a combined single limit of 
$2,000,000 per year against liability for bodily injury, including death resulting therefrom, and 
for damage to property, including loss of use thereof, arising out of the ownership, maintenance, 
operation or use of the System. 



 
  (c) Unless the Borrower qualifies as a self-insurer under the laws of Virginia, 
workers’ compensation insurance. 
 
 The Authority shall not have any responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) the 
procurement or maintenance of insurance or the amounts or the provisions with respect to 
policies of insurance, or (ii) the application of the proceeds of insurance. 
 
 The Borrower shall provide no less often than annually and upon the written request of 
the Authority a certificate or certificates of the respective insurers evidencing the fact that the 
insurance required by this Section is in full force and effect. 
 
 Section 9.2. Requirements of Policies.  All insurance required by Section 9.1 shall be 
maintained with generally recognized, responsible insurance companies selected by the 
Borrower and reasonably acceptable to the Authority.  Such insurance may be written with 
deductible amounts comparable to those on similar policies carried by other utility systems of 
like size and character to the System and shall contain an undertaking by the insurer that such 
policy shall not be modified adversely to the interests of, or canceled without at least thirty (30) 
days' prior notice to, the Authority.  If any such insurance is not maintained with an insurer 
licensed to do business in Virginia or placed pursuant to the requirements of the Virginia Surplus 
Lines Insurance Law (Chapter 48, Title 38.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended) or any 
successor provision of law, the Borrower shall provide evidence reasonably satisfactory to the 
Authority that such insurance is enforceable under Virginia law. 
 
 Section 9.3. Notice of Damage, Destruction and Condemnation.  In the case of 
(i) any damage to or destruction of any material part of the System, (ii) a taking of all or any part 
of the System or any right therein under the exercise of the power of eminent domain, (iii) any 
loss of the System because of failure of title, or (iv) the commencement of any proceedings or 
negotiations which might result in such a taking or loss, the Borrower shall give prompt notice 
thereof to the Authority describing generally the nature and extent of such damage, destruction, 
taking, loss, proceedings or negotiations. 
 
 Section 9.4. Damage and Destruction.  If all or any part of the System is destroyed or 
damaged by fire or other casualty, and the Borrower shall not have exercised its option to prepay 
in full the Local Bond pursuant to Article VII, the Borrower shall restore promptly the property 
damaged or destroyed to substantially the same condition as before such damage or destruction, 
with such alterations and additions as the Borrower may determine and which will not impair the 
capacity or character of the System for the purpose for which it then is being used or is intended 
to be used.  The Borrower may apply so much as may be necessary of the Net Proceeds of 
insurance received on account of any such damage or destruction to payment of the cost of such 
restoration, either on completion or as the work progresses.  If such Net Proceeds are not 
sufficient to pay in full the cost of such restoration, the Borrower shall pay so much of the cost as 
may be in excess of such Net Proceeds.  If the Net Proceeds are derived from property 
constituting part of the Project, any balance of such Net Proceeds remaining after payment of the 
cost of such restoration shall promptly be applied to prepayment of the Local Bond pursuant to 
Article VII. 



 
 Section 9.5. Condemnation and Loss of Title.  If title to or the temporary use of all or 
any part of the System shall be taken under the exercise of the power of eminent domain or lost 
because of failure of title, and the Borrower shall not have exercised its option to prepay in full 
the Local Bond pursuant to Article VII, the Borrower shall cause the Net Proceeds from any such 
condemnation award or from title insurance to be applied to the restoration of the System to 
substantially its condition before the exercise of such power of eminent domain or failure of title.  
If such Net Proceeds are not sufficient to pay in full the cost of such restoration, the Borrower 
shall pay so much of the cost as may be in excess of such Net Proceeds.  If the Net Proceeds are 
derived from property constituting part of the Project, any balance of such Net Proceeds 
remaining after payment of the cost of such restoration shall promptly be applied to prepayment 
of the Local Bond pursuant to Article VII. 
  

ARTICLE X 
SPECIAL COVENANTS 

 
 Section 10.1. Maintenance of Existence.  The Borrower shall maintain its existence as 
a “local government” (as defined in the Act) of the Commonwealth of Virginia and, without 
consent of the Authority and the Board, shall not dissolve or otherwise dispose of all or 
substantially all of its assets or consolidate or merge with or into another entity.  Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, the Borrower may consolidate or merge with or into, or sell or otherwise transfer 
all or substantially all of its assets to a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, 
and the Borrower thereafter may dissolve, if the surviving, resulting or transferee political 
subdivision, if other than the Borrower, assumes, in written form acceptable to the Authority and 
the Board, all of the obligations of the Borrower contained in the Local Bond and this 
Agreement, and there is furnished to the Authority and the Board an Opinion of Counsel 
acceptable to the Authority and the Board subject to customary exceptions and qualifications, to 
the effect that such assumption constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the 
surviving, resulting or transferee political subdivision enforceable against it in accordance with 
its terms. 
 
 Section 10.2. Financial Records and Statements.  The Borrower shall maintain proper 
books of record and account in which proper entries shall be made in accordance with generally 
accepted government accounting standards, consistently applied, of all its business and affairs 
related to the System.  The Borrower shall have an annual audit of the financial condition of the 
Borrower (and at the reasonable request of the Authority, of the System) made by an independent 
certified public accountant, within one hundred and eighty (180) days after the end of each Fiscal 
Year.  The annual audit shall include a supplemental schedule demonstrating whether the Borrower 
during such Fiscal Year satisfied the rate covenant made by the Borrower in Section 5.1(a).  The 
Borrower shall furnish to the Authority copies of such report immediately after it is accepted by 
the Borrower.  Such report shall include statements in reasonable detail, certified by such 
accountant, reflecting the Borrower’s financial position as of the end of such Fiscal Year and the 
results of the Borrower’s operations and changes in the financial position of its funds for the 
Fiscal Year.   
 



 Section 10.3. Certificate as to No Default.  The Borrower shall deliver to the 
Authority, within one hundred and eighty (180) days after the close of each Fiscal Year, a 
certificate signed by an Authorized Representative stating that, during such year and as of the 
date of such certificate, no event or condition has happened or existed, or is happening or 
existing, which constitutes an Event of Default or a Default, or if such an event or condition has 
happened or existed, or is happening or existing, specifying the nature and period of such event 
or condition and what action the Borrower has taken, is taking or proposes to take to rectify it. 
 
 Section 10.4. Additional Indebtedness.  The Borrower shall not incur any indebtedness 
or issue any bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness secured by or payable from a pledge 
of Revenues, except Subordinate Bonds or Parity Bonds. 
 
 Section 10.5. Parity Bonds.  Provided the Borrower is not in default hereunder, the 
Borrower may issue bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness (“Parity Bonds”) ranking on 
parity with the Local Bond with respect to the pledge of Revenues to (i) pay Project Costs to 
complete the Project, (ii) pay the cost of improvements, additions, extensions, replacements, 
equipment or betterments and of any property, rights or easements deemed by the Borrower to be 
necessary, useful or convenient for the System, (iii) refund some or all of the Local Bond, Parity 
Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds, or (iv) effect some combination of (i), (ii) and (iii); 
provided in each case the following conditions are satisfied.  Except to the extent otherwise 
consented and agreed to by the Authority in writing, before any Parity Bonds are issued or 
delivered, the Borrower shall deliver to the Authority the following: 
 
  (a) Certified copies of all resolutions and ordinances of the Borrower 
authorizing the issuance of the Parity Bonds. 
 
  (b) A certificate of an appropriate official of the Borrower setting forth the 
purposes for which the Parity Bonds are to be issued and the manner in which the Borrower will 
apply the proceeds from the issuance and sale of the Parity Bonds. 
 
  (c) If the Parity Bonds are authorized for any purpose other than the refunding 
of the Local Bond, Parity Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds, in form and substance 
satisfactory to the Authority, a certificate of the Consulting Engineer , or with respect to subsection 
(iv)(C) below, a certificate, including supporting documentation, of the Qualified Independent 
Consultant, to the effect that in the opinion of the Consulting Engineer or Qualified Independent 
Consultant, as applicable, (i) the improvements or property to which the proceeds from the 
issuance of the Parity Bonds are to be applied will be a part of the System, (ii) the funds 
available to the Borrower from the issuance of the Parity Bonds and other specified sources will 
be sufficient to pay the estimated cost of such improvements or property, (iii) the period of time 
which will be required to complete such improvements or acquire such property, and (iv) (A) the 
Parity Bond proceeds are necessary to complete the Project, (B) the failure to make such 
improvements or acquire or construct such property will result in an interruption or reduction of 
Revenues, or (C) during the first two complete Fiscal Years following completion of the 
improvements or the acquisition of the property financed with the proceeds of the Parity Bonds, 
the projected Net Revenues Available for Debt Service (excluding any amounts made available 
by the County pursuant to the Support Agreement) will equal at least 100% of the amount 



required during each such Fiscal Year to pay any and all amounts due under the Local Bond, this 
Agreement, the Parity Bonds, any Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds, and all other 
indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from Revenues, including without 
limitation, indebtedness under leases which are treated as capital leases under generally accepted 
accounting principles.  In providing this certificate, as applicable, the Qualified Independent 
Consultant may take into consideration future System rate increases, provided that such rate 
increases have been duly approved by the governing body of the Borrower and any other person and 
entity required to give approval for the rate increase to become effective.  In addition, the Qualified 
Independent Consultant may take into consideration additional future revenues of the System to be 
derived under then existing contractual agreements entered into by the Borrower and from 
reasonable estimates of growth in the customer base of the Borrower. 
 
  (d) If the Parity Bonds are authorized solely to refund the Local Bond (with the 
consent of the Authority), Existing Parity Bonds, Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds, either (i) a 
certificate, including supporting documentation, of a Qualified Independent Consultant satisfactory 
to the Authority that the refunding Parity Bonds will have annual debt service requirements in each 
of the years the Local Bond, Existing Parity Bonds, Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds to be refunded 
would have been outstanding which are lower than the annual debt service requirements in each 
such year on the Local Bond, Existing Parity Bonds, Parity Bonds or the Prior Bonds to be 
refunded, or (ii) a certificate, including supporting documentation, of the Qualified Independent 
Consultant to the effect that during the first two complete Fiscal Years following the issuance of 
the refunding Parity Bonds, the projected Net Revenues Available for Debt Service (excluding 
any amounts made available by the County pursuant to the Support Agreement) will equal at 
least 100% of the amount required during each such Fiscal Year to pay any and all amounts due 
under the Local Bond, this Agreement, the Parity Bonds, any Existing Parity Bonds or Prior 
Bonds, and all other indebtedness of the Borrower secured by or payable from Revenues, 
including without limitation, indebtedness under leases which are treated as capital leases under 
generally accepted accounting principles.  In providing the certificate described in clause (ii), the 
Qualified Independent Consultant may take into account the factors described in the last two 
sentences of subsection (c) of this Section. 
 
  (e) An Opinion of Counsel satisfactory to the Authority subject to customary 
exceptions and qualifications, approving the form of the resolution authorizing the issuance of 
the Parity Bonds and stating that its terms and provisions conform with the requirements of this 
Agreement and that the certificates and documents delivered to the Authority constitute 
compliance with the provisions of this Section. 
 
 Section 10.6. Further Assurances.  The Borrower shall to the fullest extent permitted 
by law pass, make, do, execute, acknowledge and deliver such further resolutions, acts, deeds, 
conveyances, assignments, transfers and assurances as may be necessary or desirable for the 
better assuring, conveying, granting, assigning and confirming the rights, Revenues and other 
funds pledged or assigned by this Agreement, or as may be required to carry out the purposes of 
this Agreement.  The Borrower shall at all times, to the fullest extent permitted by law, defend, 
preserve and protect the pledge of the Revenues and other funds pledged under this Agreement 
and all rights of the Authority and the Board under this Agreement against all claims and 
demands of all persons. 



 
 Section 10.7. Other Indebtedness.  The Borrower agrees to pay when due all amounts 
required by any other bonded indebtedness and to perform all of its obligations in connection 
therewith. 
 
 Section 10.8. Assignment by Borrower.  The Borrower may not assign its rights under 
this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Authority and the Board.  If the 
Borrower desires to assign its rights under this Agreement to another “local government” (as 
defined in the Act), the Borrower shall give notice of such fact to the Authority and the Board.  If 
the Authority and the Board consent to the proposed assignment, the Borrower may proceed with 
the proposed assignment, but such assignment shall not become effective until the Authority and 
the Board are furnished (i) an assumption agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the 
Authority and the Board by which the assignee agrees to assume all of the Borrower’s 
obligations under the Local Bond and this Agreement, and (ii) an Opinion of Counsel to the 
assignee, subject to customary exceptions and qualifications, that the assumption agreement, the 
Local Bond and this Agreement constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the assignee 
enforceable against the assignee in accordance with their terms and that the assignment and 
assumption comply in all respects with the provisions of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the assignment of the rights of the Borrower under the Local Bond and this 
Agreement or the assumption of the obligations thereunder by the assignee shall in no way be 
construed as releasing the Borrower’s obligations. 
 
 Section 10.9. Davis-Bacon Act.  The Borrower agrees to comply with the Davis-Bacon 
Act and related acts, as amended, with respect to the Project and require that all laborers and 
mechanics employed by contractors and subcontractors for the Project shall be paid wages at 
rates not less than those prevailing on projects of a similar character, as determined by the United 
States Secretary of Labor in accordance with Section 1450(e) of the Safe Drinking Water Act 
and related acts, as amended. 
 

Section 10.10. American Iron and Steel.  The Borrower agrees to comply with all 
federal requirements, including those imposed by the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014, 
P.L. 113-76, and related Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Policy Guidelines, as amended 
and supplemented and in effect from time to time, with respect to the Project.  Such requirements 
include, among other things, that all iron and steel products used for the Project are to be 
produced in the United States.  The term “iron and steel products” is defined to mean the 
following products made primarily of iron or steel: lined or unlined pipes and fittings, manhole 
covers and  other municipal castings, hydrants, tanks, flanges, pipe clamps and restraints, valves, 
structural steel, reinforced precast concrete and construction materials. 

 
Section 10.11. Recordkeeping and Reporting.  The Borrower agrees to comply with all 

recordkeeping and reporting requirements under the Safe Drinking Water Act and related acts, as 
amended, including any reports required by a federal agency or the Authority, such as 
performance indicators of program deliverables, information on costs and progress with respect 
to the Project.  The Borrower acknowledges that each contract and subcontract related to the 
Project is subject to audit by appropriate federal and state entities. 



 
Section 10.12. Service Contracts.  The Borrower shall give prompt notice to the 

Authority of any renewal, extension, amendment, default or termination of any of the Service 
Contracts.  The Borrower shall enforce the terms of such agreements and use its best efforts to 
ensure that such agreements remain in full force and effect during the term of this Agreement. 

 
Section 10.13.   Waterworks Business Operations Plan and Rate Study.  The 

Borrower shall provide evidence satisfactory to the Authority and the Department that the 
Borrower on or before March 31, 2020 has presented a final rate study to the Board of Directors of 
the Borrower and the County Administrator, which rate study shall project and recommend rates for 
a five-year period commencing with the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2021 (the “Rate Study”) that 
satisfy the Rate Covenant.  The Rate Study shall take into account any proposed debt and future 
projects of the Borrower.  The Borrower shall also promptly provide a copy of the Rate Study to the 
Authority and the Department.  Furthermore, the Borrower shall submit a Waterworks Business 
Operations Plan to the Department as required by Section 32.1-172 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, 
as amended, on or before March 31, 2020 for review. 
 
 

ARTICLE XI 
DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

 
 Section 11.1. Events of Default.  Each of the following events shall be an “Event of 
Default”: 
 
  (a) The failure to pay when due any payment of principal or Cost of Funds 
due hereunder or to make any other payment required to be made under the Local Bond or this 
Agreement; 
 
  (b) The Borrower’s failure to perform or observe any of the other covenants, 
agreements or conditions of the Local Bond, the Support Agreement or this Agreement and the 
continuation of such failure for a period of thirty (30) days after the Authority gives the 
Borrower written notice specifying such failure and requesting that it be cured, unless the 
Authority shall agree in writing to an extension of such time prior to its expiration; provided, 
however, if the failure stated in the notice is correctable but cannot be corrected within the 
applicable period, the Authority will not unreasonably withhold its consent to an extension of 
such time if corrective action is instituted by the Borrower within the applicable period and 
diligently pursued until the Default is corrected; 
 
  (c) Any warranty, representation or other statement by or on behalf of 
Borrower contained in this Agreement or in any instrument furnished in compliance with or in 
reference to this Agreement or in connection with the issuance and sale of the Local Bond is 
false or misleading in any material respect; 
 
  (d) The early termination of the Funding Agreement pursuant to Sections 
5.3(b) and (c) thereof. 
 



  (e) The occurrence of a default by the Borrower under the terms of any 
Subordinate Bonds, Parity Bonds, Existing Parity Bonds or Prior Bonds and the failure to cure 
such default or obtain a waiver thereof within any period of time permitted thereunder; 
 
  (f) An order or decree shall be entered, with the Borrower’s consent or 
acquiescence, appointing a receiver or receivers of the System or any part thereof or of the 
Revenues thereof, or if such order or decree, having been entered without the Borrower’s consent 
or acquiescence, shall not be vacated, discharged or stayed on appeal within sixty (60) days after 
the entry thereof; 
 
  (g) Any proceeding shall be instituted, with the Borrower’s consent or 
acquiescence, for the purpose of effecting a composition between the Borrower and its creditors 
or for the purpose of adjusting the claims of such creditors, pursuant to any federal or state 
statute now or hereafter enacted, if the claims of such creditors are under any circumstances 
secured by or payable from Revenues; or 
 
  (h) Any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar proceeding shall be instituted 
by or against the Borrower under any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency law now or 
hereinafter in effect and, if instituted against the Borrower, is not dismissed within sixty (60) 
days after filing. 
 
 Section 11.2. Notice of Default.  The Borrower agrees to give the Authority prompt 
written notice if any order, decree or proceeding referred to in Section 11.1(f), (g) or (h) is 
entered or instituted against the Borrower or of the occurrence of any other event or condition 
which constitutes a Default or an Event of Default immediately upon becoming aware of the 
existence thereof. 
 
 Section 11.3. Remedies on Default.  Whenever any Event of Default referred to in 
Section 11.1 shall have happened and be continuing, the Authority shall, in addition to any other 
remedies provided herein or by law, including rights specified in Section 62.1-237 of the Act, 
have the right, at its option without any further demand or notice, to take one or both of the 
following remedial steps: 
 
  (a) Declare immediately due and payable all payments due or to become due 
on the Local Bond and under this Agreement, and upon notice to the Borrower, the same shall 
become immediately due and payable by the Borrower without further notice or demand; and 
 
  (b) Take whatever other action at law or in equity may appear necessary or 
desirable to collect the payments then due and thereafter to become due on the Local Bond and 
under this Agreement, to enforce any other of the Fund’s, the Authority’s or the Board’s rights 
under this Agreement, or to enforce performance by the Borrower of its covenants, agreements 
or undertakings contained herein or in the Local Bond, which the Borrower hereby agrees are 
assigned to the Authority upon the occurrence of an Event of Default. 
 
 Section 11.4. Delay and Waiver.  No delay or omission to exercise any right or power 
accruing upon any Default or Event of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be 



construed to be a waiver of any such Default or Event of Default or acquiescence therein, and 
every such right or power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed 
expedient.  No waiver of any Default or Event of Default under this Agreement shall extend to or 
shall affect any subsequent Default or Event of Default or shall impair any rights or remedies 
consequent thereto. 
 

Section 11.5. State Aid Intercept.  The Borrower acknowledges that the Authority may 
take any and all actions available to it under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, 
including Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code, to secure payment of the principal of and 
Cost of Funds on the Local Bond, if payment of such principal or Cost of Funds shall not be paid 
when the same shall become due and payable. 

 
 

ARTICLE XII 
MISCELLANEOUS 

 
 Section 12.1. Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to 
the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties and their respective successors and assigns. 
 
 Section 12.2. Amendments.  The Authority and the Borrower, with the written consent 
of the Department, shall have the right to amend from time to time any of the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, provided that all amendments shall be in writing and shall be 
signed by or on behalf of the Authority and the Borrower; provided, however, that the written 
consent of the Department shall not be required for the Authority and the Borrower to amend 
Articles I, V, IX and XI or Sections 10.4 and 10.5 of this Agreement. 
 
 Section 12.3. Limitation of Borrower’s Liability.  Notwithstanding anything in the 
Local Bond or this Agreement to the contrary, the Borrower’s obligations are not its general 
obligations, but are limited obligations payable solely from the Revenues which are specifically 
pledged for such purpose.  Neither the Local Bond nor this Agreement shall be deemed to create 
or constitute a debt or a pledge of the faith and credit of the Borrower and the Borrower shall not 
be obligated to pay the principal of or Cost of Funds on the Local Bond or other costs incident 
thereto except from the Revenues and other funds pledged therefor.  In the absence of fraud, no 
present or future director, official, officer, employee or agent of the Borrower shall be liable 
personally in respect of this Agreement or the Local Bond or for any other action taken by such 
individual pursuant to or in connection with the financing provided for in this Agreement or the 
Local Bond. 
 
 Section 12.4. Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the applicable 
laws of Virginia. 
 
 Section 12.5. Severability.  If any clause, provision or section of this Agreement shall 
be held illegal or invalid by any court, the illegality or invalidity of such clause, provision or 
Section shall not affect the remainder of this Agreement which shall be construed and enforced 
as if such illegal or invalid clause, provision or section had not been contained in this Agreement.  
If any agreement or obligation contained in this Agreement is held to be in violation of law, then 



such agreement or obligation shall be deemed to be the agreement or obligation of the Authority 
and the Borrower, as the case may be, only to the extent permitted by law. 
 
 Section 12.6. Notices.  Unless otherwise provided for herein, all demands, notices, 
approvals, consents, requests, opinions and other communications under the Local Bond or this 
Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given when delivered in person 
or mailed by first class registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 
 
 Fund:   Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund 

c/o Virginia Resources Authority 
1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920 
Richmond, VA  23219 
Attention:  Executive Director 

 
 Authority:  Virginia Resources Authority 

1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920 
Richmond, VA  23219 
Attention:  Executive Director 

 
 Board:   Virginia Department of Health 

109 Governor Street 
Richmond, VA  23219 
Attention:  State Health Commissioner 

 
Borrower:  The Russell County Public Service Authority 

____________________ 
__________, Virginia  _____ 
Attention:  Chairman 

 
A duplicate copy of each demand, notice, approval, consent, request, opinion or other 
communication given by any party named in this Section shall also be given to each of the other 
parties named.  The Authority, the Board and the Borrower may designate, by notice given 
hereunder, any further or different addresses to which subsequent demands, notices, approvals, 
consents, requests, opinions or other communications shall be sent or persons to whose attention 
the same shall be directed. 
 
 Section 12.7. Right to Cure Default.  If the Borrower shall fail to make any payment or 
to perform any act required by it under the Local Bond or this Agreement, the Authority without 
prior notice to or demand upon the Borrower and without waiving or releasing any obligation or 
default, may (but shall be under no obligation to) make such payment or perform such act.  All 
amounts so paid by the Authority and all costs, fees and expenses so incurred shall be payable by 
the Borrower as an additional obligation under this Agreement, together with interest thereon at 
the rate of interest of five percent (5.0%) per annum until paid.  The Borrower’s obligation under 
this Section shall survive the payment of the Local Bond. 
 



 Section 12.8. Headings.  The headings of the several articles and sections of this 
Agreement are inserted for convenience only and do not comprise a part of this Agreement. 
 
 Section 12.9. Term of Agreement.  This Agreement shall be effective upon its 
execution and delivery, provided that the Local Bond previously or simultaneously shall have 
been executed and delivered.  Except as otherwise specified, the Borrower’s obligations under 
the Local Bond and this Agreement shall expire upon payment in full of the Local Bond and all 
other amounts payable by the Borrower under this Agreement. 
 
 Section 12.10. Commitment Letter.  The Commitment Letter is an integral part of this 
Agreement and shall survive closing hereunder. 
 
 Section 12.11. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one 
and the same instrument. 
 
 

[Signature Page Follows] 



 
 WITNESS the following signatures, all duly authorized. 
 
 

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, as 
Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving 
Fund 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 

 
 
 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE 
AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 

 
 
 



 
EXHIBIT A 

 
FORM OF LOCAL BOND 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project) 

WSL-020-18 
 
 

[To Come from Borrower’s Bond Counsel] 
 



 
EXHIBIT B 

 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project) 

WSL-020-18 
 
 
 The Project includes financing the replacement of water lines in the Glade Hollow 
community and the extension of water service to the Glade Hill community, together with related 
expenses.   
 



EXHIBIT C 
 

PROJECT BUDGET 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project) 
WSL-020-18 

 
 

[To Be Provided] 



EXHIBIT D 
 

OPINION OF BORROWER’S BOND COUNSEL 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project) 
WSL-020-18 

 
[To Come from Borrower’s Bond Counsel] 

 



EXHIBIT E 
 

REQUISITION FOR DISBURSEMENT 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project) 
WSL-020-18 

 
 

[LETTERHEAD OF BORROWER] 
 

[Date] 
 
__________, Director 
Office of Drinking Water, 6th Floor 
Virginia Department of Health 
109 Governor Street 
Richmond, VA 23219 
 
Re: Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund 
 The Russell County Public Service Authority 
 Loan No. WSL-020-18 
 
Dear Mr./Ms. __________: 
 
 This requisition, Number ___, is submitted in connection with the Financing Agreement and 
Funding Agreement, each dated as of __________ 1, 2019 (together, the “Agreements”) between the 
Virginia Resources Authority, as Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund (the 
“Fund”), and The Russell County Public Service Authority (the “Borrower”).  Unless otherwise 
defined in this requisition, all capitalized terms used herein shall have the meaning set forth in 
Article I of the Agreements.  The undersigned Authorized Representative of the Borrower hereby 
requests disbursement of loan proceeds under the Agreements in the amount of $___________, for 
the purposes of payment of the Project Costs as set forth on Schedule 1 attached hereto. 
 
 Attached hereto are invoices relating to the items for which payment is requested. 
 
 The undersigned certifies that (a) the amounts requested by this requisition will be applied 
solely and exclusively to the payment, or the reimbursement of the Borrower for the payment, of 
Project Costs, and (b) any materials, supplies or equipment covered by this requisition are not 
subject to any lien or security interest or such lien or security interest will be released upon payment 
of the requisition.  In addition, the undersigned certifies that the Borrower has conducted adequate 
oversight for compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act and related acts through (a) the review of 
payrolls and associated certifications, and (b) the posting of all wage determinations and additional 
classifications (as appropriate) on the work site, and through this oversight, the Borrower has 
determined to the best of its ability that the Project complies with the requirements of the Davis-
Bacon Act and related acts.  The Borrower further certifies that all products included in this request 
satisfy the appropriate provisions of the American Iron and Steel requirements included in the 
Agreement. 
  



The undersigned further certifies that (a) no Event of Default or Default has occurred and is 
continuing, and no condition exists which, with the passing of time or with the giving of notice or 
both, would constitute an Event of Default hereunder, and (b) the representations and warranties of 
the Borrower contained in the Agreements are true, correct and complete and the Borrower has 
performed all of its obligations thereunder required to be performed as of the date hereof. 

 
This requisition includes an accompanying Certificate of the Consulting Engineer as to the 

performance of the work. 
 

Sincerely, 
 
___________________________________________ 
(Authorized Representative of the Borrower) 

 
Attachments 
cc: VDH Project Engineer (with all attachments) 



 
 

CERTIFICATE OF THE CONSULTING ENGINEER 
 

FORM TO ACCOMPANY REQUEST FOR DISBURSEMENT 
 

 
Loan No. WSL-020-18 
 
 This Certificate is submitted in connection with Requisition Number ____, dated _________, 
20__, submitted by The Russell County Public Service Authority.  Capitalized terms used herein shall 
have the same meanings set forth in Article I of the Agreements referred to in the Requisition. 

 
 The undersigned Consulting Engineer for the Borrower hereby certifies that insofar as the 
amounts covered by this Requisition include payments for labor or to contractors, builders or 
materialmen, such work was actually performed or such materials, supplies or equipment were actually 
furnished to or installed in the Project. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
             SEAL                        

 
   
 
      ______________________________ 
        [Consulting Engineer] 
 
 
      Date: ________________________ 



SCHEDULE 1 
VIRGINIA WATER SUPPLY REVOLVING FUND 

FORM TO ACCOMPANY REQUEST FOR DISBURSEMENT 
 

REQUISITION # ________ 
BORROWER: THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
LOAN NUMBER:  WSL-020-18 
CERTIFYING SIGNATURE: ______________________________ 
TITLE: ______________________________________ 
 

Cost Category 
 
 
 

Amount 
Budgeted 

 
 

Previous 
Disbursements 

 
 

Expenditures 
This 

Period 
 

Total 
Expenditures 

to Date 
 

Net Balance 
Remaining 

 
 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

TOTALS:                            

 
Total Loan Amount $_________________ 

Previous Disbursements $_________________ 
This Request $_________________ 

Loan Proceeds Remaining $_________________ 



EXHIBIT F 
 

PRIOR BONDS AND EXISTING PARITY BONDS 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project) 
WSL-020-18 

 
 

[To Be Completed by Borrower’s Bond Counsel] 
 

Prior Bonds: 
 
None 

 
 
Existing Parity Bonds: 
 



 
EXHIBIT G 

 
FORM OF BUDGET 

THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 
(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project) 

WSL-020-18 
 
 

(To Be on Borrower’s Letterhead) 
 

[Date] 
 
Executive Director 
Virginia Resources Authority 
1111 East Main Street, Suite 1920 
Richmond, VA  23219 
 
Dear Mr./Ms. __________: 
 

Pursuant to the Financing Agreement[s] between Virginia Resources Authority and The 
Russell County Public Service Authority, a copy of the fiscal year [20xx] annual budget is 
enclosed.  Such annual budget provides for the satisfaction of the rate covenant as demonstrated 
below. 
 

Revenues1 Operation & Maintenance 
Expense 

Net Revenues Available 
for Debt Service 
( Revenues – O&M Expense) 

Debt Service Coverage 
(Net Revenues Available for 
Debt Service/Debt Service) 

     

__________________________________________ 
1  Of the amount set forth here as Revenues, $_________ is derived from a transfer from the County of Russell,     
   Virginia’s general fund pursuant to the Support Agreement. 
 
 
 All capitalized terms used herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Financing 
Agreement[s]. 
 
Very truly yours, 
 
 
 
        
By: __________________________ 
 
        
Its: _________________________ 



EXHIBIT H 
 

SUPPORT AGREEMENT 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY 

(Glade Hollow Water Line Replacement/Glade Hill Water Service Extension Project) 
WSL-020-18 

 
 
THIS SUPPORT AGREEMENT is made as of the first day of __________, 2019, by 

and among the BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF RUSSELL COUNTY, VIRGINIA (the 
“Board”), acting as the governing body of Russell County, Virginia (the “County”), THE 
RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY (the “Borrower”), and the 
VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY (the “Authority”), as Administrator of the 
VIRGINIA WATER SUPPLY REVOLVING FUND (the “Fund”) and as purchaser of the 
Local Bond, as hereinafter defined, pursuant to a Financing Agreement dated as of the date 
hereof (the “Financing Agreement”), between the Authority and the Borrower. 
 

RECITALS: 
 
 WHEREAS, the Borrower was created by the Board pursuant to the Virginia Water and 
Waste Authorities Act (Chapter 51, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended) and owns 
and operates the System in the County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Borrower has determined that it is in its best interest to issue and sell a 
water and sewer system revenue bond in an original aggregate principal amount not to exceed 
$_____ (the “Local Bond”) to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund, pursuant to the terms 
of the Financing Agreement in order to finance the Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board adopted on __________, 2019, a resolution authorizing, among 
other things, the execution of an agreement providing for a non-binding obligation of the Board 
to consider certain appropriations in support of the Local Bond and the Project. 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual 
covenants herein set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows:  
 
  1. Unless otherwise defined, each capitalized term used in this Support Agreement 
shall have the meaning given it in the Financing Agreement. 
 
  2. The Borrower shall use its best efforts to issue the Local Bond, to use the 
proceeds thereof to pay the costs of the Project, and to construct and place the Project in 
operation at the earliest practical date. 
 
  3. No later than May 15 of each year, beginning May 15, 20__, the Borrower shall 
notify the Board of the amount (the “Annual Deficiency Amount”) by which the Borrower 
reasonably expects the Revenues to be insufficient to pay (i) the debt service obligations under 
the Financing Agreement, the Local Bond and any other indebtedness secured by or payable 



from the Revenues, including the Existing Parity Bonds set forth on Exhibit F to the Financing 
Agreement, (ii) the Operation and Maintenance Expense, and (iii) the Additional Payments in 
full as and when due during the County’s fiscal year beginning the following July 1. 

 
 4. The County Administrator of the County (the “County Administrator”) shall 

include the Annual Deficiency Amount in his budget submitted to the Board for the following 
fiscal year as an amount to be appropriated to or on behalf of the Borrower.  The County 
Administrator shall deliver to the Authority within ten days after the adoption of the County’s 
budget for each fiscal year, but not later than July 15 of each year, a certificate stating whether 
the Board has appropriated to or on behalf of the Borrower an amount equal to the Annual 
Deficiency Amount. 
 
  5. If at any time Revenues shall be insufficient to make any of the payments referred 
to in paragraph 3 hereof, the Borrower shall notify the County Administrator of the amount of 
such insufficiency and the County Administrator shall request a supplemental appropriation from 
the Board in the amount necessary to make such payment.  
 
  6. The County Administrator shall present each request for appropriation pursuant to 
paragraph 5 above to the Board, and the Board shall consider such request, at the Board’s next 
regularly scheduled meeting at which it is possible to satisfy any applicable notification 
requirement.  Promptly after such meeting, the County Administrator shall notify the Authority 
as to whether the amount so requested was appropriated.  If the Board shall fail to make any such 
appropriation, the County Administrator shall add the amount of such requested appropriation to 
the Annual Deficiency Amount reported to the County by the County Administrator for the 
County’s next fiscal year.  
 
  7. The Board hereby undertakes a non-binding obligation to appropriate such 
amounts as may be requested from time to time pursuant to paragraphs 4 and 5 above, to the 
fullest degree and in such manner as is consistent with the Constitution and laws of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia.  The Board, while recognizing that it is not empowered to make any 
binding commitment to make such appropriations in future fiscal years, hereby states its intent to 
make such appropriations in future fiscal years, and hereby recommends that future Boards of 
Supervisors do likewise.  
 



 8. The Board acknowledges that (i) the Authority would not purchase the Local 
Bond without the security and credit enhancement provided by this Agreement, and (ii) the 
Authority is treating this Agreement as a “local obligation” within the meaning of Section 62.1-
199 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the “Virginia Code”), which in the event of a 
nonpayment hereunder authorizes the Authority to file an affidavit with the Governor that such 
nonpayment has occurred pursuant to Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code.  In purchasing 
the Local Bond, the Authority is further relying on Section 62.1-216.1 of the Virginia Code, 
providing that if  the Governor is satisfied that the nonpayment has occurred, the Governor will 
immediately make an order directing the Comptroller to withhold all further payment to 
the County of all funds, or of any part of them, appropriated and payable by the Commonwealth 
of Virginia to the County for any and all purposes, and the Governor will, while the nonpayment 
continues, direct in writing the payment of all sums withheld by the Comptroller, or as much of 
them as is necessary, to the Authority, so as to cure, or cure insofar as possible, such 
nonpayment. 
 
  9. Nothing herein contained is or shall be deemed to be a lending of the credit of the 
County to the Borrower, the Authority or to any holder of the Local Bond or to any other person, 
and nothing herein contained is or shall be deemed to be a pledge of the faith and credit or the 
taxing power of the County, nor shall anything herein contained legally bind or obligate the 
Board to appropriate funds for the purposes described herein.  
 
  10. Any notices or requests required to be given hereunder shall be deemed given if 
sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed (i) if to the County, to 
____________________, Attention: County Administrator, (ii) if to the Borrower, to 
____________________, Attention:  Chairman, and (iii) if to the Authority, to 1111 East Main 
Street, Suite 1920, Richmond, Virginia, 23219, Attention: Executive Director.  Any party may 
designate any other address for notices or requests by giving notice.  
 
 11. It is the intent of the parties hereto that this Agreement shall be governed by the 
laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.  

 
 12. This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect until the Local Bond and all 
other amounts payable by the Borrower under the Financing Agreement have been paid in full.  
 
 13. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which 
shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 
 
 

[Signature page follows] 
 



 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have each caused this Agreement to be 
executed in their respective names as of the date first above written.  
 
 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF RUSSELL COUNTY, 
VIRGINIA 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 
 
    
 
THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE 
AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 
 

 
 

VIRGINIA RESOURCES AUTHORITY, as 
Administrator of the Virginia Water Supply Revolving 
Fund 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________ 

 
 
 



Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight









?>

Courtesy of VGIN , Commonwealth of VirginiaCourtesy of VGIN , Commonwealth of VirginiaCourtesy of VGIN , Commonwealth of Virginia www.interactiveGIS.com Printed 11/17/2020

Little League Field (Behind Mexican Restaurant)

00000 25 ft25 ft25 ft25 ft25 ft 50 ft50 ft50 ft50 ft50 ft



?>

Courtesy of VGIN , Commonwealth of VirginiaCourtesy of VGIN , Commonwealth of VirginiaCourtesy of VGIN , Commonwealth of Virginia www.interactiveGIS.com Printed 11/17/2020

Little League Fields

00000 100 ft100 ft100 ft100 ft100 ft 200 ft200 ft200 ft200 ft200 ft



Tracy
Rectangle



 

Board of Supervisors Action Item B-1 – B-13 
   137 Highland Drive Presenter: Administrator 

Lebanon, VA 24266 

                   Meeting: 12/9/20         6:00 PM 
 

 

County Administrator Reports & Requests 
The County Administrator Reports & Request for December 2020: 

 
REPORTS 
 
1. Russell County CARES Fund Financial Summary………………………………...B-1 

 
2. RC Abstract of Votes……………………………………………………………………B-2 

 
3. VDOT Secondary System Construction Six-Year Plan……………………………B-3 

 
4. Honaker & Castlewood Canneries……………………………………………………B-4 

 
5. RC Planning Commission’s Comprehensive Plan…………………………………B-5 

 
REQUESTS 

  
6. Russell County “CARES” Business Grants..……………………………………….B-6 

 
7. VDOT – Discontinuance of Rte. 671 and Rte. 678………………………………….B-7 

 
8. CARES Act Funding to Fast Track Broadband Projects Grant………………….B-8 

 
9. Litter Prevention & Recycling Grant………………………………………………….B-9 

 
10. RC Emergency Operations Center Generator Grant..................…………………B-10 

 
11. CPRHA Payment in Lieu of Taxes for Pittston Place & HUD Development…...B-11 

 
12. RC BOS Annual Employee Turkey……………………………………………………B-12 

 
13. 2020 Holiday Leave Schedule.…………………………………………………………B-13 

 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s): 
Board Discretion.  
 
SUGGESTED MOTION(s): 
Board Discretion.  

 
 
 
 
 

 

Russell County Government Center 
137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 

www.russellcountyva.us 

http://www.russellcountyva.us/
http://www.russellcountyva.us/


RUSSELL COUNTY                                                                                                                                             
"CARES" FUND ACCOUNT                                                                                                                                           

MARCH 1, 2020 - DECMEMBER 31, 2020                                                                                                 
Compiled:  November 2, 2020

 

RUSSELL COUNTY "CARES" RELIEF FUND TOTAL:  $4,639,052 

Town's CARES Fund (Transferred to Towns)  
Town of Lebanon $533,027
Town of Honaker $241,694
Town of Cleveland $34,329
Town of Saint Paul $30,154
Town's CARES Fund Totals $839,204

County Operational Expenses  
Medical and Protective Supplies (masks, hand sanitizer stations & refills, and gloves, etc.) $214,652
Payroll for Public Personnel (Public personnel dedicatedto Covid-19 responses - EMS, Sheriffs Office, 911 Staff, County Staff, 
Disposal Staff, Janitorial Staff, etc.) $1,655,321
Voter Registrar's Office (processing absentee ballots) $0
Health & Human Services $0
COVID-related Expenditures $7,500
Operational Expenses Totals $1,877,473

Public Facility Safety Modifications  
Cleaning Supplies & Services  (Hiring part-time staff; sanitizing meeting rooms, courts, and government facilities) $252,026
New Medical/Emergency Response  Equipment $107,250
Decontamination Equipment $165,000
Safety Modifications to Public Buildings (Touchless Entry Systems, Plexiglass Screening, Air Filters, etc.) $33,655
Public Facility Safety Modifications Totals $557,931

Business Support & Recovery  
Small Business Grant Program $260,000
PPE Kits for Businesses $0
Creation of Safe Public Spaces $227,000
Business Support & Recovery Totals $487,000



Community Assistance Programs  
Nonprofit Support  & Community Partnerships (Food Pantries) $160,000
Housing/ Homelessness $0
Volunteer Fire and Rescue Squads (5 Rescue Squads & 8 Fire Squads) $415,000
Community Assistance Programs Totals $575,000

School System Response & Adaptation $125,000

Technology & Telework  
Telework Equipment (remote meeting equipment, laptops, etc.) $52,896
Upgrade Financial Software (online bill paying) $22,000
WIFI Upgrade $0
Techology & Telwork Totals $74,896

Other Covid-19 Related Expenses  
Local match on COVID expenditures $0
Regional Jail Expenses $0
Legal  Expenses $14,250
Secure a Line of Credit $0
Other Covid-19 Related Expenses Totals $14,250

Broadband Projects  
Extend Hot Spots $16,875
Broadband Projects Totals $16,875

CARES Funds as Grant Match  
Plan to use CARES Funds to Leverage other Grant Programs $0
CARES Funds as Grant Match Totals $0

CARES Fund Account  

Total CARES Expenditures To-Date (11/2/2020) $4,567,629

CARES Fund Balance:  (11/2/2020) $71,423















VDOT 6 YEAR PLAN UPDATE 

NOVEMBER 30, 2020 

FY 20 / 21 & FY 21 / 22 Six Year Plans 

Due to the impacts of the Corona Virus pandemic, the 6 Year Plan process did not occur as it normally does this 

past spring for the FY 20 / 21 plan. However, we are now in position to move forward with the process.  

VDOT’s goal is hold a public hearing for the plan in January 2021 for the FY 20 / 21 plan. At this time, we 

anticipate the FY 21 / 22 plan to move forward as it normally would in the April – June 2021 time frame. 

FY 20 / 21 Plan 

Russell County’s allocation for the FY 20 / 21 plan was $177,658 allocated in FY 25/26.  Based on the funds in 

the allocation and desired turn-around time for the public hearing, the funds were added to the last project 

currently on the plan, which is Lower Copper Creek, Route 678 (UPC 115384) 

Thomas Warner Bridge / Route 679 (UPC 110904) Projects will be fully funded July 1, 2021 and scheduled for 

construction in 2021. Tumbez Hollow / Route 679 (UPC 113035) is partially funded in 2021.  

FY 21 / 22 Plan 

At this time we do not know what the allocation to the County’s six year plan for FY 21 / 22 will be. However, 

we do anticipate a return to the normal historical process this spring for the FY 21 / 22 plan with a public 

hearing in May. Additional funds have previously been allocated to Tumbez Hollow for FY 21 / 22, but based on 

the current estimate, the project would not be fully funded until FY 22 / 23.  

The Board may want to consider dividing Tumbez Hollow into two phases. We will be revisiting the cost 

estimates for the projects currently on the plan and adjusting as appropriate over the next few months. As part 

of this effort we will look at the feasibility of dividing Tumbez into two logical phases.  

Also through the next few months we will be reviewing the existing gravel roads in the County and propose 

potential roads to be added as part of the FY 21 / 22 plan (funds would most likely not be available until the 

last year of the plan).  A workshop with County staff and the Board of Supervisors could also be scheduled to 

review potential additions and select routes should be the Board desire to do so.  

 

 

 

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight



Route Previous Additional Balance to

PPMS ID Funding Funding complete

Accomplishment Required

Type of Funds SSYP Funding 2021-22 2024-25

Type of Project Other Funding

Priority # Ad Date Total

Rt.9999 PE $0

Total $0 $1,430,769 ($1,430,769) $0 $0 $0 $0 ($1,430,769)

9999.99 0.0

Rt.0834 Jackie Dye Road PE $0

State forces/Hired 

equip CN Only

End State Maint. 

9999.99 0.7 8/1/2023

109170 0779083968 RW $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

S Rte. 603 Total $160,000 $45,958 $89,042 $89,042 $0 $0 $0 $0

State forces/Hired 

equip CN Only

End State Maint. 

9999.99 0.3 8/1/2023

Rt.0679 Thomas Warner Bridge Rd PE $0

State forces/Hired 

equip CN Only

Rte. 613

9999.99 1.5 8/25/2023

District: Bristol SECONDARY SYSTEM CONSTRUCTION PROGRAM (in dollars)

County: Russell County

Board Approval Date: 2020-21 through 2024-25

Road Name Estimated Cost PROJECTED FISCAL YEAR ALLOCATIONS

Project #

Description

FROM 2020-21 2022-23 2023-24 2025-26

TO

Length

-11498 9999961463 RW $0 $837,834 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

NOT APPLICABLE District Closeout Balance Entry - 

Bristol

CON $0 $592,935 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0

109168 0834083967 RW $0 $260,840 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

STATE 

FORCES/HIRED 

EQUIPMENT

RTE. 834 - Blade, Ditch and 

Surface-treat

CON $320,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

S Rte. 632 Total $190,000 $245,446 $74,554 $74,554 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Rt.0779 Davis Hankins Lane PE $0

$0

STATE 

FORCES/HIRED 

EQUIPMENT

RTE. 779 - Blade, Ditch and 

Surface-treat

CON $160,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0

110904 0679083P72 RW $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

STATE 

FORCES/HIRED 

EQUIPMENT

Rte. 679 (Thomas Warner Bridge 

Rd) Rural Rustic.

CON $585,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

1.50 Miles West Rte. 613 Total $585,000 $0 $575,000 $263,240 $321,760 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Page 1 of 2 

Tracy
Highlight



State forces/Hired 

equip CN Only

824

9999.99 0.9 10/11/2024

State forces/Hired 

equip CN Only

1.3 Mi. S. Rte. 609

9999.99 1.3 12/27/2024

State forces/Hired 

equip CN Only

1 Mi. E. Rte. 606

9999.99 1.0 12/16/2025

Rt.0679 Tumbez Hollow Rd. PE $0

113035 0679083976 RW $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

STATE 

FORCES/HIRED 

EQUIPMENT

Rte. 679 (Tumbez Hollow Rd) 

Rural Rustic

CON $595,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0613 Total $595,000 $0 $595,000 $0 $115,415 $413,879 $65,706 $0 $0

Rt.0606 Blanch Davis PE $0

115383 0606083979 RW $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

STATE 

FORCES/HIRED 

EQUIPMENT

Rte. 606 - Blade, Ditch and pave CON $500,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Rte. 609 Total $595,000 $0 $595,000 $0 $0 $0 $322,767 $272,233 $0 $0

Rt.0678 Lower Copper Creek PE $0

115384 0678083980 RW $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

STATE 

FORCES/HIRED 

EQUIPMENT

Rte. 678 - Blade, DItch and pave CON $300,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Rte. 606 Total $582,658 $0 $582,658 $0$0 $0 $0 $0 $116,240 $466,418

CON $0 $0

Total $0

$0$0 $0 $0 $0

$0

$0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0$0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0

$0

TBD TBD PE

Next Priority - TBD Next Priority - TBD RW $0

Page 2 of 2 



 

  VIII - 1  

CHAPTER VIII  

GOALS AND OBJECTIVES  

A.  Goals  
  

In the previous chapter the Russell County Planning Commission inventoried and 

familiarized themselves with the economic, physical, and social elements of Russell County. In so 

doing, the Commission became familiar with the locational features in the County which 

contribute to its potential for growth and development. The Commission was also enabled to 

identify the barriers to growth, natural and manmade, which hinder the county from being able to 

achieve all that it desires for its citizens.  

The Commission discovered that others in the past have engaged in a process of 

“visioning” in order to provide citizen advice to county leaders. The conclusions from those efforts 

are included in this plan as advice and guidance for future use by the county.  

Russell County Development Group  
  

In 2007 a group called the Russell County Development Group, LLC was formed and 

tasked to prepare an Action Plan primarily to prepare Russell County for the economic, physical, 

and social impacts from two High-Technology firms (CGI & Northrup Grumman) locating in the 

Town of Lebanon.  

The Group prepared a document called the Regional Preparedness Action Plan. The plan 

covers twenty-two (22) subject matters which are prioritized into 5 groupings.  

Tier 1 Priority-Taking Immediate Actionable Steps-Subjects related directly to the 

implementation of the overall Plan and subjects that have the necessary resources most readily 

available in order to implement individually:  

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight



 

  VIII - 2  

Subject No.1:  
  

Process (for implementing the Plan)  

Subject No.2:  Geographic and Political Boundaries (mapping & data)  

Subject No. 3:  Census Statistics (data)  

Subject No. 5:  Economic Impact Analysis (to assist the planning process)  
  

Tier 2 Priority-Accommodating Urgent Growth Needs-Subjects related to urgent physical 
shortages but need additional resources and/or longer-term planning and approvals.  

Subject No. 4:  Citizen Participation (preparing for growth and change)  

Subject No. 8:  Land Use (effectively accommodating growth patterns)  

Subject No. 12:  Market Rate Housing (one new job=one new household)  

Subject No. 13:  Child Care (providing choices)  

Subject No. 20:  Wellness, Fitness, & Recreation (amenities for well-being)  
  

Tier 3 Priority-Facilitating Growth-Subjects related to on-going initiatives and 
improvements to continue meeting growth needs and sustainability.  

Subject No. 6:  Information  & Communications Technology (continuing the 
momentum)  

Subject No. 10:  Main Street Initiatives (New Ruralism)  

Subject No 14:  Hotels & Lodging (space for travelers)  

Subject No. 15:  Health   Care  (increasing  &  improving  levels  of service and  
accessibility)  

Tier 4 Priority-Continuing to Meet Needs -Subjects related to more in-depth strategies and 

heavily dependent upon prior Tier Groups.  

 Subject No. 17:  Infrastructure (heavily reliant upon comprehensive planning)  
 Subject No. 18:  Education (heavily reliant upon housing, planning, statistics)  

 Subject No. 19:  Food & Beverage Establishments (heavily reliant upon Economic  



 

  VIII - 3  

Impact Analysis)  
  

Tier 5 Priority-Transitioning to the 2027 Plan -Subjects related to long-term planning as 
the economic, social, and physical environments change.  

Subject No. 7:  Finance & Enticements (identifying the funding sources)  

Subject No. 9:  Social Issues (old kids + new kids = us kids)  

Subject No. 11:  
  

Transportation Issues (thoughtful planning)  

Subject No. 16:  
  

Entertainment & Leisure (things to do, places to see)  

Subject No. 21:  New Business Development (recruitment & Economic Gardening)  

Subject No. 22:  Branding (telling the story)  
Russell County Library Board Five Year Plan 2017 to 2022  

  
 The Russell County Library Board has a vision of the Library being the heart of our 

community, a hub for information, education, and resources serving all citizens of Russell County.  

The Russell County Public Library cultivates a community of lifelong learners through reading, 

digital connectivity, access to information resources, and programming.  To achieve this mission 

of the Library, the following goals are set forth: 

1.  Drive Early Childhood Literacy in our communities 

2. Offer computer technology & opportunities for digital learning 

3. Provide enrichment activities for youth to prevent educational losses during the summer 

4. Deliver opportunities to learn skills and gain knowledge at any age 

5. Develop and implement a technology strategic plan for the maintenance, replacement, 

and improvement of the library’s technology. 

6. Seek additional funding sources through grants 



 

  VIII - 4  

7. Create and deploy a marketing plan to increase awareness of library programs and 

services 

8. Create a more comfortable and creative physical environment in the main library 

9. Design and implement an annual assessment plan to determine how best to serve the 

Russell County citizenry 

 

**For more in depth information, refer to the complete Russell County Public Library’s 

Five Year Plan** 

 

 

The Russell County Library has sponsored a visioning process for several years to obtain 

information to be included in the Library Boards Strategic Plan for current and future programs. 

The following Goals and Objectives are from that Plan:  

Community Vision 2008 
  
1. Seniors will have stimulating activities.  

  
2. Seniors will have appropriate housing, transportation, recreation, and health care.  

  
3. Low income families will have access to diverse activities at low/no cost.  

  
4. Low motivated students have alternatives to ensure they complete school. (All students are 

motivated to learn.)  

5. Preschool children will have diverse and stimulating activities.  
6. Children will have adequate care available-preschool/after-school/summer [childcare!]  

  



 

  VIII - 5  

7. Children and teens will have opportunities for and access to the arts, culture, and our 

heritage.  

8. Children will be exposed to literature through programs like the Imagination Library.  
  
9. All adults will have a variety of   job opportunities (support for manufacturing, agriculture 

and mining.)  

10. All adults will have access to higher education.  
  
11. All citizens will have fitness and recreation opportunities.  

  
12. All citizens will appreciate our natural beauty by recycling, litter control, clean air and 

water.  
  
13. All citizens will have multicultural activities to expand diversity.  

  
14. All citizens will have outlets like restaurants/theaters/bowling alley for activity and 

socialization.  

15. All will have access to technology infrastructure.  
  

The Russell County Planning Commission  
  

The Planning Commission developed the following goals and objectives, as a guide for the 

specific actions and strategies for the development of Russell County that will be discussed in the 

next chapter of this Comprehensive Development Plan.  

16. Provide a suitable living environment for the current and future residents of Russell 
County.  

  
17. Encourage the wise use of the natural resources located in the County.  

  
18. Encourage the wise use of agricultural lands for their local economic impact, attractive 

landscape, and place in the county’s heritage.  



 

  VIII - 6  

19. Encourage the development of decent, safe, and sanitary housing that will meet current and 

future demand.  

20. Encourage the availability of housing to meet Russell County incomes, demographic  

attributes and ages.  

21. Provide for orderly development consistent with good land-use practices.  
  
22. Encourage the general quality of life consistent with a diverse economic base with 

opportunities for all residents.  

23. Promote development that will recognize the beauty of   the County’s natural areas and 

sustain a balance between man-made and natural ecology.  

B.  Objectives  
  

The objectives of the Russell County Comprehensive Development Plan are presented by 

subject category. Objectives are designed to be attainable. There attainment will relate to the 

fulfillment of a stated general goal. The objectives listed below are not necessarily presented in 

the order of their importance.  

Agricultural and Natural Resource Objectives  
  

Agriculture and coal have historically been the dominant factors determining settlement 

patterns of the county. These resources still play an important role in the economic and social 

activity in the county. Their impact is of lesser importance now than in the past. However, the 

importance of Russell County’s natural resources, agriculture, coal, timber, gas, water, wildlife, 

limestone, and landscape cannot be overstated.  



 

  VIII - 7  

It is necessary to understand that the development of Natural Resources have been 

important to the history of Russell County and they will be just as important to the county’s future.  

The Objectives for Agriculture and Natural Resources are:  
  

• Protect productive agricultural land from encroachment by residential, commercial, 

industrial, and recreational developments.  

• Encourage the development of residential, commercial, and industrial uses on marginal 

agricultural lands.  

• Encourage the use of best management practices that curtail soil erosion and protect surface 

and ground water supplies.  

• Encourage the establishment of programs that identify and preserve valuable lands from  

alternative uses.                                                                                           

• Encourage the development of enterprises that add value to existing ag production and 

promote diversification into additional agriculture businesses.  

Commercial Objectives  
  

The best description of commercial activity in Russell County would be that the market 

responded to the demand. Company stores with an inventory of general merchandise were located 

adjacent to company mines. General stores were also located within farming communities. That 

trend has changed somewhat. The community of Dante and the towns of Cleveland and Honaker 

all experienced a decrease in commercial activity due to the loss of employment in company mines 

and the growth of commercial activity in Lebanon and adjoining areas.  



 

  VIII - 8  

The commercial activity in the county with the exception of Lebanon appears to be 

gravitating towards major highway intersections and along major thoroughfares. Russell County’s 

objectives for commercial development are:  

  



•  

•  

  VIII - 9  

To encourage the development of commercial enterprises in the Towns and other places 

that provide municipal water and sewer.  

• To encourage the development of commercial enterprises consistent with the counties 

natural and man-made features.  

• To encourage the development of commercial centers to meet the needs of existing and 

future populations of the county and adjoining areas.  

• To encourage the development of commercial enterprises in or adjacent to the areas which 

they primarily serve.  

• To work with the Towns of Lebanon, Honaker, and Cleveland encouraging them to 

maximize their commercial potential.  

• To encourage commercial developments with limited access to adjacent through fares.  
  
• To consider the feasibility and implementation of a county business license.   

  
  

 

Industrial Objectives  
  

Manufacturing has been the single dominant source of employment in Russell County for 

the past thirty years. When you combine mining, construction, and public utilities with 

manufacturing to create the industrial category, the impact is approximately 50 percent of the jobs 

in the County. In order to maintain the broad employment base in the County, the Comprehensive 

Development Plan emphasizes continued development of the industrial sector. Russell County’s 

objectives for industrial development are:  



•  

•  

  VIII - 10  

• To continue to diversify the industrial base of employment.  
  
• To identify lands for industrial development that will have a minimal adverse impact on 

residential, agricultural, and natural resource development.  

• To protect existing and future industrial lands from non-industrial related activities.  
  
• To encourage the establishment of Industrial Parks with suitable infrastructure and 

adequate services.  

To encourage maintenance of Industrial Parks and sites that are attractive, safe, and 

accessible.  

• To encourage working with neighboring jurisdictions to jointly develop industrial parks 

and share in the tax receipts from industrial clients.  

  
  
Residential Objectives  

  
In most counties residential development is the single most intensive use of developed land 

in rural areas. As family size decreases and the county becomes more prosperous, the demand for 

land for residential use will surpass the demand for any other use. The demand is relentless and 

predictable.  The Russell County objectives for residential development are:  

• To encourage the construction of energy efficient housing.  
  
• To encourage the construction of housing for the elderly.  

  
• To encourage the construction of housing for middle income residents.  

  
• To continue to address the need for housing with indoor plumbing.  



•  

•  

  VIII - 11  

  
• To encourage residential development in or near the Towns of Lebanon, Honaker, 

Cleveland and St. Paul.  

• To encourage residential development where water, sewer, roads are available.  
  
• To encourage multifamily developments where water, sewer, streets are available.  

  
• To encourage developers to employ best management practices during and after 

construction.  
  
• To encourage the development of affordable rental housing.  

  
• To encourage the recycling of mobile homes when being replaced by manufactured homes.  

  
To encourage the permanent placement of manufactured homes.  
 

To encourage the development of mobile home parks that are serviced by public facilities 

and that are maintained in a decent, safe, and sanitary manner.     

  
  
Community Facilities and Services Objectives  

  
Both public and private sectors provide services to county residents that will be discussed 

in this section of the plan. Specifically, the subjects will include public water supply and 

distribution, sewage systems, health facilities and services, social services, mental health facilities 

and services, recreation facilities and services, fire, lifesaving, and police services, transportation 

facility and services, telecommunication facilities and services and library facilities and services. 

The relationships between these services are strong and definite even though they are discussed 



•  

•  

  VIII - 12  

separately in this document. The intent is to efficiently and economically plan these activities to 

maximize benefits for present and future residents at the safest and most convenient locations. 

Russell County’s objectives for community facilities and services are:  

• To encourage the provision of essential services and facilities (water, sewer, fire, lifesaving, 

etc.) in the approval of commercial, residential, and recreational developments.  

• To require the provision of vital services such as water, sewer, telecommunication and 

other utilities be incorporated into plans for industrial developments.  

• To encourage the location of public facilities that serve large populations, such as hospitals, 

schools, libraries, health clinics, solid waste convenience stations, near the intersection of 

major highways.  

• To encourage the location of compatible community services such as libraries, fire and 

lifesaving, and other governmental services into a cluster.  

To acquire sites for planned facilities in advance of need.  

By subject area the Plan sets the following objectives:  

Education Facilities and Services Objectives  
  
• Long term educational facility planning should include members of the Town Councils as 

well as representatives from adjoining counties.  

• Planning for the short-term should include representatives from Russell County business 

and industry.  

• The school system should continue to support a comprehensive program to reduce the 

number of people in the workforce without a high school diploma.  



•  

•  

  VIII - 13  

• To encourage vocational education, to meet current and future workforce demands and 

encourage counselors to assist in stressing these career options.  

Fire, Life Saving and Police Protection Objectives  
  
• Fire, lifesaving, and police protection is an essential public service that needs to be 

emphasized especially in the areas of the county with more dense populations.  

• These essential public services must be recognized with the financial support and 

leadership they require.  

Solid Waste Collection and Disposal Objectives  
  
• The county should continue its policy of seeking the most economical and reliable means 

of providing this service to its citizens.  

• The county should expand its litter control programs to include abandoned cars and mobile 

homes.  

Resource recovery and other alternative uses of solid waste should be studied and programs  



 

  IX - 2  

implemented where determined to be economically and socially feasible.  

Public Water and Sewer Objectives  
  
• The county should continue to pursue the consolidation of these services into a single entity 

so that everyone in the county pays the same rate for the service received.  

• The county should continue to work with adjoining jurisdictions to obtain potable water at 

the most feasible price for its citizens.  

• The county should continue to implement the most economical alternatives for the provision 

of water and sewer services as recommended in the 604 (b) study.  

• The county should restudy the recommendations for the provision of sewer services in the 

604 (b) study and the Southwestern Virginia Regional Sewer study to determine if alternative 

methods of sewage collection and treatment are more economically feasible.  

Transportation Objectives  
  

Transportation planning is vital to any community and should be an integral part of 

countrywide comprehensive planning. The transportation system should seek to safely and 

efficiently move people and goods within and through the county. The county also needs to address 

the need to provide safe and convenient access to specific neighborhoods and sites as well as to 

collector streets and arterial roadways.  The Russell County objectives for transportation are:  

• To encourage the approval of plans that minimize through traffic in residential areas.  
  
• To encourage the provision of limited access roads to serve residential areas, parks, 

industrial, and commercial centers.  

• To preserve productive agricultural areas within the County by requiring new highways to 

be routed along existing rights-of-way.  



 

  IX - 3  

• To anticipate where obvious the need to widen highways and require the building line (set 

back) be established accordingly.  

To require that subdivisions be designed in consideration of existing and future street alignments.  
  
  
 Historic Preservation Objectives  
  

The preservation of historic sites and structures is an important and, in some cases vital to a 

county’s development. Sites and structures of historic importance are ignored and lost as a county 

develops. This plan deems the preservation of historic and archaeological sites to be important and 

recommends the following objectives:  

• To encourage the preservation of all sites of historic and/or archaeological significance.  
  
• To encourage and promote a continuation of the identification and cataloging of known 

historic and archaeologic sites for preservation and restoration consistent with the Virginia 

Department of Historic Resources guidelines.  

• To encourage and promote the active use of historically important sites.  
  



 

  IX - 4  

CHAPTER IX  

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS  

  
  
A.  Introduction  
  

This chapter should be recognized as the Comprehensive Development Plan (Plan) for 

Russell County. The recommendations contained herein have been developed from the review of 

previous studies conducted in the County and from information developed while preparing this 

document.  

The intent of the Plan is that it be used as a guide by builders, developers, and decision- 

makers in the County and State regarding the future development of Russell County. It is a blend of 

market trends, land suitability, and the ability of the County to provide basic community services. 

This Plan should guide development decisions that promote and enhance orderly growth and the 

efficient delivery of services.  

B.  Findings  
  

Russell County has been recovering the past 25 years from the demise of employment in the 

coal industry and agriculture. The economic base is being rebuilt through a continuing emphasis on 

infrastructure (water, sewer, roads, natural gas, fiber optics), regional partnerships, and the expansion 

of jobs in the services sector of employment.  

The completion of the four-laning of U. S. 19 and U. S. Alt. 58 has had a tremendous impact 

on the County’s economy. The completion of the four-laning of U. S. 460 through Buchanan County 

and the connections of U. S. 19 to the east with I-77, to the south with I-81, and U. S. Alt. 58 to the 

Tracy
Highlight



 

  IX - 5  

north with I-26 (via U. S. 23) provides transportation connections not to be overlooked as the County 

plans for its economic future.  

  
When the County removes from intense development land with 20 percent and greater 

slope, land with karst topography, land with permitted coal mines and permitted natural gas well 

sites, it becomes very important for the County to look at its remaining land as a valuable resource 

necessary to be managed for the use of future generations.  

The County also needs to be concerned about the future of the AEP gas coal-fired power 

plant located in the Carbo community between the Town of Cleveland and the Town of St. Paul in 

neighboring Wise County, Virginia. The concern is the age of the structure and its economic 

viability in today’s regulatory environment.  

An encouraging sign are the stimulants for development that are on the horizon in the 

County. These are the interest in the County to develop its tourism potential; the expansion 

construction of the fiber-optic backbone through the County; and the consolidation of water and 

sewer providers in the County into one entity.  The county should encourage development of 

alternative energy.  

The County has the potential for a bright future; however, to achieve its potential the County 

must continue to be proactive in its decision-making while cognizant of the impacts on future events.  

The recommendations contained herein are intended for that purpose.  

C.  Population  
  

A full discussion of population dynamics will be forthcoming when the 2010 Census 

information is available. However, the recommendations contained in this Plan are pro-growth and 

their implementation will lead to modest growth over the next twenty years.  



 

  IX - 6  

The growth in population in the County is dependent upon continuing growth in the services 

sector of employment, continuing to replace those jobs lost in the manufacturing sector, continuing 

to add jobs in the technology sector, and attracting former residents and retirees to move into the 

County.  

Where the people will live in the County is dependent upon the implementation of some of 

the recommendations contained in this Plan. In the near-term people will continue to locate 

randomly along the U. S. 19 corridor from Hansonville to the Tazewell County line, and in or 

adjacent to the Town of Lebanon. A major reason for that is the amount of land already subdivided 

but vacant along this corridor. In the long term, growth should occur in Rosedale, Hansonville, 

Castlewood and Lebanon. Redevelopment will have to take place in Honaker and Cleveland before 

these two towns will see the impact of growth.  

D.  Land-Use  
  

The following are logical extensions of the goals and objectives as stated in the previous 

Chapter. The County should look at the Hansonville area as a special opportunity zone for business 

and industry. The same holds true for Rosedale except that a lot of development (some vacant and 

some dilapidated) has taken place in Rosedale. A full complement of services (water, sewer, natural 

gas and fiber-optics broadband) should be provided for these areas. In addition, the corridor from 

Old Castle Whites Quarry to the Town of St. Paul along U.S. Alt. 58 should be given special 

attention because it is in a karst area. Water services and fiber-optic broadband are already in place 

but sewer and natural gas should be provided as soon as practical.  

A significant land-use problem in the County is the abundance of junk yards. They are 

everywhere - in residential developments, on farms, in towns, adjacent to streams, and along the 



 

  IX - 7  

road rights-of-way. The next significant land-use issue is that of abandoned and/or dilapidated 

mobile homes, and a final significant land-use issue is the number of residential developments on 

sub- standard privately maintained roads.  

  
  
  
  

     
Some of these issues can be addressed by the adoption of a Zoning Ordinance and revision 

of the County’s Subdivision Ordinance. Others can be addressed by the establishment of a program 

to clean up non-commercial junk yards and abandoned mobile homes. The County should use the 

VDOT Rural Additions Program where possible to bring substandard subdivision streets up to 

standard.  

  
  
  



 

  IX - 8  

     
Specifically, this Plan recommends the 

preparation and adoption of a County-wide Zoning Ordinance; the modification of the County’s 

recycling program to include inoperable vehicles, abandoned mobile homes, school buses, trucks, 

and other abandoned machinery; and an amendment to the County Subdivision Ordinance to allow 

subdivisions of land where a new street or road is involved, only when provisions have been made 

for the construction and maintenance of safe road and street travel.  

The County has a significant amount of land that is already in ownership of the Nature 

Conservancy to protect the ecosystem adjacent to the Clinch River. The County should encourage 

the use of the Land Trust and Conservation easement programs to protect the Clinch River 

Watershed, the Big Moccasin Creek Watershed as well as the Big Cedar Creek Watershed. These 

programs will allow the land to stay in private ownership while protecting a valuable asset of the 

County.  

  
  
  



 

  IX - 9  

  
E.  Commercial  
  

Russell County has been undergoing a transition from a manufacturing and mining based 

economy to an economy that is more diversified. This transition will include an economy based on 

manufacturing, agriculture, technology, mining, services, and tourism. In order to continue this 

economic movement, the County needs to accomplish the following:  

• Continue to work with the Towns of Cleveland, Honaker, and Lebanon and neighboring  

Counties to secure a cost-effective supply of potable water;  

• Continue to work toward a uniform water and sewer rate for all Russell County residents;  
  
• Review (Russell County Public Service Authority) of The Southwest Virginia Regional 

Wastewater Study to determine if some of the recommendations relative to Russell County 

might be more cost effectively served with alternative technology sewer systems;  

• The County should continue to participate with the Arrowhead Authority to identify multi-

use trails in the county for inclusion in their proposed development;  

• Continue to support the efforts of the Towns of Honaker, Lebanon and Cleveland to revitalize  



 

  IX - 10  

their business districts;  

• Continue to support the efforts by Members of the Virginia General Assembly to acquire 

property and establish a State Park in the vicinity of the Town of Cleveland;  

• Seek funding for the development of a Russell County Telecommunication Plan. Such a plan 

would establish policy for the provision of fiber-optic and wireless broadband services 

throughout the County;  

• The County should then be an active participant in seeking funding for the construction of 

the telecommunication network identified in the Telecommunication Plan;  

• The County (Board of Supervisors) should continue to support efforts to establish a the 
Wellness  

Center for the benefit of all Russell County citizens;  

• The County (Board of Supervisors; Industrial Development Authority) should encourage a 

feasibility study for the distribution of natural gas to the special opportunity areas identified 

in this plan;  

• The County should work with the Regional Housing Authority to determine if redevelopment 

zones are viable for the county;  

  
  
F.  Industrial  
  

Manufacturing has been and hopefully will continue to be an important part of the Russell 

County economy into the future. Most manufacturing operations remaining competitive in today’s 

market place must do so with technological improvements. The County has made tremendous 

improvements in its ability to attract high-tech employment with the addition of CGI, Northrup 



 

  IX - 11  

Grumman, AT & T and the establishment of the Southwest Virginia Technology Development 

Center at the new Russell County Governmental Center.  

The following actions are recommended for the County to maintain its momentum of Industrial  

Growth:  

• The County should continue to develop plans for a Wellness Center; 

• The County (Industrial Development Authority) should continue to seek options on land for 

future business and industrial development;  

• The County should work with The Town of Honaker and Cleveland to redevelop their 

economic centers.  

  
  
Russell County IDA – Industrial Conclusions  
  
• The county should seek to hire Economic Development Staff to promote individual and 

commercial expansion.  

• The county should reach out to surrounding counties in the development of shared-revenue 

regional economic development projects.  

• The county should create an entrepreneurial and small capital loan program for smaller 

commercial and economic development projects.  

• The county should consider zoning of commercial and industrial areas in the county.  

   



 

  IX - 12  

• The County should work to see that Hansonville, Rosedale, Belfast Mills and Castlewood 

are all provided with water, sewer, natural gas, fiber-optic, and safe access so they can 

develop as future economic centers;  

• The County (Board of Supervisors; Industrial Development Authority) should look at the 

possibilities available under the Virginia Industrial Facilities Authority Act to purchase and 

develop land for future industrial or business use;  

• The County should encourage the Industrial Development Authority to study the viability of 

redevelopment zones for the County;  

• The County should seek to locate industries that manufacture equipment needed for the 

production of energy conservation products;  

• The County should encourage the location and/or expansion of food processing companies 
into  

the area.;  

• The County should work with VDOT to examine the feasibility of extending Route 82 from  

Cleveland through Carbo to the intersection with Route 63 at Hamlin.  

G.  Residential                   
  

An complete updated analysis of housing in Russell County will be completed when the 2010 

2020 Census information is available. The recommendations contained herein are based on the 

information generated during the 2009 survey of structural conditions conducted by the consultants 

to the Planning Commission. The following actions are recommended by the County to deal with 

the housing issues identified.  



 

  IX - 13  

• The County should continue to support efforts by all the towns to rehabilitate substandard 

homes for those who are income eligible;  



 

 

• The County should continue to support programs by the State and Federal government that 

address the housing issues (energy and safety) of low- and moderate-income residents.  

• The County should adopt a policy of always having a neighborhood housing rehabilitation 

project being either implemented or being studied;  

• The County should continue to recruit business and industry that pay more than the minimum 

wage;  

• The County should continue to support the 

program to extend water lines to low- and 

moderate-income neighborhoods;  

• The County should encourage a 

continuation of the program to provide grant 

and loan assistance for first time home 

buyers;  

  
  
  
  
• The County should encourage the construction of housing units for the elderly as well as for 

those with disabling conditions;  

• The County has approved plats for the subdivision of land for approximately 26% more land 

than has been developed. Ideally, it is in the County’s best interest that any land subdivided 

for residential use be developed within three (3) years of approval;  

• The County has much land in subdivisions with privately maintained streets that are unsafe 

for fire and rescue vehicles to travel. The County needs to determine the number of miles of 

privately maintained unpaved streets that exist in the County (with assistance from the  



 

 

  IX - 10  
Cumberland Plateau Planning District Commission), and should then develop a plan to bring 

them up to VDOT standards or that are safe for emergency vehicles;  

• The County should request that the Cumberland Plateau Regional Housing Authority conduct 

a Housing Study to determine the housing needs for Russell County (and other members of 

the  

Housing Authority) for the next twenty (20) years;  

• The County should encourage the Regional Housing Authority to adopt an affordable 
dwelling  

unit policy;  

  
  
  
   
H.  Transportation  
  

Transportation has been the single most important factor in the development of Russell 

County in the past, and that importance will continue into the future. In the past, the construction of 

railroads made it possible to export coal, timber, and cattle from the County. Currently, 

improvements to U.S. Alt. 58 and U.S. 19 have made it possible for people and commerce to move 

in and through the County in unprecedented ways. The following actions are recommended to keep 

the County up-to-date with transportation issues:  

• The County should work with County neighbors to get State Route 91 paved and improved 

from Midway in Tazewell County to Broadford in Smyth County. It should be noted that 

Route 91 is the only unpaved primary road in Virginia;  

• The County should seek funding for improving the access to the quarry located adjacent to 

Big Moccasin Creek in the western end of the county;  



 

 

• The County should prioritize funding for paving the road to the solid waste transfer station; 

IX - 11  
• The County should work with Smyth and Washington Counties to get State Route 80 

improved from U. S. 19 south to the top of Clinch Mountain;  

• The County should continue to seek funding to four-lane Rt. 80 from Rosedale to Honaker;  
  
• Century Farms Road – Road is a safety concern due to increased traffic to landfill and recent 

accidents. County and Towns disposal trucks use route along with County residents. Road 

too narrow and needs widening. Century Farms Road, Route 667, widening from Route 747 

to Route 668.  

• US Route 19 – Road is a safety concern and the proposed VDOT project will increase the 

super elevation of the eastbound direction of US 19 approximately 1,900 feet west of SR 80 

to meet VDOT’s minimum standards.  The south side of the roadway will be kept constant 

while the north side will be lowered to achieve the required super elevation through the 

horizontal curve. Roadway improvements will occur in the median for a length of 

approximately 1,600 feet and will include a 6-foot paved shoulder with rumble strips.    

• US Route 58 at Sundown Drive – Road is a safety concern and the proposed VDOT project 

involves extending the turn lanes at US 58 at Sundown Drive to meet VDOT’s minimum 

standards.  The eastbound left and westbound right-turn lanes will be extended to 200 feet 

storage and 200 feet taper.  The eastbound left-turn land will have a paved 4 foot inside 

shoulder and the westbound right-turn lane will have a paved 8 foot outside shoulder.  ROW 

acquisition will be required for the westbound right-turn land due to the required cross-slope 

to accommodate the turn lane and shoulder.    



 

 

• The County should continue to work with the Four County Transit Authority to provide 

transportation services for work, college, medical care, and shopping;  

• The County should request the Cumberland Plateau Planning District Commission to conduct 

a study of the unpaved subdivision streets in Russell County, and develop a set of alternatives 

for solving the problems identified, including the costs; including the costs;   



 

 

  

  
  

  



 

 

• The County should encourage and support the preparation of development plans for the  

special opportunity areas;  

• The County should work with Buchanan County to gain support for improvements to 
State  

Route 80 that will include bike lanes on each side of the highway for access to the 
Breaks  

Interstate Park;  

• The County should continue to work with and support the Arrowhead Authority currently  

seeking to build a multi-use trail system from Cumberland Gap to the West Virginia 
state line;  

• The County should work with Tazewell and Washington Counties to encourage 

improvements to the General Aviation Airports in each County, including upgrading them 

to All- Weather status with at least a 5,000 foot-runway;  

• The County should work with VDOT to examine the feasibility of designating secondary 

Route 615 to primary Route 82 from the Town of Cleveland to the intersection with State 

Route 63 at Hamlin.  

• Alternate Rt. 58 is one of eleven (11) corridors of statewide significance in the 
Commonwealth,  

if managed properly by Russell County it will be an economic asset. If allowed 

to develop as a “main-street” that investment will become a liability to the 

county and state.  

  
  
  



 

 

  
  

 I.  Public Facilities  
  

Capital expenditures are an important part of any governmental operation as is the  

efficient and cost-effective delivery of essential services. The degree to which a local 

government applies itself to service delivery and the effective maintenance of 

equipment and structures will define that local government. It will become a reflection 

of that government in the larger community. The recommendations contained in this 

Plan are intended to prepare Russell County to compete for jobs and to compare 

favorably with any County in Virginia on quality of life issues.  

  
  
• The County should continue to enhance preparing a plan and program for wellness 

services in the County;  
  
• The County should continue to encourage its legislative delegation to purchase the land 

necessary to establish a State Park in the vicinity of the Town of Cleveland;  

 

• The County should encourage the Towns of Cleveland and Honaker to pursue funding 

for redevelopment of their business districts; 



 

 

• The County should promote development and expansion pursue funding of a 

Telecommunications Plan for the provision of fiber- optic high-speed broadband 

services throughout the entire County. The  

Telecommunications Plan should also include universal access;  

• The County should work with Wise County to improve library services for Castlewood 

and Dante and continue to improve the facilities in the Town of Cleveland; 

• The County should continue to implement the recommendations in the 604(b) study 

for the provision of potable water throughout the County;  

• The County should continue to work with the Virginia Department of Historic 

Resources for recognition on the National Register of Historic Places cataloged in the 

Russell County survey;  

• The County should request the School Board to develop a plan for construction of a 
walking  

path around the periphery of   the properties at Castlewood High School and Honaker 
Elementary  

School;  

• The County should update its plan for the provision of Fire and Rescue services to 
determine  

if they are adequately funded with equipment and staff;  

• The County should  request that support  the Appalachian Agency for Senior Citizens in 
prepare a feasibility study for the provision of elder care services in the County;  

• The Russell County School Board should continue conversations with the Wise County 

School Board to investigate cooperative educational opportunities and a possible 

partnership between the Castlewood and St. Paul school systems, including the 

corresponding financial impacts; 



 

 

• The County should complete the installation of an Information Technology (IT) 

division that will include internet access to the Geographic Information System (GIS) 

services for the three towns, and for the constitutional offices; 

• The County should continue to incorporate into this Plan the recommendations for  

Russell County contained in the Regional Hazard Mitigation Plan for future 

consideration.  

The County should review all previous studies for the provision of wastewater 

services in the County to determine where alternative sewer technologies 

might be more cost-effective and feasible;  

• The County should appoint a committee to take a look at the need and desirability for 
the  

Purchase of Development Rights program for the preservation of Agricultural and Forest 
Land;.  

• The County should encourage the Towns of Cleveland and Honaker to seek part-time 
town  

manager assistance either through the Cumberland Plateau Planning District 

Commission or the private sector;  

• The County should encourage the Planning Commission to prepare a Capital 

Improvement program for consideration by the Board of Supervisors;  

• The County should continue its efforts to bring the animal shelter into compliance with 

state standards; 

• The County should actively support the formation of a voluntary organization to aid in 

the humane treatment of captured animals; 



 

 

• The County should use the creation of the Wellness Center as a stimulant to establish a 

countywide recreation program. 



IDA Awarded $5,000 each     10 Applications   $50,000 
 
Gerald Sharp dba Gerald Sharp PC., 1114 E. Main St.  Lebanon, VA  24266 
Jordan Smith & Tyler Castle dba Next Fitness Club LLC., 1806 E. Main St., Lebanon, VA  24266 
Preston Ball dba Preston Ball Photography, 155 Grandville Meadows Dr., Lebanon, VA 24266 
Robert Weatherly dba Lebanon Physical Therapy & Rehab. Services 272 Highland Dr. Lebanon, VA   
Robin Fields dba Robin’s Nest, 23271 US Hwy 19, Cedar Bluff, VA  24609 
Thomas Luke Stillwell dba Luke Stillwell Optometrist PC., 1050 Regional Park Rd.  Lebanon, VA  24266 
Thomas Luke Stillwell dba Mountain View Rental Properties LLC., 7831 Mountain Rd.  Cedar Bluff, VA  
Tim Ball dba Tim Ball Farming, Inc., 245 Oak Circle Dr.  Rosedale, VA  24280 
Vincent J. Gilmer dba Vincent’s Vineyard   2313 E. Main St.  Lebanon, VA  24266 
 
 
 
 
 

Russell County BOS    Awarded        $5,000 each       14 Applications  $60,000 
  
Bailey Engineering, P.O. Box 155, Rosedale, VA 24280 
Barbara’s His & Hers Salon, 10 Memorial Drive, Castlewood, VA  24224 
Clatterbuck Pavement Markings, Inc., 3280 Cleveland Rd., Cleveland, VA  24225 
Quality Paving Inc., P.O. Box 88, Swords Creek, VA 24649 
Dirt Daubers, 2977 High Point Rd., Castlewood, VA  24224 
Flower Country, 6 Memorial Drive, Castlewood, VA  24224 
J & J Trash Waste Management, Rosedale, VA  24280 
Rexanna’s Family Hair Care, 465 Swords Creek Rd., Honaker, VA  24260 
Honaker Florist LLC, 429 South Railroad Ave., Honaker, VA  24260 
Honaker Wholesale LLC., 435 South Railroad Ave., Honaker, VA  24260 
Lonesome Pine Brewing Co., 15 East Main Street, Lebanon, VA  24266 
Something Special, 11668 US Highway 19, Lebanon, VA  24266 
Swords Creek Cut & Style, 7336 Swords Creek Rd.  Swords Creek, VA  24649 
Wright Way Cleaning, 62 Woosley St., Lebanon, VA  24266 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
Rescue Squads Awarded $35,000 each      $175,000 
Castlewood Rescue Squad       
Cleveland Life Saving Crew 
Dante Rescue Squad 
Lebanon Lifesaving Crew 
New Garden Rescue Squad 
 
Fire Departments Awarded $30,000 each      $240,000 
Dante Fire Department  
Honaker Vol. Fire Dept. 
Lebanon Vol. Fire Dept. 
Belfast-Rosedale Fire Dept. 
Cleveland Vol. Fire Dept. 
Copper Creek Moccasin Fire 
St. Paul Fire and Rescue 
Castlewood Fire Department 
 
Food Ministry Awarded   Awarded  $22,000 each      $110,000 
 
Roger E. Jessee      Woody Scott     762-7812, 623-3484 
Word of Victory Rod Wicker  701-2511 
Elk Garden  Brooke Atchley  540-599-4071  Barbara Parker  971-6724 
Star Ministry  Amanda Thomas  276-451-1172 
Splash Ministry  Carolyn Puckett 991-6044 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Town of Lebanon  $5,000 each        33 Applications    $165,000 
 
Amber Franks dba Pat’s Kountry Diner 
Debbie Smith dba Debbie’s Hair 
Gabriella Range dba The Local 
James Range dba Crossfit Beartown 
Janet McGlothlin dba Top Line Advertising 
Jefferson Steffey dba J & V’s Corner Diner 
Jodi Campbell dba The Veritas Nurturing Center 
Kathern J. Moore dba Perfect Petals 
Kayla Goff Moran dba RKT Hair Studio 
Mark Smith dba Shug’s Place 
Mary Rasnake dba Mary & Company 
Rebecca Rose dba Wild Rose Hair 
Becky’s Cut & Style-Becky Gilbert 
Jimmy’s Detailing-Jimmy Honaker 
Kegley Service Center, Inc.-Betty Kegley 
The Artist’s Loft-Edward Young 
Randi’s Glamour Connection-Randi Sykes 
Street Drug Corp.-Jared Street 
Melody Acres Farm-Vincent Gilmer 
Pizza Town-Marisa Graziano 
Appalachian Meats-Victoria Gent 
John Stanley Attorney At Law 
Clark Print Shop-Devin Clark 
El Campesino-Fernando Onate 
Designs by JLeigh-Jamie Bradley 
Nextdoor Drug, PC-Jackie Hackney & Nicole Lawson 
Best Life Physical Therapy, Inc.,- Kaitlin Dodi-Monk 
Salon Platinum-Justin Gobble 
The Lebanon News-Jerry Lark 
Extol Corp Inc-Larry & Wanda Hughes 
Woodz-N-Waterz Taxidermy-Joshua Ward 
Fields Restaurants, LLC-Tim Fields 

Tokyo Japanese Restaurant-Wei Kang Hau 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Tracy
Highlight



 
Town of Honaker         $5,000 each                12 Applications                      $60,000  
 
Diane Fuller dba Honey Bea’s Café, 392 South Railroad Honaker, VA 24260 
Mariano Romano, K & M Romano Inc. dba Momma Mia, 412 Putnam Rd., Honaker, VA  24260 
Modern Chevrolet Sales, 5600 Redbud Hwy, Honaker, VA  24260 
T’s Country Store and Feed, 5888 Redbud Hwy., Honaker, VA  24260 
DR Price 
The Farmers Table 
Tiger Stop 
McFaddin & Associates 
Honaker Tobacco Outlet 
Honaker Animal Health 
Barnhart Chiropractic 
Whitt Insurance Agency 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
Russell County BOS                Awarded       $5,000                 25 Applications           $125,000 
Authentic Appalachian Landworks, 776 Red Oak Ridge Rd., Castlewood, VA  24224 
Ball Coal Company, Inc. 245 Oak circle Dr., Rosedale, VA  24280  
Barton’s Service Center, 8335 Redbud Hwy., Honaker, VA  24260 
Bill’s Carport’s and Buildings, 4382 Swords Creek Rd, Swords Creek, VA  24649 
Bostic Tucker & Co., PC, Main St., Lebanon, VA  24266 
Campbell Storage & Rental, 7809 Green Valley Rd., Lebanon, VA  24266 
David Shelton Trucking Co., Inc., 1965 Pine Creek Rd.. Swords Creek, VA  24649 
David Mullins Wealth Management, 603 Fairview Lane, Lebanon, VA  24266 
Elk Garden Aluminum, 8043 Mountain R., Cedar Bluff, VA  24609 
Extol Corp. dba Glamour Tan, 20 Russell St., Lebanon, VA  24266  (Town of Lebanon) 
Highlands Ambulance Service, P.O. Box  1017, Lebanon, VA  24266 
Honaker Tire Service,  P.O. Box  1508, Honaker, VA  24260 
Jared Shelton Trucking, LLC 37 Alpha St., Swords Creek, VA  24649 
Jeff Shelton Trucking, 90 Alpha St.,  Swords Creek, VA  24649 
JordyKy Trucking, Inc., P.O. Box 203, Cedar Bluff, VA  24609 
Lebanon Discount Tire  2106 East Main St.  Lebanon, VA  24266 
Maggie Chafin Salon, 1796 East Main St.  Lebanon, VA  24266 
Photography by Kalyn, 571 McFarlane Lane, Rosedale, VA  24280 
Robin’s Nest, PO Box 9, Rosedale, VA  24280  (got IDA loan) 
Rock Ridge Vapor LLC, 1800 East Main St., Lebanon, VA 24266 
Romanos II Restaurant, Inc., 2 Memorial Drive, Castlewood, VA  24224    
Shortt Accounting Service, Inc., P. O. Box 1575, Main St. Lebanon, VA  24266 
Starnes Refrigeration & A/C, Inc., 4082 US Hwy 19, Lebanon, VA  24266 
Stinson Heating & Cooling, Inc, 11 West Main St.  Lebanon, VA  24266 
SWVA Mechanical LLC, 623 Oak Circle Dr., Rosedale, VA  24280 
The Christian Center, Inc., Main St. Lebanon, VA  24266  ( Town of Lebanon) 
Wayne Musick Auto Repair, 1930 West main St.  Lebanon, VA  24266 
Wallace Furniture and Hardware, Inc., 5711 Redbud Hwy., Honaker, VA  24260 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Farms  Awarded         $5,000                     16   Applications                         $80,000 
Banner’s Farm Inc., P.O. Box 100, Castlewood, VA  24224 
Bar-C Farms, 7809 Green Valley Rd., Lebanon, Va  24266 
Big A Mtn. Farms, 8094 Redbud Hwy., Honaker, VA  24260 
Circle K Farms, LLC,  P.O. Box 2921,  Lebanon, VA  24266 
Derek Hicks, P. O. 4021, Castlewood, VA  24225    
DJB Cattle, 47 Trigg Dr., Lebanon, VA  24266 
Dry Branch Cattle Company, Inc., P.O. Box 92, Rosedale, VA  24280 
Green Valley Genetics, 7325 Green Valley Rd., Lebanon, VA  24266 
Kiser’s Farm, 3350 Jessee's Mill Rd., Cleveland, VA  24225 
Powers Farm, 361 Sink Hole Lane, Cleveland, VA  24224 
Richard Bostic, P.O. Box 1568, Honaker, VA 24260 
Rocking B Cattle Company, LLC, 245 Oak Circle Dr., Rosedale, VA  24280 
RR Farm, 2691 Seven Springs Hollow Road, Castlewood, VA  24224 
Sykes Livestock, LLC, P.O. Box 1985, Lebanon, VA  24266 
Tim Ball Farming, Inc, 245 Oak Circle Dr., Rosedale, VA 24280  (got IDA Loan) 
Tony Browning, 3995 Memorial Dr., Castlewood, VA  24224 
3M Cattle, 2417 Cleveland Rd., Cleveland, VA  24225 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



Applications received after October Board meeting      Awarded   10 Applications                          $50,000 
 

Diana Belcher Farm, Ronald & Diana Belcher, 648 Roman’s Ridge Rd.  Honaker, VA  24260 
Darlene Jackson Taxi, Inc., Ricky and Jennifer Roark, PO Box 37, Rosedale, VA  24280 
Auto Energy, Travis Hackworth, Business address:  11842 US Hwy 19, Lebanon, VA  24266 
The Stone Cellar Restaurant, 19 South Church St., Lebanon, VA  24266 
Mountain View Retirement Home, Inc., Linda Mays, PO Box 1148  Lebanon, VA  24266 
KLW Farm, Brandi Jessee, 8525 New Garden Rd.  Honaker, VA  24260 
KC Repairs, Inc., Ronald Combs, P.O. Box 1354, Honaker, VA  24260 
Mountain Suzuki, Inc., Larry Lambert, 1306 US Hwy 19, Rosedale, VA  24280 
Compton Carpet, Chris Compton, Independent Installer, for Fogleman’s Carpet 
Kenneth Shortt, Independent Installer, for Fogleman’s Carpet 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



December Meeting                      11  Applications                           $5,000 each                               $55,000 
 
Auto Motion Service & Accessories, William Castle, 942 East Main St. Lebanon, VA 24640 
Bruce H. Russell II, PC  29 East Main St., Lebanon, VA  24266 
Cable Plus, Inc, David Eaton, P.O. Box 1030, Honaker, VA 24260 
Cross Rentals, LLC, Randall Cross, 109 N. Church St., Lebanon, VA  24266 
Douglas E. Burke, Jr., Brick Mason, PO Box 912, Castlewood, VA  24224 
Lebanon Tax & Accounting Services, Inc., Mary T. Cross, 111 N. Church St., Lebanon, VA  24266 
Positively Gymnastics, Inc., 443 Technology Park Drive, Lebanon, VA  24266 
Pro Image Computer Graphics, Lynn Peters, 32 Meadow Lark Lane, Lebanon, VA  24266 
Triple J Farms, David Eaton, P.O. Box 359, Honaker, VA  24260 
Lula Honaker Farm, Lula Honaker & Melissa Stinson, 103 Sykes Drive, Honaker, VA 24260 
Sawmill Bottom, Brady K. Crabtree, 1717 Sandy Ridge Road, Cleveland, VA 24225 



Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight





John.Bolling
PolyLine

John.Bolling
PolyLine

John.Bolling
Line

John.Bolling
Text Box
A

John.Bolling
Text Box
B

John.Bolling
Text Box
C

John.Bolling
Text Box
D

John.Bolling
Text Box
0.70

John.Bolling
Typewritten Text
ROUTE 679

John.Bolling
Ellipse

John.Bolling
Ellipse

John.Bolling
Ellipse

John.Bolling
Line

John.Bolling
Ellipse

John.Bolling
Typewritten Text
ROUTE 806

John.Bolling
Typewritten Text
678

John.Bolling
Typewritten Text
678

John.Bolling
Typewritten Text
671

John.Bolling
Typewritten Text
936

John.Bolling
Text Box
0.28

John.Bolling
Text Box
3.70

John.Bolling
Text Box
1.10

John.Bolling
Image

John.Bolling
Text Box
RUSSELL COUNTY (083)DISCONTINUANCE OF A PORTION OF ROUTE 671 & ROUTE 678.

John.Bolling
Text Box
BRISTOL DISTRICTLEBANON RESIDENCY

John.Bolling
Typewritten Text
Dickensonville Dr.

John.Bolling
Typewritten Text
Upper Copper Creek Rd

John.Bolling
Typewritten Text
Honaker Chapel Rd.

John.Bolling
Typewritten Text
NOT TO SCALE

John.Bolling
Ellipse

John.Bolling
Typewritten Text
936

John.Bolling
Text Box
1.19

John.Bolling
Arrow

John.Bolling
Arrow

John.Bolling
Image

John.Bolling
Ellipse

John.Bolling
Typewritten Text
671

John.Bolling
Text Box
RE-NUMBER

John.Bolling
Image

John.Bolling
PolyLine



pg. 1 
 

 
 
The Board of Supervisors of Russell County, in regular meeting on the 9th day of 
December 2020, adopted the following: 
 
RESOLUTION OF NON-SUPPORT FOR DISCONTINUANCE OF ROUTE 

671 & ROUTE 678  
 
WHEREAS, the Virginia Department of Transportation has notified the Russell 
County Board of Supervisors of its intent to discontinue a section of old Route 671 
from 0.28 mile north of Route 806 to 0.98 mile north of Route 806, a distance of 
0.70 miles; and a section of old Route 678 from the intersection with existing Route 
678 to the dead end of Route 936, a distance of 1.19 miles; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the sketch, attached and incorporated herein as a part of this resolution, 
defines the adjustments in the secondary system of state highways that would result 
from a discontinuance of the aforementioned sections of Route 671 & Route 678, 
and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Russell County Board of 
Supervisors hereby does not support the Commonwealth Transportation Board’s 
proposed discontinuance of old Route 671 and old Route 678 as identified on the 
attached sketch, pursuant to §33.2-908.B of the Code of Virginia, and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Russell County Board of Supervisors requests 
that the roadways described on the attached sketch remain included in the Secondary 
System of State Highways with the understanding that the Virginia Department of 
Transportation will only maintain these routes to the extent of their use by the 
general public, and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Russell County Board of Supervisors requests 
that segment AB as identified on the attached sketch be accordingly re-numbered as 
a part of the Secondary System of State Highways, and 



pg. 2 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, this Board of  Supervisors orders that a certified 
copy of this resolution be forwarded to the Resident Engineer for the Virginia 
Department of Transportation. 
 
Recorded Vote         A Copy Teste: 
Moved By:  ________________________ 
Seconded By:  ______________________ 
Yeas:  ____________________________        
Nays:               Rebecca Dye, Chairperson 
        County of Russell  



 
Secretary of Commerce and Trade 

Patrick Henry Building • 1111 East Broad Street • Richmond, Virginia 23219 • (804) 786-2211 • TTY (800) 828-1120 

www.governor.virginia.gov 

 

11/5/2020 

 

Lonzo Lester 

County Administrator 

Russell County 

137 Highland Drive 

Lebanon, VA 24266 

 

Dear Mr. Lester, 

On behalf of Governor Northam, it gives me great pleasure to inform you that Russell County has been 

awarded broadband funding pursuant to the federal Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act 

(CARES Act) in the amount of $155,000 for the Flats Circle Project.  

As stated in the program guidelines, these funds must be expended and service must be available by 

December 25, 2020. Similar to previous CARES Act allocations to localities, this award amount will be 

transmitted to Russell County by the Department of Accounts. Once the project is complete, the 

Governor’s Broadband Team and the Department of Accounts will follow up regarding project outcomes 

and compliance. I want to reiterate that it is incumbent on Russell County to ensure project expenses are 

documented and verified in case of audit.  

Congratulations on your award and we look forward to working with you now and in the future to achieve 

universal broadband coverage in Russell County.  

Sincerely,  

 

Evan Feinman 

Chief Broadband Advisor 

Office of Governor Ralph S. Northam 

  

Tracy
Highlight



From: ceds@deq.virginia.gov
To: lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us; brian.ferguson@russellcountyva.us
Cc: brian.ferguson@russellcountyva.us
Subject: FY2021 Non-Competitive Litter Prevention and Recycling Grant
Date: Wednesday, November 18, 2020 5:52:49 PM

COMMONWEALTH of VIRGINIA

Matthew J. Strickler
Secretary of Natural

Resources

DEPARTMENT OF
ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY

Street address: 1111 E. Main Street, Suite 1400,
Richmond, Virginia 23219

Mailing address: P.O. Box 1105, Richmond,
Virginia 23218

www.deq.virginia.gov

David K. Paylor
Director

(804) 698-4000
1-800-592-5482

November 18, 2020

Lonzo Lester
County Administrator
Russell County
137 Highland Dr
PO Box 1208
Lebanon, VA 24266

Dear Lonzo Lester:

I am pleased to inform you that a grant award of $11,637.00 has been approved for the Litter
Prevention and Recycling Program activities for the period from July 1, 2020 to June 30,
2021. DEQ’s calculation of your grant award was based upon the following distribution:

Russell County: $7,910.00
Town of Cleveland: $1,032.00
Town of Honaker: $1,032.00
Town of Lebanon: $1,663.00

Processing of the grant awards is underway, and a payment for this amount should be received
within the next two weeks if funds can be transferred electronically (EDI) or in thirty days if
processing by check is required.

If you have any questions or need additional information, please contact Prina Chudasama at
prina.chudasama@deq.virginia.gov or at (804) 698-4159.

Sincerely,

mailto:ceds@deq.virginia.gov
mailto:lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us
mailto:brian.ferguson@russellcountyva.us
mailto:brian.ferguson@russellcountyva.us
https://www.deq.virginia.gov/
mailto:prina.chudasama@deq.virginia.gov
Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight



Sanjay Thirunagari
Manager, Recycling and Litter Programs
Division of Land Protection & Revitalization



COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA 
Department of Emergency Management 

 

9711 Farrar Court, Suite 200, North Chesterfield, Virginia 23236 

TEL 804.267.7600     TDD 804.674.2417     FAX 804.272.2046 

 

 
 

Saving lives through effective emergency management and homeland security. 
“A Ready Virginia is a Resilient Virginia.” 

 CURTIS C. BROWN 

State Coordinator of 

Emergency Management  

 

October 29, 2020 

 

Mr. Lonzo Lester 

County Administrator 

137 Highland Drive 

Lebanon, Virginia 24266 

 

RE: Russell County, Emergency Operations Center Generator Project 

 FEMA-DR-4411-VA-007 

 

Dear Mr. Lester: 

 

I am pleased to notify you that the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) has approved the 

project titled “Russell County Emergency Operations Center Generator Project.” The funds have been 

obligated through the Hazard Mitigation Grant Program. Attached you will find the grant award package. 

Please read all documents carefully prior to initiating your project. As funded, the federal share is 75 

percent of the total project costs. 

 

Your project cannot begin until the authorized agent has signed the grant award package. No 

reimbursements will be made until the award package is signed and received by the Virginia Department 

of Emergency Management. Please sign the attached grant agreement, scan, and email it to Amy S. 

Howard, mitigation grant administrator. Congratulations on the approval of this project. If you have 

questions regarding this award or the implementation of your project, please contact Amy Howard at 

(804) 267-7733 or by e-mail at amy.howard@vdem.virginia.gov. 

 

Sincerely, 

 
Curtis C. Brown 

Alternate Governor’s Authorized Representative 

 

Enclosures 

 

CCB/DJM/ah 

mailto:amy.howard@vdem.virginia.gov
Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight



COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA 
Department of Emergency Management 

 

9711 Farrar Court, Suite 200, North Chesterfield, Virginia 23236 

TEL 804.267.7600     TDD 804.674.2417     FAX 804.272.2046 

 

 
 

Saving lives through effective emergency management and homeland security. 
“A Ready Virginia is a Resilient Virginia.” 

CURTIS C. BROWN   

State Coordinator of 

Emergency Management  

 
Hazard Mitigation Grant Program 

Grant Agreement 
FEMA-DR-4411-VA-007 

 
 
This Agreement is made as of this 7th day of October 2020 by and between the Virginia 
Department of Emergency Management, hereinafter called “VDEM,” and the Russell County 

herein after called the “Sub-grantee.”  The DUNS number for the Russell County is 040157851. 
 
The parties to this Agreement, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set out 
herein, agree as follows: 
 
(1) GENERAL PROVISIONS: 
This Agreement is a sub-grant award of federal funds from VDEM to the sub-grantee. VDEM has 
received a grant from the Department of Homeland Security Federal Emergency Management 
Agency Hazard Mitigation Grant Program, Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Number 
97.039. The sub-grantee shall implement the project as set forth in the grant Agreement 
documents. These documents consist of: 

(1) Executed Grant Agreement; 
(2) Scope of Services, Attachment A; 
(3) Project Budget, Attachment B; 
(4) Milestone Table, Attachment C; and 
(5) Grant Assistance Agreements and VDEM-FEMA General Terms and Conditions and 

Assurances; Attachment D. 
 
State agencies acting as the sub-grantee shall report all federal funds received as part of this 
Agreement as federal pass-thru funds on their agency’s Schedule of Federal Assistance. 
 
Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as authority for either party to make commitments, 
which will bind the other party beyond the Scope of Work contained herein. Furthermore, the 
sub-grantee shall assign, sublet, or subcontract any work related to this Agreement or any interest 
it may have herein with full compliance with federal and state procurement regulations. The 
schedule of service set forth in the Scope of Work and Milestone Table shall be deemed to have 
been consented to, as required by the preceding sentence, upon the execution of this Agreement 
by VDEM. 
 
 
  



Saving lives through effective emergency management and homeland security. 
“A Ready Virginia is a Resilient Virginia.” 

(2) SCOPE OF SERVICES: 
The sub-grantee shall provide the service to VDEM set forth and summarized in the Scope of Work 
(Attachment A) and Milestone Table (Attachment C). All deliverables shall conform to accepted 
standards and practices. If there is any change in the original scope of work, a formal request must 
be made to VDEM for review and approval prior to implementing the change. These attachments 
are consistent with the original VDEM-FEMA (Federal Emergency Management Agency) grant 
project application. The sub-grantee shall provide VDEM with quarterly reports and a final report 
on the progress of work set forth in the Scope of Work. The quarterly reports and final report shall 
contain the following components: (1) a narrative describing in detail the progress of the  sub-
grantee in fulfilling the provisions of the Scope of Works; (2) Reimbursement Requests as needed  
that itemize the expenses incurred by the sub-grantee, including separate columns for the federal, 
state, and the sub-grantee’s matching contribution to the total cost of services as reflected in the 
Project Budget-Attachment B; and (3) the schedule of specific project tasks with target completion 
dates and actual completion dates (Milestone Table – Attachment C). The first quarterly report is 
due to VDEM at the end of the first complete quarter following the award of the grant. 

Reporting Period     Report Due to VDEM 
January 1 – March 31        no later than April 15 
April 1 – June 30     no later than July 15 
July 1 – September 30     no later than October 15 
October 1 – December 31    no later than January 15 

 
(3) TIME OF PERFORMANCE: 
The services of the sub-grantee shall begin on the date of sub-grantee’s signature of this 
document and terminate on 12-18-2022, unless otherwise altered through provisions of this 
Agreement or extended by written authorization of VDEM. Requests for time of performance 
extension must be received in writing by VDEM within 75 days of termination date with reasons 
for requested time of performance extension and a revised Milestone Table – Attachment C. All 
time limits stated are of essence of this Agreement. All funds must be obligated no later than the 
project completion date. The final request for reimbursement must be received no later than 60 
days after the completion date for the project. 
 
(4) COMPENSATION: 
The total project award from VDEM is $13,552 provided through the Hazard Mitigation Grant 
Program, Disaster 4411, Tropical Storm Michael.  FEMA shall provide funds for the project 
identified in the Scope of Work (Attachment A) totaling $9,680. FEMA shall also provide sub-
recipient management cost funds in the amount of $645.  VDEM shall provide funds for the 
project identified in the Scope of Work (Attachment A) totaling $2,581.  The sub-grantee agrees 
to provide a match in the amount of $645. The sub-grantee is aware of and shall comply with cost-
sharing requirements of federal and state mitigation grant assistance; specifically that federal 
assistance is limited to 75 percent of eligible expenditures, state assistance (as reimbursed 
through the Virginia Department of Emergency Management) is limited to 20 percent of eligible 
costs, and the sub-grantee shall provide from the sub-grantee’s funds 5 percent of eligible costs.  
The non-federal funds must be from a non-federal funding source and can be completely fulfilled 
by in-kind services as long as financial records document them as such. 
 
VDEM shall release the grant award to the sub-grantee on a cost-reimbursement basis upon 
receipt and approval of the sub-grantee’s quarterly and final reports and deliverables as required 
by this Agreement or at other times agreed to by VDEM. Any cost overruns incurred by the sub-



Saving lives through effective emergency management and homeland security. 
“A Ready Virginia is a Resilient Virginia.” 

grantee during the time of performance shall be the responsibility of the sub-grantee. The sub-
grantee shall spend the funds according to the specified categories of the contract budget. The 
sub-grantee shall use mitigation grant funds solely for the purposes for which these funds are 
provided and as approved by FEMA and VDEM. General policies for determining allowable costs 
are established in 2 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR), Part 200, subpart E (included in 
Attachment D) and the appropriate OMB circulars that identify cost principles for different kinds 
of organizations. Minor shifts of the funds among categories by the sub-grantee, not to exceed 10 
percent of any budget line item are permissible, but in no case can the total expenditures exceed 
the amount provided by this contract. Shifts in funds exceeding 10 percent among budget line 
items must be approved in writing by VDEM. 
 
(5) ASSISTANCE: 
VDEM agrees upon request of the sub-grantee to furnish, or otherwise make available to the sub-
grantee, copies of existing non-proprietary materials in the possession of VDEM that are 
reasonably related to the subject matter of this Agreement and are necessary to the sub-grantee 
for completion of its performance under this Agreement. VDEM Grants Division staff will provide 
technical support to the sub-grantee and make periodic site visits to monitor progress. 
 
(6) ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS: 
The role of the Virginia Department of Emergency Management (VDEM) and the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) must be clearly stated in all press releases, news articles, 
and request for proposals, bid solicitations and other documents describing this project, whether 
funded in whole or part. 
 
Acknowledgement of financial assistance, with VDEM and FEMA logos, must be printed on all 
reports, studies, web sites, and other products (including map products) supported, in whole or 
in part, by this award or any sub-award. The sub-grantee is responsible for contacting VDEM staff 
in adequate time to obtain the logo in camera-ready or digital form. The final draft must be 
approved by VDEM staff prior to production. The acknowledgement should read as follows: 
 
This report was funded by the Federal Emergency Management Agency through the Virginia 
Department of Emergency Management, via Grant Agreement Number FEMA-DR-4411-VA-007 
for $13,552. 
 
(7) CREATION OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY: 
To the extent that the copyright to any copyrightable material created pursuant to this Agreement 
is owned by the sub-grantee and/or the sub-grantee is empowered to license its use, VDEM 
agrees to grant to the sub-grantee, and hereby does grant to the sub-grantee, a license to use the 
materials so owned for public, not-for-profit purpose within the territory of the Commonwealth 
and shall execute and deliver such further documents as the Commonwealth may reasonably 
request for the purpose of acknowledging or implementing such license. 
 
A copyright notice shall be placed in an appropriate location on any copyrightable material being 
distributed or published. Such notice shall include (1) either the symbol “©”, the word 
"Copyright", or the abbreviation "Copr."; (2) the year of first publication; and (3) the name of the 
copyright owner (the Commonwealth of Virginia). This information shall be followed by the words, 
"all rights reserved." 
 



Saving lives through effective emergency management and homeland security. 
“A Ready Virginia is a Resilient Virginia.” 

(8) STRUCTURAL MITIGATION REQUIREMENTS: 
Specific requirements must be adhered to for structural mitigation projects such as structural 
relocation, property acquisition and demolition, and structural retrofitting or improvement as 
detailed in Attachment D. These requirements can include deed restrictions, operation and 
maintenance plans, and insurance requirements, as dictated by the specific grant and project 
requirements. 
 
(9) BREACH AND TERMINATION: 
In the event of breach by the sub-grantee of this Agreement, VDEM shall provide written notice to 
the sub-grantee specifying the manner in which the Agreement has been breached. If a notice of 
breach is given and the sub-grantee has not substantially corrected the breach within 60 days of 
receipt of the written notice, VDEM shall have the right to terminate the Agreement. The sub-grantee 
shall be paid for no service rendered or expense incurred after receipt of the notice of termination, 
except such fees and expenses incurred prior to the effective date of termination that are necessary 
for curtailment of its work under the Agreement. Termination of this Agreement can occur as an 
effect of one of two results:  First, as a result of the proper completion and closeout of this project. 
Second, termination may occur as a result of Termination for Convenience or other termination as 
allowed or required by 2 CFR 200.339 for projects which cannot be completed as described in the 
FEMA-approved grant project application and the Scope of Services – Attachment, herein. 
Communication of this decision and information related to the project termination will be provided 
to the sub-grantee in coordination with FEMA through registered mail. 
 
 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by the following duly 
authorized officials: 
 

Sub-grantee: 
 

Grantor: 

Russell County Virginia Department of Emergency Management  
  
 
 
By:     

 
 
__________________________________ 

 
 
By:     

 

 

   
 
Date:  

 
__________________________________ 

 
Date:   

 
October 30,2020 

 

 Authorized Sub-grantee Signatory              State Coordinating Officer 
   



Saving lives through effective emergency management and homeland security. 
“A Ready Virginia is a Resilient Virginia.” 

Attachment A 
FEMA-DR-4411-VA-007 
Project Scope of Work 

 
Project Sponsor:  Russell County 
 
Project Title:  Russell County Water Plant Treatment Generator 
 
 
Purchase and install a generator and transfer switch to operate the water plant 
at 200 Shady Lane, Rocky Mount, Virginia to make water to refill the six water 
tanks when power goes out. 
 

 
 

  



Saving lives through effective emergency management and homeland security. 
“A Ready Virginia is a Resilient Virginia.” 

Attachment B 
FEMA-DR-4411-VA-007 

            Project Budget 
 
 
Project Awarded Budget – Funding Source HMGP: 
 

Federal Project Funds   $9,680 

State Project Funds  $2,582 

Local Project Funds  $645 

Sub-recipient Management Costs  $645 

Total Project Funds $13,552 

 
 
 
 
Project Budget from VDEM-FEMA HMGP application: 
 
 

ACTIVITY NUMBER COST TOTAL COST 

Generator 1  $4,950 

Generator Switch 1  $2,198 

Concrete Pad 1  $415 

Wire 1  $1,600 

Labor Regular Time 1  $1,264 

Labor Helper Regular Time 1  $480 

Construction Management/Permitting  1  $2,000 

TOTAL COSTS $12,907 

 
 
 
 

Federal Management Costs 1 $645 $645 

  

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight



Saving lives through effective emergency management and homeland security. 
“A Ready Virginia is a Resilient Virginia.” 

Attachment C 
FEMA-DR-4411-VA-007 

    Project Milestone Table 
 
 

ACTIVITY 
DAYS TO 

COMPLETE 

  

Grant Implementation/Kick-Off Meeting 90 

Board of Supervisors Approval 120 

RFP preparation and submittal 120 

Generator Purchase 240 

Generator Installation 240 

Permitting and inspections 195 

Project final paperwork and closeout submittal 90 

  

TOTAL DAYS TO COMPLETE THIS PROJECT  
1095 Days (or 
POP end date 

whichever is 
sooner 

 
 
 
 

  



Saving lives through effective emergency management and homeland security. 
“A Ready Virginia is a Resilient Virginia.” 

Attachment D 
Administrative Requirements and Guidance 

 
 
Federal Administration and Guidance Documents: 
 
1. 2 CFR Part 200 Cost Principles for State, Local, Indian Tribal Governments 

 
2. CATEX documentation (where required) 
 
3. Structural Mitigation Project Requirements (where required) 
 
4. Current Hazard Mitigation Assistance (HMA) Guidelines 
 
5. FEMA Award Package 
 
 
 
Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Contact: 
John Schmierer 
FEMA Region III 
One Independence Mall, Sixth Floor 
615 Chestnut Street 
Philadelphia, PA  19106-4404 
 
 
 
 
 

  



Saving lives through effective emergency management and homeland security. 
“A Ready Virginia is a Resilient Virginia.” 

 Attachment E 
 FEMA-DR-4411-VA-007 
     

 
Hazard Mitigation Assistance 

 
 

Non-Supplanting Certification 
 
 

I certify that any funds awarded under Hazard Mitigation Assistance grants will be 
used to supplement existing funds for programs activities, and will not replace 
(supplant) non-federal funds. 
 

 
 
 

Designated Agent 
 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Name 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Signature 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Title 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Agency 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight





Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight





Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight



Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight









Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight



Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight



Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight

Tracy
Highlight






































































































	Public Hearing.pdf
	Meeting: 12/9/20     6:00 PM
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion:

	ESC Model Ordinance.pdf
	Section 10-1. TITLE, PURPOSE, AND AUTHORITY
	Section 10-3. LOCAL EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL PROGRAM
	Section 10-4. SUBMISSION AND APPROVAL OF PLANS; CONTENTS OF PLANS
	Section 10-5. PERMITS; FEES; SECURITY FOR PERFORMANCE
	Section 10-6. MONITORING, REPORTS, AND INSPECTIONS
	Section 10-7. PENALTIES, INJUNCTIONS, AND OTHER LEGAL ACTIONS
	Section 10-8. APPEALS AND JUDICIAL REVIEW

	Presentations.pdf
	Meeting: 12/9/20      6:00 PM
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion:

	Authorization - Minutes BOS.pdf
	SUGGESTED MOTION(s):

	Public Hearing.pdf
	Meeting: 12/9/20     6:00 PM
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion:

	Authorization - Expenditures.pdf
	SUGGESTED MOTION(s):

	Board Appointments.pdf
	Staff Recommendation:

	Presentations - Attorney.pdf
	Meeting: 12/9/20        6:00 PM
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion:

	Drinking Water Master Financing Agreement (blacklined).DOCX.pdf
	MASTER FINANCING AGREEMENT
	BETWEEN
	AND
	THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY
	Virginia Resources Authority
	TABLE OF CONTENTS

	[To Be Updated]
	Page
	ARTICLE I
	ARTICLE II
	ARTICLE III
	ARTICLE IV
	ARTICLE V
	ARTICLE VI
	ARTICLE VII
	ARTICLE VIII
	ARTICLE IX
	ARTICLE X
	Section 10.13. Waterworks Business Operations Plan and Rate Study  23
	ARTICLE XI
	ARTICLE XII
	EXHIBITS
	Exhibit A - Form of Local Bonds
	MASTER FINANCING AGREEMENT
	ARTICLE I
	“Additional Payments” means the payments required by Section 6.2.
	“Board” means the Virginia Board of Health.
	“Castlewood WSA” means The Castlewood Water and Sewage Authority.
	“Closing Date” means the date of delivery of the Local Bonds to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund.
	“Consulting Engineer” means the engineer or firm of independent consulting engineers of recognized standing and experienced in the field of sanitary engineering and registered to do business in Virginia which is designated by the Borrower from time ...
	“Cost of Funds” means interest, including the part thereof allocable to the Annual Administrative Fee, if any, payable as set forth in Section 6.1 and Exhibit I.
	“County” means the County of Russell, Virginia.
	“Department” means the Virginia Department of Health.
	“Event of Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.1.
	ARTICLE II
	(g) The issuance of the Local Bonds and the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Master Parity Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement and the performance by the Borrower of its obligations thereunder are within the powe...
	(h) The Borrower is not in default in the payment of the principal of or interest on any of its indebtedness for borrowed money and is not in default under any instrument under and subject to which any indebtedness for borrowed money has been incurr...
	(i) The Borrower (i) to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, is not in violation of any existing law, rule or regulation applicable to it in any way which would have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or its ability to perform its...
	(j) There are not pending nor, to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, threatened against the Borrower, any actions, suits, proceedings or investigations of a legal, equitable, regulatory, administrative or legislative nature, (i) affecting the cre...
	(l) Except as may otherwise be approved by the Authority or permitted by the terms of this Agreement, the System at all times is and will be owned by the Borrower and will not be operated or controlled by any other entity or person.

	ARTICLE III
	ARTICLE IV
	ARTICLE V
	ARTICLE VI
	ARTICLE VII
	ARTICLE VIII
	ARTICLE X
	ARTICLE XI
	ARTICLE XII
	WITNESS the following signatures, all duly authorized.
	THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY
	Title: ___________________________________________
	EXHIBIT A
	FORM OF LOCAL BONDS
	EXHIBIT B
	Project DescriptionS
	EXHIBIT C
	Project BudgetS
	EXHIBIT D
	Opinion of Borrower’s BOnd Counsel
	EXHIBIT E
	FORM OF REQUISITION
	CERTIFICATE OF THE CONSULTING ENGINEER
	FORM TO ACCOMPANY REQUEST FOR DISBURSEMENT
	Loan No. WSL-028-14E; WSL-022-15E
	This Certificate is submitted in connection with Requisition Number ____, dated _________, 20__, submitted by The Russell County Public Service Authority.  Capitalization terms used herein shall have the same meanings set forth in Article I of the Ag...
	The undersigned Consulting Engineer for the Borrower hereby certifies that insofar as the amounts covered by this Requisition include payments for labor or to contractors, builders or materialmen, such work was actually performed or such materials, s...
	Loan Proceeds Remaining $ ____________________
	EXHIBIT F
	EXHIBIT G
	ORIGINAL FINANCING AGREEMENTS
	[To Be Provided]
	[To Be Completed by Borrower’s Bond Counsel]
	Prior Bonds:
	Existing Parity Bonds:
	EXHIBIT I
	EXHIBIT K
	AMENDED AND RESTATED SUPPORT AGREEMENT
	RECITALS:
	Agreement
	THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY
	EXHIBIT A
	LOCAL ORIGINAL BONDS

	Russell County PSA_Drinking Water Financing Agreement (WSL-020-18)_1....pdf
	FINANCING AGREEMENT
	BETWEEN
	AND
	THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY
	Virginia Resources Authority
	Loan No. WSL-020-18
	TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
	ARTICLE I
	ARTICLE II
	ARTICLE III
	ARTICLE IV
	ARTICLE V
	ARTICLE VI
	ARTICLE VII
	ARTICLE VIII
	ARTICLE IX
	ARTICLE X
	ARTICLE XI
	ARTICLE XII
	EXHIBITS
	Exhibit A - Form of Local Bond
	FINANCING AGREEMENT
	ARTICLE I
	“Additional Payments” means the payments required by Section 6.2.
	“Board” means the Virginia Board of Health.
	“Closing Date” means the date of the delivery of the Local Bond to the Authority, as Administrator of the Fund.
	“Commitment Letter” means the commitment letter from the Authority to the Borrower, dated __________, 2019, and all extensions and amendments thereto.
	“Cost of Funds” means interest, including the part thereof allocable to the Annual Administrative Fee, payable as set forth in Section 6.1.
	“County” means the County of Russell, Virginia.
	“Department” means the Virginia Department of Health.
	“Event of Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.1.
	ARTICLE II
	(g) The issuance of the Local Bond and the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Support Agreement and the Transfer Agreement and the performance by the Borrower of its obligations thereunder are within the powers of the Borrower and will no...
	(h) The Borrower is not in default in the payment of the principal of or interest on any of its indebtedness for borrowed money and is not in default under any instrument under and subject to which any indebtedness for borrowed money has been incurr...
	(i) The Borrower (i) to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, is not in violation of any existing law, rule or regulation applicable to it in any way which would have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or its ability to perform its...
	(j) There are not pending nor, to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, threatened against the Borrower, any actions, suits, proceedings or investigations of a legal, equitable, regulatory, administrative or legislative nature, (i) affecting the cre...
	(m) Except as may otherwise be approved by the Authority or permitted by the terms of this Agreement, the System at all times is and will be owned by the Borrower and will not be operated or controlled by any other entity or person.

	ARTICLE III
	ARTICLE IV
	ARTICLE V
	ARTICLE VI
	ARTICLE VII
	ARTICLE VIII
	ARTICLE X
	ARTICLE XI
	ARTICLE XII
	WITNESS the following signatures, all duly authorized.
	THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY
	Title: ___________________________________________
	EXHIBIT A
	Form of Local Bond
	EXHIBIT B
	Project Description
	EXHIBIT C
	Project Budget
	WSL-020-18
	EXHIBIT D
	Opinion of Borrower’s BOnd Counsel
	EXHIBIT E
	REQUISITION FOR DISBURSEMENT
	CERTIFICATE OF THE CONSULTING ENGINEER
	FORM TO ACCOMPANY REQUEST FOR DISBURSEMENT
	Loan No. WSL-020-18
	This Certificate is submitted in connection with Requisition Number ____, dated _________, 20__, submitted by The Russell County Public Service Authority.  Capitalized terms used herein shall have the same meanings set forth in Article I of the Agree...
	The undersigned Consulting Engineer for the Borrower hereby certifies that insofar as the amounts covered by this Requisition include payments for labor or to contractors, builders or materialmen, such work was actually performed or such materials, s...
	SCHEDULE 1
	REQUISITION # ________
	BORROWER: THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY
	LOAN NUMBER:  WSL-020-18
	CERTIFYING SIGNATURE: ______________________________
	TITLE: ______________________________________
	Total Loan Amount $_________________
	Previous Disbursements $_________________
	This Request $_________________
	Loan Proceeds Remaining $_________________
	EXHIBIT F
	Prior Bonds:
	Existing Parity Bonds:
	EXHIBIT H
	SUPPORT AGREEMENT
	RECITALS:
	Agreement
	THE RUSSELL COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE AUTHORITY

	Reports1.pdf
	Meeting: 12/9/20         6:00 PM
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s):
	SUGGESTED MOTION(s):

	rcpc comp plan proposed changes.pdf
	A.  Goals
	Russell County Development Group
	Russell County Library Board Five Year Plan 2017 to 2022
	Community Vision 2008
	The Russell County Planning Commission
	B.  Objectives
	Agricultural and Natural Resource Objectives
	Commercial Objectives
	Industrial Objectives
	Residential Objectives
	Community Facilities and Services Objectives
	Education Facilities and Services Objectives
	Fire, Life Saving and Police Protection Objectives
	Solid Waste Collection and Disposal Objectives
	Public Water and Sewer Objectives
	Transportation Objectives
	Historic Preservation Objectives

	A.  Introduction
	B.  Findings
	C.  Population
	D.  Land-Use

	E.  Commercial
	F.  Industrial
	Russell County IDA – Industrial Conclusions
	H.  Transportation
	I.  Public Facilities



	ESC Model Ordinance.pdf
	Section 10-1. TITLE, PURPOSE, AND AUTHORITY
	Section 10-3. LOCAL EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL PROGRAM
	Section 10-4. SUBMISSION AND APPROVAL OF PLANS; CONTENTS OF PLANS
	Section 10-5. PERMITS; FEES; SECURITY FOR PERFORMANCE
	Section 10-6. MONITORING, REPORTS, AND INSPECTIONS
	Section 10-7. PENALTIES, INJUNCTIONS, AND OTHER LEGAL ACTIONS
	Section 10-8. APPEALS AND JUDICIAL REVIEW

	RC CARES Fund Account Balance .pdf
	Sheet1




